EVALUATION OF AFRICAN EGGPLANT ACCESSIONS FOR PHENOTYPIC TRAITS AND ADAPTATION TO WATER STRESS

LAGAT SAMSON KIPCHIRCHIR B.Sc. Agriculture (Hons), University of Nairobi

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN AGRONOMY

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI

COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE AND VETERINARY SCIENCES

FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE

DEPARTMENT OF PLANT SCIENCE AND CROP PROTECTION

©2016

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and it has not been presented for award of a degree in any other university.

Lagat Samson Kipchirchir	
Signature:	Date:
This thesis has been submitted with our approval as University su	ipervisors:
Prof. George N. Chemining'wa	
Department of Plant Science and Crop Protection	
University of Nairobi	
Signature:	Date:
Dr. Jane L. Ambuko	
Department of Plant Science and Crop Protection	
University of Nairobi	
Signature:	Date:
Prof. Willis O. Owino	
Department of Food Science and Technology	
Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology	
Signature:	Date:

DEDICATION

I dedicate this work to my loving parents Mr. Moses Koech and Mrs. Selly Koech for their continued support in my academic work and guidance in life.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to the Almighty God for His love and undeserved kindness during the entire research period.

My sincere gratitude is dedicated to my supervisors; Prof. George N. Chemining'wa, Dr. Jane Ambuko and Prof. Willis Owino for their guidance, helpful critiques and continued support throughout this study.

I am thankful to the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) for funding this research work through the Peer Project in Harnessing Genomics of Edible African Solanaceae Plants for Improved Nutritional and Food Security led by Prof. Willis Owino and Dr. Jane Ambuko.

My sincere gratitude goes to Mr. Mibei and Mr. Godrefy Anyika for their guidance during field activities. I also thank Mr. Daniel Wasonga for his assistance with the training on the use of analysis software. My sincere gratitude goes to Mr. Kamau who tirelessly assisted me carry out the field work successfully.

I appreciate the support in various ways given by all my friends and classmates (Kenneth Tembe and Hillary Otieno) during this study period.

My special gratitude goes to my dear parents who sacrificed their resources to support my education and for believing in me. To my cousin Elisha I am grateful for your assistance and encouragement in the course of my study. To my younger siblings Edwin, Judy, Mercy and Kelvin I am eternally grateful for your constant love and encouragement.

iii

DECLARATION	i
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF APPENDICES	xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	xiv
GENERAL ABSTRACT	XV
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background information	1
1.2 Problem statement and justification	
1.3 Objectives	
1.4 Hypotheses	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
2.1 Botany of eggplant	5
2.1 Botany of eggplant2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant	
2.1 Botany of eggplant2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant	5
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant 2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant 2.4 Constraints to eggplant production 	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant 2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant 2.4 Constraints to eggplant production	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant 2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant 2.4 Constraints to eggplant production	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant 2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant 2.4 Constraints to eggplant production	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant 2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant 2.4 Constraints to eggplant production	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant 2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant	
 2.1 Botany of eggplant	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER THREE: EVALUATION OF AFRICAN EGGPLANT ACCESSIONS FOR	
MORPHOLOGICAL AND AGRONOMIC TRAITS	21
3.1 Abstract	21
3.2 Introduction	22
3.3 Materials and Methods	24
3.3.1 Site Description	24
3.3.2 Planting materials	25
3.4 Experimental design and crop husbandry	28
3.4.1 Field experiments	28
3.4.2 Greenhouse experiments	29
3.5 Data collection	30
3.5.1 Morphological data	30
3.5.2 Agronomic data	30
3.5.2.1 Growth components	31
3.5.2.2 Yield and yield components	32
3.6 Data analysis	32
3.6.1 Qualitative traits	32
3.6.2 Quantitative traits	33
3.7 Results	34
3.7.1 Qualitative characteristics	34
3.7.2 Growth habit	34
3.7.2 Flower colour	35
3.7.3 Leaf characteristics	39
3.7.5 Diversity index for the qualitative characters	48
3.7.6 Genetic relationships based on principal coordinate analysis	49
3.7.7 Genetic relationship based on cluster analysis	50
3.7.8 Principal component analysis	55
3.8 Quantitative characters	56
3.8.1 Plant height	56
3.8.2 Leaf blade length	57
3.8.3 Leaf blade width	57

3.8.4 Fruit length	61
3.8.5 Fruit breadth	62
3.8.6 Fruit weight	62
3.8.7 Number of fruits per plant	63
3.8.8 SPAD value	64
3.8.9 Days to 50% flowering	64
3.8.10 Correlation coefficient among the traits	65
3.9: Discussion	67
3.10: Conclusion	71
CHAPTER FOUR: EFFECT OF WATER STRESS ON GROWTH, YIELD AND NUTRITIONAL QUALITY OF SELECTED AFRICAN EGGPLANT ACCESSIONS	72
4.1 Abstract	
4.2 Introduction	
4.3 Materials and methods	74
4.3.1 Site Description	74
4.3.2 Planting materials	75
4.4 Experimental design and crop husbandry	76
4.5 Data collection	77
4.5.1 Growth parameters	77
4.5.2 Physiological parameters	77
4.5.3 Chemical components of the fruits	
4.5.3.1 Total soluble solid	
4.5.3.2 Titratable Acidity	79
4.5.3.3 pH	79
4.5.3.4 Determination of β-carotene content	79
4.5.3.5 Ascorbic acid determination (Vitamin C)	80
4.5.3.6 Determination of minerals	81
4.6 Data analysis	81
4.7 Results	82
4.7.1Plant height and single leaf area	82
4.7.2 Stem girth	82

4.7.3 Fruit weight
4.7.4 Fruit yield
4.7.2 Physiological parameters
4.7.2.1 Stomatal conductance
4.7.2.2 Canopy temperature
4.7.2.2 Leaf relative water content (%)
4.7.2.3 Chlorophyll content
4.7.3 Chemical analysis of the fruits
4.7.3.1 Total soluble solids
4.7.3.2 pH
4.7.3.3 Titratable acidity
4.7.3.4 β-carotene
4.7.3.5 Ascorbic acid
4.7.3.6 Chemical analysis
4.7.3.7 Correlation coefficient among the quantitative, physiological and nutritional quality traits
4.8 Discussion
4.9 Conclusion
CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS. 106
5.1 Discussion
5.2 Conclusions
5.3 Recommendations
REFERENCES
APPENDICES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Soil analysis test results for the experimental site	25
Table 3.2: List of plant materials provided by AVRDEC-ESA	26
Table 3.3 : Character, descriptor and codes used for characterization of African eggplant	31
Table 3.4: Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field	36
Table3.5:Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhou	ise.
	36
Table 3.6: Standard Shannon Weaver diversity index (H') for qualitative characters in 72 Afric	can
eggplant accessions grown in the field and in the glasshouse	49
Table 3.7: Eigenvalues and total variation of six principal components for 72 African eggpl	ant
accessions grown in the field and in the greenhouse	49
Table 3.8: Eigenvalues ^a , eigenvectors ^b and percentage of variation explained by the first	six
principal components for 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field	55
Table 3.9: Eigenvalues ^a , eigenvectors ^b and percentage of variation explained by the first	six
principal components for 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse.	56
Table 3.10: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field	58
Table 3.11: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhou	ase
	60
Table 3.12: Quantitative trait measurements of 72 field grown African eggplant accessions w	<i>ith</i>
their minimum and maximum values	63
Table 3.13: Quantitative trait measurements of 72 greenhouse grown African eggplant accession	ons
with their minimum and maximum values	63
Table 3.14: Correlation table for the quantitative traits recorded for accessions grown in the fi	eld
	66
Table 3.15: Correlation table for the quantitative traits recorded for accessions grown in	the
greenhouse	66
Table 4.1: List of plant materials provided by Asian Vegetable Research and Development Cen	iter
East and Southern Africa (AVRDEC- ESA).	75
Table 4.2: Effects of water stress on plant height (cm) and single leaf area (cm ²) of 20 Afric	can
eggplant accessions	83
Table 4.3: Effects of water stress on Stem girth (cm) of 20 African eggplant accessions	84
Table 4.4: Effects of water stress on fruit weight (g/plant) and yield (t/ha) of 20 African eggpl	ant
	86
Table 4.5: Effects of water stress on stomatal conductance (mmol m^2s^{-1}) and canopy temperation	ure
(°C) of 20 African eggplant accessions	89
1 able 4.0: Effects of water stress on leaf relative water content (%) and chlorophyll content of	20
African eggpiant accessions	91 f
1 able 4.7: Effects of water stress on 1 otal soluble solids ("Brix), pH and total titratable acidity	10
20 African eggpiant accessions	93

Table 4.8: Effects of water stress on Beta-carotene (mg/100g) and Ascorbic acid (mg/100g) of 20
African eggplant accessions95
Table 4.9: Effects of water stress on magnesium (mg/100 g) and calcium (mg/100 g) chemical
content of 20 African eggplant accessions
Table 4.10: Effects of water stress on iron and zinc chemical content of 20 African eggplant
accessions
Table 4.11: Correlation table for the quantitative traits, physiological parameter and nutrient
quantity recorded for accessions grown in water stressed and non-water stressed
conditions100

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1: (A) Accession RV100333: Intermediate, green stem and leaf hairs; (B) Accession
RV100342: green stem, upright plant growth and leaf hairs; (C) Accession RV100263:
intermediate growth habit, long leaves and wide leaves; (D) Accession RV100360:
Prostrate growth habit and small leaves
Figure 3.2:(E) Accession RV100431: white flowers, purple stem and leaf hairs; (F) Accession
RV100455: Pale violet flowers, leaf hairs, long and wide leaves; (G) Accession
RV100200: Leaf hairs, light violet flowers, long and wide leaves; (H) Accession
RV100331: pale violet flowers. Leaf hairs, long and wide leaves
Figure 3.3: (G) Accession RV100194: purple stems, leaf prickles and leaf hairs; (H) Accession
RV100250: Leaf hairs and leaf prickles; (I) Accession RV100455: Leaf hairs, Pale
violet flowers, long and wide leaves; (J) Accession RV100453: Semi-erect fruit
position, white flowers and medium sized leaves,
Figure 3.4: (K) Accession RV100273: erect fruit position: (L) Accession RV100274: Semi-
pendant fruit position. long and wide leaves: (M) Accession RV1001201: pendant
fruit position: (N) Accession RV100334: horizontal fruit position
Figure 3.5: Accessions RV100161 and RV100185 were round and have rough surfaces.
Accessions RV100169 and RV100194 were round and large. Accession RV100190
were small sized, round and smooth surfaced. Accession RV100200 his round and
vellow when ripe. Accession RV100217 his medium sized, round and smooth
surfaced. Accession RV100218 his round and medium sized fruits
Figure 3.6: Accessions RV100234, RV100240, RV100241, RV100242, RV100246, RV100247
and RV100250 were round, large with irregular surfaced. Accession RV100239 was
long shaped and vellow in colour when ripe
Figure 3.7: Accessions RV100259, RV100260, RV100261, RV100263, RV100264, RV100265,
RV100270 and RV100271 were large, round with irregular surfaces,
Figure 3.8: Accession RV100300 was medium sized, egg like in shape and a smooth regular
surface. Accessions RV100271. RV100273. RV100327. RV100332. RV100333.
RV100334 and RV100335 were large, round with irregular surfaces,
Figure 3.9: Accessions RV100342, RV100359 and RV100377 were medium sized, round with
smooth surfaces. Accession RV100343 was large round with irregular surface.
Accession RV100352 had medium, round and smooth surface fruits. Accession
RV100360 had small round and smooth surface fruits. Accession RV100364 had
medium round with smooth surface. Accession RV100380 had medium slightly long
with a smooth surface 46
Figure 3.10: Accession RV100386 had medium round with irregular surface Accessions
RV100431, RV100438 and RV100447 were medium sized round and smooth surface
Accessions RV100432, RV100449 and RV100453 were large, round with irregular

Figure 3.11: Accession RV100458 had medium, slightly long with smooth surface. A	ccessions
RV100511 and RV1001201 had large, round with irregular surfaces. Access	sion GBK
050572 was long in shape and yellow in colour	

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Weather conditions at Kabete field station between May 2014to May 2015 cropping
season
Appendix 2: Chemical characteristics of sampled greenhouse soil
Appendix 3: Chemical characteristics of sampled field soil
Appendix 4: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the days to flowering for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 201 and 2015
Appendix 5: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the SPAD Value for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 6: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the Plant height for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 7: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade length for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 8: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade width for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 9: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit length for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 10: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit breadth for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 11: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the field grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 12: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the number of fruits per plant for the field
grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 13: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the days to flowering for the greenhouse
grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 14: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the SPAD Value for the greenhouse grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 15: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the plant height for the greenhouse grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 16: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade length for the greenhouse
grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 17: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade width for the greenhouse
grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 18: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit length for the greenhouse grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 19: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit breadth for the greenhouse grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 20: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the greenhouse grown
accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015

Appendix 21: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the number of fruits per plant for the
greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015
Appendix 22: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the plant height for the accessions grown
under water stress and non-water stress conditions
Appendix 23: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the single leaf area for the accessions
grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions
Appendix 24: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the accessions grown
under water stress and non-water stress conditions
Appendix 25: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the stem girth for the accessions grown
under water stress and non-water stress conditions
Appendix 26: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for stomatal conductance for the accessions
grown under water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 27: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for canopy temperature for the accessions
grown under water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 28: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for LRWC% for the accessions grown under
water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 29: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for chlorophyll content for the accessions
grown under water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 30: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for total soluble solids for the accessions
grown under water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 31: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for pH for accessions grown under water stress
and non water stress conditions
Appendix 32: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for total titratable acidity for accessions grown
under water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 33: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for β -carotene for accessions grown under
water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 34: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for vitamin C for accessions grown under
water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 35: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for magnesium for accessions grown under
water stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 36: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for calcium for accessions grown under water
stress and non water stress conditions
Appendix 37: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for iron for accessions grown under water
stress and non water stress conditions141
Appendix 38: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for zinc for accessions grown under water
stress and non water stress conditions

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

ALVs	African leafy vegetables
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
CEC	Cation exchange capacity
DARwin	Dissimilarity analysis representation for windows
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
GBK	Genebank of Kenya
GD	Genetic distance
GDP	Gross domestic product
GS	Genetic similarity
HCDA	Horticultural Crops Development Authority
ITC	International Trade Centre
IBPGR	International Board for Plant Genetic Resources
KALRO	Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization
LSD	Least significant difference
MOA	Ministry of Agriculture
MT	Metric tonnes
SPAD	Soil Plant Analysis Development
UPGMA	Unweighted pair-group method using arithmetic averages
USD	United States of America dollar

GENERAL ABSTRACT

African eggplant is one of the indigenous vegetables with a great potential for improving food security and income generation among rural and urban resource-poor communities. However, its productivity is low partly due to lack of suitable varieties and drought stress. Systematic characterization of the existing African eggplant accessions is therefore required to identify key agronomic and quality traits for its improvement. Existing germplasm of the eggplants have not been evaluated for agronomic potential under water stress and non-water stressed environments. In addition, the nutritional quality of existing accessions and germplasm has not been determined. The objectives of this study were: 1. to evaluate African eggplant accessions for morphological and agronomic traits; and 2. to determine the effect of water stress on growth, yield and nutritional quality of selected African eggplant accessions. Field and greenhouse experiments were conducted in 2014 and 2015 at the University of Nairobi's Kabete Field Station. In the first objective, 72 African eggplant accessions from four species namely Solanum aethiopicum (50 accessions), Solanum macrocarpon (1 accession), Solanum anguivi (6 accessions) and Solanum species (15 accessions) were characterized in both the greenhouse and field based on the available African eggplant descriptors list. Data were collected on nine quantitative traits (plant height, leaf length, leaf width, fruit length, fruit breadth, fruit weight, number of fruits per plant, chlorophyll content and days to 50% flowering) and eight qualitative traits (growth habit, leaf prickles, leaf hairs, fruit breadth, fruit length, flower colour, fruit shape and fruit position) measured at flowering and fruit maturity stages. In the second objective, a study was conducted in a greenhouse at the University of Nairobi's Kabete Field Station to determine the genotypic variation in yield and nutritional quality of 20 selected African eggplant accessions grown under water stress (40%, 60% and 80% field capacity) and non-water stress (100% field capacity) conditions. The experiments were laid

out in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Data was collected on growth components (plant height, stem girth, single leaf area and fruit weight), physiological parameters (stomatal conductance, canopy temperature, leaf relative water content and chlorophyll content) and chemical components (β -carotene, vitamin C, total soluble solids, titratable acidity, pH, Mg, Ca, Fe and Zn measured at vegetative, flowering and fruit maturity stages. The analysis of variance indicated significant differences (P<0.05) for most of the accessions grown in the field and greenhouse. Fruit length was significantly (P<0.05) and positively correlated with fruit breadth (r = 0.59 and 0.60), fruit weight (r = 0.72 and 0.73) and leaf blade width (r = 0.34 and 0.28 for field and greenhouse grown accessions, respectively). However, fruit length correlated negatively but highly significantly with the number of fruits per plant (r = -0.32 and -0.31 for field and greenhouse grown accessions, respectively). On the other hand fruit length was positively correlated with leaf blade length (r = 0.09 and 0.09) and plant height (r = 0.15 and 0.16) while days to flowering had a positive correlation with SPAD value (r = 0.08 and 0.06), respectively, for field and greenhouse grown accessions. Cluster analysis placed the accessions into two cluster groups with cluster I having 51 accessions and cluster II having 21 accessions. Both in the field and greenhouse, 87.5% of the accessions showed an upright growth, intermediate growth habit (9.7%) and prostrate growth habit (2.8%). Accessions with leaf prickles and leaf hairs were 68.1% and 70.8% respectively. Shannon-Weaver diversity index (H') estimates for the qualitative characters in the field and greenhouse were high (H'>0.750). Principal component analysis showed that fruit parameters (fruit breadth and fruit position), flower parameter (flower colour) and leaf parameters (leaf hairs and leaf prickles) were important traits which distinctively separated the eggplant accessions. Results showed high yields in accessions RV100200, GBK050572, RV100456, RV100256 and RV100239 while the lowest yield was seen in accession RV100335. Water stress

significantly decreased fruit yield (16.6%), fruit weight (13.8%), stem girth (31.9%), plant height (20.1%), single leaf area (17.9%), stomatal conductance (57.7%), leaf relative water content (37.2%), contents of chlorophyll (12.6%), pH (6%), magnesium (43.5%), calcium (43.9%), iron (47.3%) and zinc (18.9%). However, it increased β -carotene concentration (29.5%), vitamin C (6.03%), titratable acidity (16.7%), total soluble solids (14.9%) and canopy temperature (19.7%). African eggplant accessions varied in morphological growth, fruit yield and nutritional quality. Six key traits identified for characterizing eggplant accessions were leaf hairs, leaf prickles, fruit shape, fruit breadth and flower colour. Water stress decreased growth, fruit yield, macronutrients (Ca and Mg) and micronutrients (Fe and Zn) but increased β -carotene, vitamin C and total soluble solids.

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background information

Vegetables are important components of all human diets and traditional vegetable species are especially important due to their nutritional and medicinal value (Shei, 2008). Traditional leafy vegetables are local vegetables whose leaves, young shoots, flowers and fruits are consumed (Maundu *et al.*, 1999; Orech *et al.*, 2007). Most people in sub-Saharan Africa are faced with hunger and malnutrition hence leading to increased consumption of African leafy vegetables (Obel-Lawson, 2005). However, more emphasis has been accorded to exotic vegetables than local ones due to non-appreciation of African traditional vegetables, inadequate scientific information on local African vegetable species and urbanization (Shei, 2008; Obel-Lawson, 2005; Andrews, 2014).

The Solanaceae are considered among the most important plant taxa economically and comprise the most valuable vegetable crops globally. Africa is home to hundreds of Solanaceae species that have been used for food for years. African eggplant is among the many indigenous vegetables that play an important role in both subsistence production and income generation in rural and urban resource-poor communities in Africa (Chadha, 2006). African eggplant fruits have high levels of vitamin C, fibre content, calcium, iron, carbohydrates and β -carotene compared to most vegetables fruit like tomato (Hornal *et al.*, 2007). Among the important horticultural crops in Africa is African eggplant, but its yields in small holder production systems are far below the crop's potential. This is attributed to a number of yield reducing factors which include both biotic (examples birds, insects, weeds, fungi) and abiotic (examples soil, climatic factors, topography) factors (Wicker *et al.*, 2007).

In 2010, China accounted for 58.55% of total world production of eggplant while the other major eggplant producers were India, Egypt, Iran and Turkey. The total eggplant production by these countries was 24,501,936 tons (PROTA, 2010). Eggplant is used as a vegetable as well as a traditional medicine for treatment of many diseases (Kashyap *et al.*, 2003). Annual African eggplant fruit production in Africa is estimated at 8,000 tons/ha in Senegal, 60,000 tons/ha in Cote d'ivore and 4,500 tons/ha in Burkina Faso, with small scale growers accounting for 80% of the total production (PROTA, 2010). This crop is found throughout tropical non-arid parts of Africa (PROTA, 2010). It is considered as a minor crop in most African countries and has received little research on agronomic requirements (Schippers, 2002).

The domesticated African eggplant (*Solanum aethiopicum*) has important breeding traits that remain to be exploited. The African eggplant shows a higher drought and heat tolerance than conventional eggplants. There is enormous untapped genetic diversity in African Solanaceae that can be used to address current and future needs regarding food and nutritional security in a long-term sustainable way (Schippers, 2002; Auguste *et al.*, 2014).

The best way to characterize and describe the specific character traits of landraces and cultivars is through morphological characterization (UPOV, 1991) and it is considered as the beginning of eggplant gene to phenotype relationship analysis and diversity structure. Characterizing traits morphologically also acts as a genetic guide in selection of germplasm for hybridization (Singh *et al.*, 2006) while broadening the genetic base of the cultivated eggplant varieties.

1.2 Problem statement and justification

African eggplant is among the most important indigenous vegetable crops in Africa. However, documented information on phenotypic characterization of local eggplant landraces and traditional varieties, maintained as ex-situ collections at the national gene banks, is limited (Keatinge *et al.*, 2012). Besides, the nutritional quality aspects of the African eggplant accessions have also received limited research attention. There is need to close existing knowledge and information gaps as increasing global attention is turned towards mobilizing local biodiversity for food nutrition and security. In addition, low water availability reduces eggplant production in Kenya and in many other African countries where crop production is mainly rainfed (Batiano *et al.*, 2007). Drought conditions are likely to worsen with time due to climate change which may lead to crop failure in these countries (Batiano *et al.*, 2007). There is therefore a need to identify eggplant accessions that are highly adapted to water stress. There are few studies on the impact of water stress on African eggplant in Kenya.

African eggplants, if improved, possess the potential to become a major source of income for a significant number of small-holder vegetable farmers and traders in both urban and rural areas. In general, there is a need to develop cultivars with high growth vigor, resistance to water stress, resistance to pests and diseases and with good consumer nutrient quality and shelf-life. Given the difficulties in meeting the nutritional needs of people in the developing world through fortification, supplementation and other western approaches, the study aimed at promoting development of germplasm that directly address nutrition through crop improvement. There is an urgent need for the active reintroduction of eggplant genetic diversity resources into the current production system in order to optimize their use and also protect the existing local cultivars and landraces from extinction (Caguiat and Hautea, 2014). Improvement and protection of the

indigenous eggplant varieties requires analysis of their traits, variation and relationship with the same accessions (Munoz *et al.*, 2008). The focus is on growing and selection of African eggplant germplasm that possess good qualities and have great impact on food security to most African countries if improved. Wild varieties also contain important genes that can be exploited in genetic improvement of cultivated eggplant varieties.

Morphological characterization of eggplant genetic resources will enable gene bank curators to identify accessions with desirable traits, monitor their genetic stability and integrity while screening for duplicate accessions to minimize wastage of resources and lower management costs (Collonnier *et al.*, 2001).

1.3 Objectives

The main objective of the study was to identify desirable traits in African eggplant accession which could be used in future crop improvement programs for cultivated eggplant varieties. The specific objectives of the study were:

1. To evaluate African eggplant accessions for morphological and agronomic traits

2. To determine the effect of water stress on growth, yield and nutritional quality of selected African eggplant accessions.

1.4 Hypotheses

1. There are no differences in morphological and agronomic traits among African eggplant accessions.

2. Water stress has no effect on growth and yield of African eggplant accessions.

3. Water stress has no effect on nutritional quality of African eggplant accessions.

4

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Botany of eggplant

Eggplant belongs to the solanaceae family in the plant kingdom of the advanced order solanales and magnoliophyta division (Bremer *et al.*, 2003). Solanaceae family includes ninety-one genera and about 2450 species that vary in morphology, habit, and ecology (Mabberley, 2008). The members of solanaceae family adapt well to various agro-ecological zones and are widespread all over the world (Knapp *et al.*, 2004). Their wide distribution facilitates high levels of morphological diversity at the cultivar, species and genera levels (knapp *et al.*, 2004).

The eggplant is cultivated as an annual plant in temperate climate but it is actually a tropical perennial crop. Its growth varies with accession and environment with a minimum height of 40 cm and the tallest accession being 150 cm tall, most of the leaves were large and coarsely lobed with leaf breadth ranging from 5 to 10 cm while leaf length varied from 10 to 20 cm (Dauney, 2003; Auguste *et al.*, 2014). The eggplants that are not domesticated have large leaves over 15 cm broad and 30 cm long with a plant height of up to 225 cm. They have purple to white flowers with 5 lobed corollas, also called 5-merous (5 stamens, 5 sepals, 5 petals) and they have spiny stems. They mostly have yellow stamens but the round-fruited and globose cultivars have 6, 7 or 8 merous flowers. In cultivated eggplant the fruit can be as long as 30 cm which is exceptionally large compared to other wild types which can be less than 3 cm in breadth (Swarup, 1995; Hurtado et al., 2012). Domestication, human selection, mutation, hybridization and natural inter-crossing have resulted in dramatic expansion in fruit size, colour and shape while decreasing fruit bitterness and leaf prickliness in each plant which resulted in extensive genetic and morphological diversity in African eggplant (Frary et al., 2007). There is quantitative variation in anthocyanin pigmentation, hairiness and prickliness on vegetative parts. The leaves are large, hairy on the underside and alternate on the stems. Leaf prickles and hairiness are more pronounced in wild types (Nonnecke, 1989; Jagatheeswari, 2014). The fruit of an eggplant is a fleshy berry that has colours ranging from black, white, green, shinny purple and yellow and the skin has stripes and patches (Dauney, 2003). The shape of fruits varies from round to oblong, cylindrical, long and oval in shape. Anthocyanin and chlorophylls (a and b) distribution pattern controls eggplant fruit colour diversity (Frary *et al.*, 2007). Kalloo (1993) describes the eggplant as a self-pollinated crop, but sometimes cross-pollination occurs. Parthenocarpy sometimes occur (Chen and Li, 1996; Boyaci *et al.*, 2011).

Stàgel *et al.*, (2008) describe eggplant *Solanum aethiopicum* as the African eggplant, *Solanum melongena* as the cultivated eggplant, *Solanum insanum* as a weedy form of eggplant in wild state and *Solanum incanum* as a close relative of the wild ancestors of eggplant (Sekara *et al.*, 2007). *Solanum melongena L.* is widely cultivated in tropics, subtropics and warm temperate regions and it's an economically important vegetable crop (Sihachakr *et al.*, 1994; John, 2015). It is believed to have originated from south East Asia (Lester and Hasan, 1991; Doganlar *et al.*, 2014). The name "eggplant" most probably came from the egg like shape fruits of the Scarlet eggplant species (Kalloo, 1993; John, 2015).

The scarlet eggplant (*Solanum aethiopicum L*.) has been introduced to West Indies and South America, primarily Brazil but it is native to Africa (Daunay *et al.*, 2001; John, 2015). It has small white corollas and bright scarlet fruits which resemble capsicum peppers and distinguishes it from *Solanum melongena*. It is widely cultivated in South America and Africa. The humid tropics of central Africa is the native home of Gboma eggplant where its leaves and fruits are edible (Weese and Bohs, 2010).

The semi domesticated and wild eggplants are usually abundantly prickly and have round, small and yellow fruits. The brinjal eggplants are considered to be distantly related to *S. Macrocarpon* and *S. aethiopicum* (Frary *et al.*, 2007). Landraces, field weeds and wild plants making up the eggplant complexes are found in Middle East, India and Asia and they were originally distributed from Africa. The African taxa occupy habitats that are diverse ecologically and vary morphologically ranging from woodland savannas in equatorial regions to almost desert environments. Domestication of eggplant with big fruits started in India while the small fruited accessions started being grown in 4th and 9th century in China and Africa respectively (Sekara *et al.*, 2007). The Arabs brought eggplant to Iberian Peninsula and to North Africa before 10th century from Indo-Chinese center of origin and domestication (Prohens *et al.*, 2005; Sekara *et al.*, 2007). The Arabs later own introduced eggplant to the West in 15th century and from there it's cultivation slowly advanced from Mediterranean basin to Africa, Central Europe and then America (Kashyap *et al.*, 2003; Frary *et al.*, 2007).

Introgression of genes into commercial eggplant accessions was prevented by domesticating commercial eggplant in isolation from its wild accessions in Africa and near East. Despite the variation of the morphological traits due to genetic bottleneck suffered during evolution the results were considerably narrow genetic base in commercial eggplant varieties (Prohens *et al.*, 2005).

One third of the species within the genus *Solanum* is made up of subgenus *Leptostemonum* where eggplant belongs (Frary *et al.*, 2007). It has twelve chromosomes and it is a diploid species 2n=24 (Doganlar *et al.*, 2002a). Taxonomic confusion related to classification of the genus *Solanum* is based on the fact that more than 3000 binominal names have been used to describe 1000 to 1400 species (Furini and Wunder, 2003). Furini and Wunder (2003) explain the high level of

morphological plasticity manifested at the genera, species and cultivated levels in the eggplant composite.

2.2 Ecology and importance of the eggplant

Eggplants grow in different ecological zones from the temperate climatic conditions through to the tropical plains. Planting of different eggplant varieties should be selected to fit the climate conditions (Tsao and Lo, 2006). Eggplants take over six months growing time under warm climatic conditions to give mature and high fruit quality. Eggplant is grown under an average monthly temperature of 21 to 30^oC, with a minimum of 18^oC and a maximum of 35^oC. Eggplant seed germination requires an optimum soil temperature ranging from 24^oC to 32^oC. Experiencing cool weather for long periods affects the yield and quality of eggplant fruits, while high yield is achieved under high humidity and temperature (Frary *et al.*, 2007).

Eggplants do well in well-drained soils and prefer to grow in a site free from soil borne pest and diseases and that has not had crops from solanaceous family for at least two seasons (FAO, 2010). Eggplant grows in a wide range of soils because of their moderately deep rooting system. It does well on deep and free draining sandy loams or alluvial soils which are light-textured having a soil pH ranging from 6.0-7.0 (Chen and Li, 1996; Wang *et al.*, 2014).

Economically eggplant is ranked third in solanaceae family after potato and tomato in regards to its importance. Thirty two million tonnes of eggplant fruit is produced in the world (Houshna, 2009). The highest producers of eggplants in other parts of the world are Spain (0.2 million tons), Italy (0.3 million tons), Turkey (0.8 million tons), Egypt (1 million tons), India (8.4 million tons) and China (18 million tons) (FAOSTAT, 2007; Houshna, 2009). In 2013 the quantity of eggplants produced in Kenya for commercial purposes were 9,447 MT valued at Kshs 230 million (HCDA,

2013). The leading eggplant producing counties in Kenya were Makueni, TaitaTaveta and Kilifi counties contributing 21.8%, 16.2% and 14.2% respectively (HCDA, 2013).

2.3 Nutritional quality of eggplant

Eggplant fruits are characterized by low calorie content and high nutritional value. Kowalski *et al.* (2003) reported mean calorie value of eggplant fruit equal to 87 Kj. In 100 g of fresh matter there is 1–1.1 g of protein with 18 amino acids, 0.1–0.2 g of fat with linoleic acid as a dominant fatty acid, 5.7–6.3 g of total carbohydrates and 2.5–3.4 g cellulose (Kowalski *et al.* 2003; USDA 2010). Eggplant fruits have mineral salts of potassium, phosphorus, calcium and magnesium (Golcz *et al.*, 2005). Kowalski *et al.* (2003) also showed that eggplant fruits contain microelements, such as Zn, Fe, Mn, Cr, Cu and Se. These fruits also have precious components like choline, phytosterols, vitamin E and K, folic acid, omega 3 acid, omega 6 acid, β -carotene and pantothenic acid (Kowalski *et al.*, 2003). Some of the most valuable components of the eggplant can be classified as phenolic acids and their derivatives which feature, among others, antioxidant activity. An eggplant contains considerable amount of anthocyanin, which provides for its high antioxidant value (Azuma *et al.*, 2008).

2.4 Constraints to eggplant production

The main constraints to eggplant production include: salinity, nutrient deficiencies, drought stress, water logging and excessive cold, frost and freezes. Crop production in arid and semi-arid regions is mainly affected by salinity and low precipitation which reduces leaching (Zhao *et al.*, 2007). FAO (2008) explains that more than 800 million hectares of world land is affected by either salinity or sodicity which is over 6% of the world's land. Osmotic inhibition of specific ion effect or the inhibition of water uptake by roots are some of the ways which salinity reduces plant growth, which affects cell division, cell expansion, and stomatal conductance (Munns, 2002; Abed El-

Azeem *et al.*, 2012). Eggplant production is affected by *Verticillium* wilt, *Phomopsis* blight, *Fusarium* and bacterial wilt (Monma *et al.*, 1997; Garibaldi *et al.*, 2005).

Solanum melongena rootstocks that are resistant to water logging and bacterial wilt were developed by Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center (AVRDC) for grafting tomato. Eggplants are susceptible to many types of pests such as fruit and shoot borer (Keshyap *et al.*, 2003).

Eggplants, like other plants, require nutrients for growth and development. The plants vary in production depending on soil pH. The most limiting nutrients in many African soils which affect crop production are nitrogen and phosphorus (Suge *et al.*, 2011). Subsistence farming in sub-Saharan Africa is low because they mostly use soils that have low and declining fertility (Suge *et al.*, 2011). The decline in soil fertility and increase in acidity has been mostly influenced by soil erosion and leaching, nutrient losses through harvest and continuous cropping with low or no fertilizer inputs (Suge *et al.*, 2011)

Eggplant is very sensitive to cold temperatures because it reduces plant vigor and yields by stopping root growth development. Chilling injury caused by long periods of chilly but frostless weather affects young plants and unharvested fruits (Nothmann, 1986; Michelle, 2010). During the early stages of plant growth freezes and frosts are mainly very destructive to the young crop. The cold weather may cause the fruits to be misshaped (Nothmann, 1986; Michelle, 2010).

Low-lying areas of eggplant fields may easily be flooded by too much rain which negatively affects its production. In case of excess rainfall and waterlogging occurs eggplant roots can be suffocated causing wilting and finally death of plants. Brown discoloration in the stem interior and yellowing of the bottom leaves are the symptoms of excessive moisture damage to eggplant crops. Growth of rot pathogens is another symptom of prolonged periods of very wet conditions in eggplant fields.

10

Improving soil drainage is the only way to control damage of the crops from excessive moisture (Bauder, 2009).

2.4.1 Drought stress

Drought is a period of dry weather, especially a long one that is injurious to crops. Generally drought stress occurs when the available water in the soil is reduced and atmospheric conditions cause continuous loss of water by transpiration or evaporation (Martinez et al., 2007). According to these authors, the types of drought stress include physical soil drought, physiological soil drought and atmospheric drought. Physical soil drought refers to shortage of water due to limited or non-availability of water from various sources like rainfall and irrigation while physiological soil drought occurs when water is available in plenty in the soil but the plants growing in such environment cannot be able to avail or absorb the water due to physiological reasons such as presence of excessive salts and pH alterations. Atmospheric drought occurs due to low atmospheric humidity, high wind velocity and high temperature which cause a plant to lose most of its water by transpiration, thus resulting in water deficit situations. Under normal and stress-free situations, the plant will exist in a soil moisture potential range between - 0.01 and -1.5 MPa (Nawamooz et al., 2010). However, at permanent wilting point, the soil water potential will be between -2.0 and -4.0 MPa. At this point, leaf water potential will be still lower than the soil water potential (Nawamooz et al., 2010).

Although eggplant is a warm season crop, low plant growth rate and bitter tasting fruits can be caused by dry condition and excessive heat (Azadeh *et al.*, 2014). Eggplant fruit marketability is mostly reduced by sun scalding which is caused by extremely high temperatures during the drought. The most obvious effect of water stress is growth reduction, leading to less fresh and dry

11

biomass production (Azadeh *et al.*, 2014). Drought stress causes closure of stomata and reduction in leaf area which translates to decline in photosynthetic pigments and activity (Amira, 2014).

The most limiting factor affecting crop production worldwide is water deficit (Nuruddin, 2001). Slow growing plants are associated to be growing under sub-optimal moisture levels and, in severe cases, dieback of stems such plants are less tolerant to insect attack and more susceptible to disease (Wilson, 2009). Reduced yields in eggplant production have been associated to water stress. The main consequence of inadequate moisture level for eggplant is decreased growth, development and production. Poor-quality eggplant results from long periods of hot, dry weather. It is very crucial to maintain the growth of plants by being able to recognize early symptoms of water stress which are wilting and the bottom leaves may turn yellow (Bauder, 2009).

Increase in foliage temperature, closure of stomata and decrease in transpiration are other symptoms of water on a crop (Tan and Buttery, 1982). Shifts in precipitation in an area will probably result in decreased soil water available to eggplants crop grown in that area (Keeling *et al.*, 2002). Drought stress led to increase in quantity of total soluble solids (Mahmoud *et al.*, 2012), it increased quantity of β -carotene (Helyes L. *et al.*, 2014) and it also increased vitamin C quantity in eggplant (Khan *et al.*, 2011). Drought stress on the other hand reduced the content of magnesium, iron, zinc and calcium nutrients (Nahar, 2002).

2.5 Methods of assessing phenotypic variation

Current methods of analyzing phenotypic diversity in segregating populations, germplasm accessions and breeder's lines rely on pedigree, morphological and agronomic performance (Bar-Hen *et al.*, 1995; Hamrick and Godt, 1997; Ogwu *et al.*, 2015). Morphological variation doesn't always show exact genetic variation due to the environment (E) and genotype (G) interaction and the unknown genetic control associated with agronomic, polygenic and morphological traits

(Smith and Smith, 1992; Ogwu *et al.*, 2015). Evolutionary biologists and plant ecologists mostly study genetic identities or patterns of phenotypic variation across variable environments. Scientifically, phenotypic traits change throughout the growth and development of specific plants and vary greatly within eggplant accession. Different environments cause different plant varieties to grow at different rates, and at a specific age they will be of different stages and sizes (Allendorf and Luikart, 2007). The methods of assessing phenotypic variations are pedigree data and characterization of crop species using agro-morphological characters.

2.5.1 Pedigree data

Pedigrees of varieties are defined as a thorough recording of relationships traced back to landraces and wild relatives. Pedigree analysis can be performed if the pedigrees of studied materials are known. Documentation and conservation of genetic identity of germplasm collection fulfils many utilization and curatorial needs, such as hybrids and pedigree for registration and commercial cultivation, determining varietal distinctiveness and safeguarding original types in germplasm repositories (Tiwari, 2007). Even though it is possible to examine genetic mechanisms without such data, using families, pairs of relatives, or even unrelated individuals, pedigree data provides the most genetic information.

2.5.2 Agro-morphological characters

Consumer preference for a variety of African eggplant is based mainly among others on size, form, colour and taste (sweet or bitter). The first step in the studies of genetic relationships in most breeding programmes is characterization of morphological traits (Osei *et al.*, 2010). The evaluation of qualitative morphological traits is simple, rapid and inexpensive to score. Morphological characterization involves both primary and secondary characterization. Secondary characterization deals with more complicated morphological traits of agronomic importance such as fruit set,

disease and pest resistance, biochemical properties and yield potential, while primary characterization involves measuring simple plant character traits that can be easily recorded through visual observations at different plant growth stages (Ayad *et al.*, 1995).

Selection of crop germplasm based on morphological characteristics is affected by errors caused by changes in the environmental conditions. Morphological appearance needs comprehensive trials to satisfactorily describe germplasm and the descriptions should be taken at the same location during the same season in order to bring about a valid comparison (Sunseri *et al.*, 2010). The relationship of eggplant cultivars has been established and described using morphological characterization (Polignano *et al.*, 2010; Sunseri *et al.*, 2010; Adeniji *et al.*, 2012, 2013).

Breeders can use evaluation of genetic resources to further improve the existing ones following consumer demands or challenges during growth conditions such as abiotic and biotic stress attributes (He *et al.*, 2003). Selected landraces are scattered across the major agro-ecologies of Africa making it difficult to concentrate on the desirable traits required for genetic improvement of the crop (Osei *et al.*, 2010)

The European Genetic Resources Network (EGGNET) came up with the morphological descriptors used to characterize eggplant accessions. Genetic diversity of eggplant has also been studied using molecular markers (Prohen *et al.*, 2008). Hierarchical clustering is performed using available morpho-agronomic data for a set of genotypes and a standard metric distance (such as the squared Euclidean), is computed and a clustering strategy, such as unweighted pair group or Ward method of arithmetic mean, is applied. Genotypes can be clustered into groups that are heterogeneous or homogeneous as possible using clustering strategies such as Unweighted Pair

Group Method with Arithmetic mean (UPGMA), centroid method, Ward method and single or complete linkage.

2.6 Measures of genetic variation

It is difficult to measure genetic diversity in quantitative traits because environmental factors influence the phenotype. Five processes that influence the distribution and amount of variation in population are: mutation, natural selection, migration, random genetic drift and non-random mating (Denver, 2006). Measures of genetic variation in each population level use two models: (i) "richness" of any population (or its sample) representing all the genotypes present in the population, and (ii) "evenness" or the frequency of different genotypes in the samples analyzed (Frankel *et al.* (1995).

Measures of average observed heterozygosity are used to determine the evenness of genotype frequencies. Heterozygosity is usually the most widespread measure of genetic variation within a population. Kaufman and Rousseeuw (1990) reported that Euclidean distance and square Euclidean distance are the most commonly used measures for morphological data to estimate genetic distance (GD) between individuals, whereas measurement of genetic distances between individuals on the basis of different types of characters such as qualitative and quantitative can be done using Gower's distance (Gower, 1971).

An index commonly used in the measurement of genetic variation is the 'Shannon's Index' or 'H' (Spellerberg, 1991), it can also be called the 'Shannon-Weaver' Index (Poole, 1974; Niklaus et al., 2001).

The Shannon-Weaver diversity index (H') is computed using the phenotypic frequencies to assess the phenotypic diversity for each character for all genotypes studied. Perry McIntosh (1991) described the Shannon-Weaver diversity index:

Equation 2.1 n
H' =
$$1 - \Sigma$$
 pi ln
i= 1

Where n is the number of phenotypic classes of traits while pi is the proportion of accessions in the ith class of an n-class character. Each H' value is divided by its maximum value (log n) and normalized following an order thus keeping the values between 0 and 1. A monomorphic population has its minimum value of the index as zero. Due to increase in polymorphism the value of the index also increases until it reaches the maximum value (Yang *et al.*, 1991). The additive properties of 'H' are used to evaluate the diversity of characters within the population and the locations by pooling various characters across collection sites.

2.7 Measures of genetic distance

The difference between two genes being proportional to the time since they shared a common ancestor is genetic distance. Originally it was derived as a means to estimate the populations' degree of genetic differentiation. Some proposals have been made on the use of genetic distance for analysis of morpho-agronomic data to in order to come up with genetic diversity. Genetic distance is calculated following the data set by different statistical measures. Similarity indices measure the similarity between two individuals and the larger the value the more related two individuals are, while dissimilarity coefficient on the other hand estimates that if the distance or the difference of two individuals is bigger in values, that shows the more diverse the two individuals are (Kosman and Leonard, 2005).

2.8 Multivariate analysis

The order of genetic relationship among accessions can be clearly shown by multivariate analysis procedures. Accessions are characterized using morphological data from the growing plants. Multivariate analysis analyzes data using techniques, such as principal coordinate analysis (PCoA), multidimensional scaling (MDS), cluster analysis and principal component analysis (PCA) (Cruz and Carneiro, 2006).

2.8.1 Cluster analysis

Grouping units according to similarity for certain response patterns or characteristics is very important for studying relationships among closely related accessions which is also called clustering (Hair *et al.*, 1995). It entails a ladder like procedure of calculating similarities and dissimilarities between observations and grouping together those that are most similar in hierarchy (Mutsaers *et al.*, 1997). There are two types of clustering methods: (i) model-based methods, here analysis from each cluster is derived from some parametric model, assumed to be unsystematic and standard statistical methods such as Bayesian methods and maximum-likelihood are used to equally perfume inferences about parameters closely related to each cluster and cluster association of each individual (Pritchard *et al.*, 2000), and (ii) distance-based methods, here a specific clustering algorithm uses pair-wise distance matrix as an input for study (Johnson and Wichern, 1992).

Nonhierarchical and hierarchical make up the distance-based clustering methods. The nonhierarchical methods also referred to as K-means clustering measures do not occupy the structure of dendrograms and are based on chronological threshold (Everitt, 1980). Genetic diversity in crop species is mainly done using hierarchical clustering methods. Each observation is a "cluster" by itself. Within the first step the two most similar clusters are grouped together to

17

form a new cluster. Clusters are merged together step-by step this way until all observations (clusters) are grouped together to form one final cluster. Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic means is the most commonly used hierarchical method used followed by ward's minimum variance (Panchen, 1992). Furini and Wunder (2003) explain that inasmuch as the members of the eggplant aggregate, they can create enough genomic flexibility to adapt to various environmental changes.

Some characterization studies have been conducted on African eggplant. Osei *et al.* (2010) studied variations in growth and yield characteristics of 28 accessions of African eggplants. Three species of *Solanum aethiopicum* (16 accessions), *Solanum macrocarpon* (9 accessions) and *Solanum anguivi* (3 accessions) were characterized using standard morphological descriptors. The results indicated distinct and wide variations between the three *Solanum* species studied. There was a higher similarity between S. *aethiopicum* and S. *anguivi* lines. Clear variation was noticeable in fruit characteristics, both between and within species. *S. anguivi* accessions had small sized round fruits, while *S. aethiopicum* had medium to large sized oval fruits. Both *S. aethiopicum* and *S. anguivi* lines had few leaf hairs which were absent in lines belonging to *S. macrocarpon*.

2.8.2 Principal component analysis

Wiley (1981) defines principal component analysis (PCA) as a technique which uses mathematical principles which are sophisticated to transform a number of correlated variables which are possible into a smaller number of variables called principal components (PCs). Linear conversion of the original variables into a new set of uncorrelated variables called principal components. The total dissimilarity that is displayed on the PC axes is explained by PCA estimated eigenvalues. The first PC summarizes most of the unpredictability present in the original data relative to all residual PCs.
A second principal coordinate (axis) is obtained from the PCA method which is perpendicular to the first PC, and original data is approximated using that. The second step in the PCA describes most of the variability uncorrelated with the first PC and most variables that were not summarized by the first PC, and many more (Jolliffe, 1986).

2.8.3 Principal coordinate analysis

Principal coordinate analysis (PCoA) is an ordination technique that begins with a matrix of dissimilarities or similarities between a set of individuals and aims to create a low-dimensional graphical plot of the statistics in a way that distances between points in the plot are close to novel dissimilarities.

The positioning of objects in a space of reduced dimensionality while preserving their distance relationships is permitted by PCoA. PCA is superior to PCoA because in each point in PCA is placed exactly where it is supposed to be, while in PCoA each point is only approximated based on the dissimilarity model of best-fit. Rohlf (1972) recognized that the treatment of missing information is not reasonable in PCA as compared PCoA which is more reasonable.

2.8.4 Multidimensional scaling

Multidimensional scaling (MDS) is a procedure that represents a set of genotypes (n) or individuals in a few dimensions (m) using a similarity/distance matrix between them (Johnson and Wichern, 1992). There are two types of MDS: (i) non-metric MDS, which is used when the inter-individual proximities in the map nearly match the original similarities/distances, and (ii) metric MDS, helpful when the real scales of original similarities/distances are used to get an arithmetical representation in *m* dimensions (Johnson and Wichern, 1992). Numerical measures of closeness called "stress", is commonly tested and it shows the percentage of the variance of the disparities not accounted for by the MDS. Rohlf (1972) reported that the actual arrangement of individuals consequential from MDS, PCA, and PCoA are typically related. On the contrary, results based on MDS contrast with PCA and PCoA since (i) differences among close individuals are, in common, reflected better by MDS, and (ii) the smaller or greater distances among individuals are not essentially represented by MDS to the equivalent scale. MDS is preferable over PCA and PCoA when the number of individuals is large; when there are no missing data PCA is preferred while PCoA is used when there are missing data (Rohlf, 1972).

CHAPTER THREE: EVALUATION OF AFRICAN EGGPLANT ACCESSIONS FOR MORPHOLOGICAL AND AGRONOMIC TRAITS

3.1 Abstract

The African eggplant is among the most important indigenous horticultural crops in Africa. However, there is limited information on its morphological and agronomic traits. A systematic characterization of the existing African eggplant accessions is therefore required to promote its improvement. Field and greenhouse experiments were conducted at the University of Nairobi's Field Station during 2014 and 2015 long and short rain seasons, respectively, to evaluate the morphological and agronomic traits of the collected accessions of African eggplant. Seventy-two accessions from four species namely Solanum aethiopicum (50 accessions), Solanum macrocarpon (1 accession), Solanum anguivi (6 accessions) and Solanum sp (15 accessions) were characterized based on the available African eggplant descriptors list. Both field and greenhouse experiments were laid out in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Data were collected on nine quantitative (plant height, leaf length, leaf width, fruit length, fruit breadth, fruit weight, number of fruits per plant, chlorophyll content and days to 50% flowering) and eight qualitative traits (growth habit, leaf prickles, leaf hairs, fruit breadth, fruit length, flower colour, fruit shape and fruit position) measured at flowering and fruit maturity stages. The analysis of variance indicated significant differences (P<0.05) for most of the accessions grown in the field and greenhouse. Fruit length was significantly (P<0.05) and positively correlated with fruit breadth (r = 0.59 and 0.60), fruit weight (r = 0.72 and 0.73) and leaf blade width (r = 0.34 and 0.28 for field)and greenhouse grown accessions, respectively). However, fruit length correlated negatively but highly significantly with the number of fruits per plant (r = -0.32 and -0.31 for field and greenhouse grown accessions, respectively). On the other hand fruit length was positively correlated with leaf

blade length (r = 0.09 and 0.09) and plant height (r = 0.15 and 0.16) while days to flowering had a positive correlation with SPAD value (r = 0.08 and 0.06), respectively, for field and greenhouse grown accessions. Cluster analysis placed the accessions into two cluster groups with cluster I having 51 accessions and cluster II having 21 accessions. Both in the field and greenhouse, 87.5% of the accessions showed an upright growth, intermediate growth habit (9.7%) and prostrate growth habit (2.8%). Accessions with leaf prickles and leaf hairs were 68.1% and 70.8% respectively. Shannon-Weaver diversity index (H') estimates for the qualitative characters in the field and greenhouse were high (H'>0.750). Principal component analysis showed that fruit parameters (fruit breadth and fruit position), flower parameter (flower colour) and leaf parameters (leaf hairs and leaf prickles) were important traits which distinctively separated the eggplant accessions. The results showed high yielding in accessions RV100200, GBK050572, RV100456, RV100256 and RV100239 while the lowest yield was seen in accession RV100335. African eggplant accessions varied in morphological growth and fruit yields. The key traits identified were plant height, fruit size, fruit weight, leaf size, leaf prickles and leaf hairs.

3.2 Introduction

African eggplant is one of the indigenous vegetables that plays a significant role in both subsistence production and income generation among rural and urban resource poor communities in Africa (Chadha, 2006; Msogoya *et al.*, 2014). Fruit colour, shape, size and flavor are the most perceivable quality attributes of African eggplant fruits (Hornal *et al.*, 2007; Msogoya *et al.*, 2014). Commercial eggplant is widely grown in America, Africa, Europe and Asia (Sekara *et al.*, 2007). Studies show that China is the leading country in eggplant annual production (27382464.19 MT) followed by India (11806465.08 million MT), Egypt (1376743.56 MT), Turkey (944923.63 MT), Indonesia (538504.86 MT) and USA (71123.28 MT) (Shakeel *et al.*, 2015). In 2013 eggplant

production in Kenya was estimated at 9,447 MT valued at Kshs 230 million. The leading counties producing eggplants are Makueni, TaitaTaveta and Kilifi counties contributing 21.8%, 16.2% and 14.2%, respectively (HCDA, 2013).

The global interest in development of African eggplant has encouraged interest to call for germplasm collection and preservation. Characterization and evaluation of plant germplasm is imperative for categorization of germplasm and identification of desirable genotypes for utilization in breeding programs (Upadhyaya et al., 2007; Shakeel et al., 2015). It is essential to collect data regarding the characteristics and variety of eggplant genetic resources for the sake of developing strong and effective eggplant breeding programmes (Sekara et al., 2007). Rodriguez-Burruezo et al. (2008) found out that, in open field cultivation, using germplasm accessions as parents the resultant eggplant hybrids were competitive in production when compared with commercial hybrids. Moreover, it also helped to build up the biodiversity. Chattopadhyay et al. (2011) performed characterization of 35 diverse brinjal genotypes which showed highly significant variations among 12 quantitative traits. Furini and Wunder (2004) characterized 94 Solanum accessions morphologically and found that morphological parameters were helpful in assessing similarities or differences among accessions. As part of a crop-improvement strategy, a collection of genus 'Solanum' germplasm is being maintained at the gene banks of the Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center (AVRDC) in Arusha Tanzania and Muguga in Kenya. The germplasm is from wild and exotic collections with little information on the level and kind of diversity present in the maintained collection. Thus, morphological and agronomic characterization of these germplasm lines is considered important for improvement, conservation and future utilization of the African eggplant. It is very critical to assess the relative magnitude of genetic variability, nature and extent of character association with yield and its related characters

for sound breeding programs. The utility of multivariate analysis for measuring the degree of genetic divergence and for assessing the relative contribution of different characters to the total divergence in self and cross pollinated crops has been established by several researchers (Uddin, 2014). The objective of the current study was to evaluate 72 African eggplant accessions for morphological and agronomic traits.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Site Description

Field and glasshouse experiments were conducted at the University of Nairobi's Kabete field station, Kenya. The site is located on the latitudes 1^o 14' 20" to 1^o15'15" south and longitudes 36^o 44' to 36^o 45' east, at an altitude of 1940 meters above sea level. The agro-ecological zone of the area is upper midland (UM) Zone three (Jaetzold and Schmidt, 1983). The site receives bimodal rainfall averaging 1000 mm annually. The long rains occur from early March to late May, whereas short rains occur from October to December. The site has minimum and maximum mean annual temperature of 13 and 23^oC, respectively (Siderus, 1976). Kabete soils are classified as humic nitisols according to FAO (1990). They are deep, well drained, dark reddish, deep friable clay type resistant to erosion (Michieka, 1978). Crops grown in the area include tomatoes, potatoes, eggplant, maize and beans. The study was carried out in the long rains and short rainy season of 2014 to 2015 respectively. Soils were sampled at 30 cm depth prior to planting and analyzed for soil pH, organic carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, calcium, magnesium, manganese, copper, iron, zinc, sodium and electrical conductivity at the Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Organization (Table 3.1).

Parameters	Value	Critical level
Soil pH	7.0	< 5.0
Total nitrogen %	0.3	< 3.0
Total organic carbon%	2.7	< 0.5
Phosphorus(ppm)	149.0	< 0.3
Potassium (me %)	0.4	< 0.75
Calcium (me %)	11.7	< 1.0
Magnesium (me %)	8.2	< 0.4
Manganese (me %)	0.8	< 2.3
Copper(ppm)	8.5	< 4.0
Iron (ppm)	82.3	< 30.0
Zinc (ppm)	31.3	< 25.0
Sodium (me %)	0.4	< 0.5
Electrical conductivity (mS/cm)	0.6	< 1.1

 Table 3.1: Soil chemical characteristics of the experimental site (University of Nairobi, Kabete Field Station)

Ppm- parts per million; me- milligram equivalents per 100 g soil

3.3.2 Planting materials

Seventy two (72) African eggplant accessions from four species of *Solanum aethiopicum* (54), *Solanum macrocarpon* (1), *Solanum* sp (15) and *Solanum anguivi* (6) were used in this study. Seventy one (71) of the accessions were sourced from the Asian Vegetable Research Development Centre (AVRDC) based in Arusha Tanzania and Taiwan. One breeder's line eggplant accession was sourced from the National Gene Bank of Kenya in Muguga. The respective gene banks have coded the accessions as shown in Table 3.2.

S/no	RVI code	Genus	Species	Name	Source
1	RVI00161	Solanum	aethiopicum	Manyire Green	Tanzania
2	RVI00342	Solanum	aethiopicum	Ofariwa'a	Cameroon
3	RVI00169	Solanum	aethiopicum	Tengeru white	Tanzania
4	RVI00356	Solanum	anguivi	UG-AE-1	Uganda
5	RVI00359	Solanum	anguivi	UG-AE-7	Uganda
6	RVI00360	Solanum	anguivi	UG-AE-8	Uganda
7	RVI00380	Solanum	aethiopicum	AB2	Ghana
8	RVI00445	Solanum	Species	S0004	Unknown
9	RVI00453	Solanum	Species	S00052	Unknown
10	RVI00449	Solanum	Species	S000735	Unknown
11	RVI00455	Solanum	Species	S00047A	Unknown
12	RVI00456	Solanum	Species	MM813	Unknown
13	RVI00240	Solanum	aethiopicum	101	Mali
14	RVI00241	Solanum	aethiopicum	102	Mali
15	RVI00242	Solanum	aethiopicum	103	Mali
16	RVI00243	Solanum	aethiopicum	104	Mali
17	RVI00250	Solanum	aethiopicum	106	Mali
18	RVI00260	Solanum	aethiopicum	116	Mali
19	RVI00261	Solanum	aethiopicum	117	Mali
20	RV100262	Solanum	aethiopicum	118	Mali
21	RVI00263	Solanum	aethiopicum	119	Mali
22	RVI00264	Solanum	aethiopicum	120	Mali
23	RVI00265	Solanum	aethiopicum	21	Mali
24	RVI00328	Solanum	aethiopicum	Local mali	Mali
25	RVI00458	Solanum	Species	S001381	Unknown
26	RVI00200	Solanum	aethiopicum	GKK-AE-150	Malawi
27	RVI001201	Solanum	aethiopicum	GKK-AE-158	Malawi
28	RVI00234	Solanum	aethiopicum	70	Mali
29	RVI00246	Solanum	aethiopicum	112	Mali
30	RV100249	Solanum	aethiopicum	115	Mali
31	RVI00252	Solanum	aethiopicum	108	Mali
32	RVI00266	Solanum	aethiopicum	22	Mali
33	RVI00325	Solanum	aethiopicum	Keurmbirndao	France
34	RVI00327	Solanum	aethiopicum	Aubergine B	Mali
35	RVI00332	Solanum	aethiopicum	RNL-187-194	Burkina Faso
36	RV100335	Solanum	anguivi	Tombout	Cameroon

 Table 3.2: List of plant materials provided by AVRDEC-ESA

S/no	RVI code	Genus	Species	Name	Source
37	RVI00346	Solanum	aethiopicum	RW-AE-5	Rwanda
38	RVI00352	Solanum	aethiopicum	RW-AE-13	Uganda
39	RVI00364	Solanum	anguivi	UG-AE-20	Uganda
40	RVI00382	Solanum	Species	Bory bory	Madagascar
41	RVI00431	Solanum	Species	Lushoto	Tanzania
42	RVI00432	Solanum	Species	N4	Unknown
43	RVI00447	Solanum	Species	S00022-1	Mali
44	RVI00270	Solanum	aethiopicum	86	Mali
45	RVI00271	Solanum	aethiopicum	87	Mali
46	RVI00273	Solanum	aethiopicum	89	Mali
47	RVI00274	Solanum	aethiopicum	90	Mali
48	RVI00334	Solanum	aethiopicum	SOXNA	Mali
49	RVI00166	Solanum	aethiopicum	TZSMN67	Tanzania
50	RV100300	Solanum	aethiopicum	Local gaya	Mali
51	RVI00386	Solanum	aethiopicum	Ex-ivory coast	Ivory Coast
52	RVI00452	Solanum	Species	S0005	Unknown
53	RVI00333	Solanum	aethiopicum	Sangawili	Mali
54	RVI00377	Solanum	aethiopicum	Ex-sirongwo	Uganda
55	RVI00199	Solanum	Species	Ex-dar	Tanzania
56	RVI00190	Solanum	anguivi	N19	Tanzania
57	RVI00343	Solanum	Macrocarpon	CN012	Cameroon
58	RVI00236	Solanum	aethiopicum	2	Mali
59	RVI00239	Solanum	aethiopicum	5	Mali
60	RVI00438	Solanum	aethiopicum	MM1308	Unknown
61	RVI00185	Solanum	aethiopicum	MM803	Gabon
62	RVI00215	Solanum	aethiopicum	81	Mali
63	RVI00217	Solanum	aethiopicum	83	Mali
64	RVI00218	Solanum	aethiopicum	84	Mali
65	RVI00247	Solanum	aethiopicum	113	Mali
66	RVI00163	Solanum	aethiopicum	TZSMN57	Tanzania
67	RVI00259	Solanum	aethiopicum	55	Senegal
68	RVI00511	Solanum	aethiopicum	Sengerema	Tanzania
69	RVI00268	Solanum	aethiopicum	24	Mali
70	RVI00331	Solanum	aethiopicum	L10	Unknown
71	GBK 050572	Solanum	aethiopicum	Mafwa	Kenya
72	RVI00248	Solanum	aethiopicum	114	Senegal

 Table 3.2: List of plant materials provided by AVRDEC-ESA

RVI-Accession registration code used in AVRDEC, B-blanch

3.4 Experimental design and crop husbandry

3.4.1 Field experiments

Afield experiment was set up with 72 African eggplant accessions using a randomized complete block design with three replications. The experiments were carried out in two seasons (July 2014 to October 2014 and March 2015 to June 2015). The eggplant accessions were originally sourced from Mali (33), Tanzania (8), Uganda (6), Cameroon (3), Malawi (2), Senegal (2), Ghana (1), France (1), Burkina Faso (1), Rwanda (1), Madagascar (1), Ivory Coast (1), Gabon (1) and Kenya (1). Ten accessions were from unknown countries. The field was ploughed and harrowed with a tractor followed by fine hand ploughing. Experimental plot size was 13.8 m x 105 m. The blocks and plots were separated by 1m path each. Seedlings of each accession were planted in two rows at the rate of eight seedlings per row (16 plants in a plot). Inter-row spacing of 80 cm and intrarow spacing of 50 cm were adopted. The eggplant seeds were first sown in germination trays containing peat moss germination media and allowed to grow for four weeks before transplanting the seedlings. Two handfuls of well decomposed manure (equivalent to 392.05 grams) and one teaspoon (equivalent to 9.8 grams) of compound fertilizer N: P: K (23:23:0) per plant hole were thoroughly mixed with soil before planting the seedling. The eggplants were then top dressed with 250 kg/ ha of calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) and when the plants were 25 cm high they were top dressed with 500 kg/ha of CAN six weeks later. The plants were sprayed with Actara[®] (active ingredient thiomethoxam), Karate® (active ingredient lambda cylothrin) and Ortiva® (active ingredient 250 g/l azoxystrobin) insecticides at the rate of 20 g per 20 litres of water against it at emergence, vegetative stage and before flowering to control white flies, thrips and aphids. Hand weeding was done frequently thus keeping the crop field weed free. Supplemental overhead

irrigation was applied whenever there was delay in rainfall and plants showed signs of water stress. Harvesting was done when the fruits attained commercial ripeness stage.

3.4.2 Greenhouse experiments

Seventy two (72) accessions of African eggplant were evaluated in pots in a greenhouse using a randomized complete block design with three replications. Two seedlings were raised per pot but thinned to one seedling per pot when the plants were 25 cm tall. The pots used were 36.5 cm long x 18.5 cm wide. The soil used in this experiment was collected at Kabete Field station in a land that had been left fallow for some time. The soil was then sterilized at 105°C for 72 hours. One part of sand was mixed with two parts of soil and two parts of compost (ratio 1: 2: 2) before filling in the pots. The 72 pots per replication were each filled with 7 kg of air-dried soil mixture each. One teaspoon (equivalent to 9.8 grams) of calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) fertilizer (23:23:0) was applied just before sowing per plant. Seedlings that had been germinated in trays and raised for four weeks were then transplanted into the pots. Watering was done using a watering can before and after transplanting of the seedlings. The plants were then top dressed with one teaspoon (equivalent to 9.8 grams) of calcium ammonium nitrate (CAN) per plant when the plants were 25 cm high and six weeks later top dressed with two teaspoons (equivalent to 19.6 grams) per plant of CAN. The plants were sprayed with Actara[®] (active ingredient thiomethoxam), Karate[®] (active ingredient lambda cylothrin) and Ortiva[®] (active ingredient 250 g/l azoxystrobin) insecticides at the rate of 20 g per 20 litres of water to control whiteflies, thrips and aphids at emergence, vegetative stage and before flowering. Pots were kept weed free by hand weeding.

3.5 Data collection

3.5.1 Morphological data

Four plants of each accession were randomly selected in each plot in the field and tagged. Since there was one plant per pot in the greenhouse there was no tagging as each plant in each pot represented an accession. Plants with high vigour were tagged at flowering to facilitate collection of data for both morphological and agronomic traits. Eight qualitative traits, namely plant growth habit, leaf prickles, leaf hairs (lower surface), flower colour, fruit shape, fruit position, fruit length and fruit breadth were characterized based on the list of modified eggplant descriptors FAO (IBPGR, 1990) as shown in (Table 3.3). Here the fruit length and breadth were represented by descriptor codes unlike in agronomic data where their measurements were noted. All observations for each character were made on the same day for all accessions after 50% flowering.

3.5.2 Agronomic data

Quantitative data were collected in the field and greenhouse for nine agronomical characters which included: plant height, leaf blade length, leaf blade width, fruit length, fruit breadth, fruit weight, number of fruits per plant, days to 50% flowering and SPAD (chlorophyll content). Unlike in morphological data here the fruits were measured and their actual fruit length and fruit breadth were used in the analysis not the descriptor codes. All measurements and counts of a given trait were done on the same day for the field and greenhouse grown accessions in order to maintain uniformity.

Morpho	ological data descriptors	
S/NO	Character	Descriptor and code
1	Plant growth habit	3-7 (3=upright, 5=intermediate, 7=Prostrate)
2	Leaf prickles	0-7 (0=none, 7=many)
	Leaf hairs (lower	
3	surface)	1-9 (1=very few<20, 9=very many>200)
		1-9 (1=greenish white, 3=white, 5=pale violet,7=light violet,
4	Flower (corolla) colour	9=bluish violet)
5	Fruit shape	1-5 (1=round, 5=long)
		1-9 (1=Erect, 3=Semi erect, 5=Horizontal, 7=Semi pendant,
6	Fruit position	9=pendant)
		1-9(1= Very small <1cm, 3= Small~2cm, 5=Intermediate~3cm,
7	Fruit breadth	7=Large~5cm, 9=very large>10cm)
		1-9 (1= Very short <1cm, 3= Short~2cm,5=Intermediate ~5cm,
8	Fruit length	7=Long~10cm, 9=very long>20cm)

Table 3.3: Character, descriptor and codes used for characterization of African eggplant

Source: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (IBPGR 1990). Numbers in brackets on the right-hand side are the corresponding descriptor codes listed in FAO publication with a little modification during the development of the list

3.5.2.1 Growth components

Days to flowering was recorded as the number of days from raising the seedlings in the trays to when 50% of the plants in each plot or pot had flowered. The chlorophyll content was taken at 50% flowering on a fully expanded young leaf from four plants in each stand and averaged. Chlorophyll content was taken using a non-destructive, hand-held chlorophyll meter referred to as Soil Plant Analysis Development (SPAD-502, Minolta Camera Co., Ltd., Japan). SPAD-502 determines the relative amount of chlorophyll present in the leaf by measuring the transmittance of the leaf in two wave bands (600 to 700 nm and 400 to 500 nm). Chlorophyll has two absorbance peaks in the blue (400-500 nm) and red (600-700 nm) regions, with no transmittance in the near-infrared region. SPAD-502 measures the absorbance of the leaf in the red and near-infrared regions. Using these two transmittances, the meter calculates a numerical SPAD value, ranging

from 0 to 80 which are usually proportional to the amount of chlorophyll present in the leaf (Jarvis, 2008). Plant height was measured in centimeters from the base of the plant to the tip of the main stem using a meter rule by selecting four plants at random in the plot that were tagged, and their vertical heights measured after 50% flowering. Four basal leaves in each of the four tagged plants per plot were randomly selected at flowering and leaf measurements recorded. Leaf blade length (cm) was determined by measuring the length of the leaves found at the middle level of the four tagged plants. Leaf blade width (cm) was determined by measuring the widest part of leaves found at the middle level of the four tagged plants. Fruit length (cm) was measured using a Vernier caliper and the mean of four fruits calculated at fruit ripening stage. Fruit breadth (cm) was determined by cutting four fruits in half and their diameter measured using a vernier caliper and the mean of the diameter of the four fruits was taken.

3.5.2.2 Yield and yield components

Fruit weight in grams was determined using a weighing balance by weighing four fruits per a tagged tree and their average taken. Number of fruits per plant was determined by counting all the fruits in the four tagged plants and taking the average.

3.6 Data analysis

3.6.1 Qualitative traits

Phenotypic frequency distributions of the characters were calculated for all accessions based on the Shannon-Weaver diversity index ('H') as explained by Perry and McIntosh (1991). Dissimilarities were approximated based on Euclidian distance matrix and hierarchical clustering analyses of unweighted pair group method of arithmetic mean performed in DARwin 6.0 software as described by Perrier and Jacquemoud-collet (2006). The clusters and relationships were displayed as a phenogram. Multivariate-principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted between variance-covariance matrix using Genstat software programme, version 14 (Payne *et al.*, 2011) to identify the most significant descriptors in capturing the morphological variation in the germplasm.

3.6.2 Quantitative traits

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the quantitative data was performed using Genstat version 14 (Payne *et al.*, 2011) at 5% level of significance. Mean separation for treatment effects that were significant was done by Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) test using Genstat version 14 (Payne *et al.*, 2011). Variability within each quantitative trait was calculated using statistical measures of mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variation. A correlation analysis was performed in Genstat to estimate quantitative relationships among the traits and also to determine key agronomic traits of importance in breeding work.

3.7 Results

3.7.1 Qualitative characteristics

3.7.2 Growth habit

In both the field and greenhouse experiments, 87.5% of the accessions produced an upright growth habit, 9.7% intermediate growth habit and 2.8% prostrate growth habit (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figure 3.1). Accessions with intermediate growth habit were RV100270, RV100274, RV100331, RV100386, RV100481, RV100445 and RV100449. While some of the accessions with prostrate growth habits were RV100271 and RV100360.



Figure 3.1: (A) Accession RV100333: Intermediate, green stem and leaf hairs; (B) Accession RV100342: green stem, upright plant growth and leaf hairs; (C) Accession RV100263: intermediate growth habit, long leaves and wide leaves; (D) Accession RV100360: Prostrate growth habit and small leaves.

3.7.2 Flower colour

In both the field and greenhouse experiments, 87.5% produced white flowers, 6.94% produced pale violet flowers, 2.8% produced light violet flowers, 1.4% produced bluish violet flowers and 1.4% produced greenish white flowers (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2:(E) Accession RV100431: white flowers, purple stem and leaf hairs;(F) Accession RV100455: Pale violet flowers, leaf hairs, long and wide leaves;(G) Accession RV100200: Leaf hairs, light violet flowers, long and wide leaves; (H) Accession RV100331: pale violet flowers, Leaf hairs, long and wide leaves.

AC. CODE	P.G.H	L.P	L.H	F.C	FR.SH	FR.P	F.L	F.B
GBK 050572	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV1001201	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100161	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100165	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100169	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100185	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100190	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	pendant	Short	Small
RV100194	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100199	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100200	Upright	None	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100215	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100217	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100218	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100234	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100239	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100240	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100241	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100242	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100243	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100246	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100248	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100249	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100250	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100252	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Semi erect	Long	Large
RV100259	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100260	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100261	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Intermediate
RV100262	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100263	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100264	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100265	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Semi erect	Short	Small
RV100266	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100268	Upright	None	Very many	Light violet	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100270	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100271	Prostrate	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100273	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100274	Intermediate	None	Very few	Greenish white	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100300	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100325	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate

Table 3.4: Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field

AC.CODES	P.G.H	L.P	L.H	F.C	FR.SH	FR.P	F.L	F.B
RV100331	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100327	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100328	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100332	Upright	Many	Very many	Light violet	Round	Semi erect	Long	Large
RV100333	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Intermediate
RV100334	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100335	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100342	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100343	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100346	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100352	Upright	None	Very many	Pale violet	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100356	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Semi pendant	Short	Small
RV100359	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100360	Prostrate	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100364	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100377	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100380	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100382	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100386	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100431	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100432	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100438	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100438	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100445	Intermediate	Many	Very many	Bluish violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100447	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100449	Intermediate	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100452	Upright	Many	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100453	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100455	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100456	Prostrate	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100511	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate

Table 3.4: Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field

P.G.H-plant growth habit, L.P-Leaf prickles, L.H-Leaf hairs, F.C-Flower colour, FR.SH-Fruit shape, FR.P-Fruit position

F.L-Fruit length, F.B-fruit breadth

AC.CODES	P.G.H	L.P	L.H	F.C	FR.SH	FR.P	F.L	F.B
GBK 050572	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV1001201	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100161	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100165	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100169	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100185	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100190	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Semi pendant	Short	Small
RV100194	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100199	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100200	Upright	None	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100215	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100217	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100218	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100234	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100239	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100240	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100241	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100242	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100243	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100246	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100248	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100249	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100250	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100252	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Semi erect	Long	Large
RV100259	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100260	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100261	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Intermediate
RV100262	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100263	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100264	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100265	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Semi erect	Short	Small
RV100266	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100268	Upright	None	Very many	Light violet	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100270	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100271	Prostrate	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100273	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100274	Intermediate	None	Very few	white	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100300	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100325	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate

 Table 3.5: Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse

AC. CODE	P.G.H	L.P	L.H	F.C	FR.SH	FR.P	F.L	F.B
RV100331	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100327	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100328	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Horizontal	Short	Small
RV100332	Upright	Many	Very many	Light v	Round	Semi erect	Long	Large
RV100333	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Intermediate
RV100334	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100335	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100342	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100343	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100346	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100352	Upright	None	Very many	Pale violet	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100356	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Semi pendant	Short	Small
RV100359	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100360	Prostrate	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100364	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100377	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100380	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100382	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100386	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Round	pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100431	Intermediate	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100432	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100438	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Horizontal	Long	Large
RV100438	Upright	Many	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100445	Intermediate	Many	Very many	Bluish violet	Long	Pendant	Long	Large
RV100447	Upright	None	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100449	Intermediate	Many	Very many	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Large
RV100452	Upright	Many	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Short	Small
RV100453	Upright	None	Very few	White	Round	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100455	Upright	Many	Very many	Pale violet	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100456	Prostrate	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate
RV100511	Upright	None	Very many	White	Long	Pendant	Intermediate	Intermediate

Table 3.5: Morphological descriptors of 72 African eggplants grown in the greenhouse

P.G.H-plant growth habit, L.P-Leaf prickles, L.H-Leaf hairs, F.C-Flower colour, FR.SH-Fruit shape, FR.P-Fruit position

F.L-Fruit length, F.B-fruit breadth

3.7.3 Leaf characteristics

In both field and greenhouse experiments, accessions with many leaf prickles comprised 31.9%, while those with no leaf prickles comprised 68.1% (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figure 3.3). For example, accessions RV100194, RV100250, RV100332, RV100185 and RV100449 had many

leaf prickles while accessions RV100333, RV100245, RV100331, RV100333, RV100447 and RV100360 had no leaf prickles. Among the seventy two accessions, 70.8% had many leaf hairs while 29.2% had very few leaf hairs (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figure 3.3). Accessions RV1001201, RV100161, RV100165, RV100169, RV100185, RV100250, RV100251 and RV100259 are examples of the accessions with many leaf hairs while RV100190, RV100199, RV100215, RV100234 and RV100239 are the examples of accessions that had few leaf hairs.



Figure 3.3: (G) Accession RV100194: purple stems, leaf prickles and leaf hairs; (H) Accession RV100250: Leaf hairs and leaf prickles; (I) Accession RV100455: Leaf hairs, Pale violet flowers, long and wide leaves; (J) Accession RV100453: Semi-erect fruit position, white flowers and medium sized leaves.

3.7.4 Fruit characteristics

The shapes of the fruits for the study accessions in both the field and greenhouse were round

(81.9%) and long (18.1%). Fruit position, both in the field and greenhouse, were pendant (77.8%),

semi pendant (6.9%), horizontal (11.1%) and semi erect (4.2%) (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figure 3.4). Fruit length and fruit breadth varied between field and the greenhouse. The proportions of fruit length in the field were intermediate (58.3%), short (27.8%) and long (13.9%) while in the greenhouse they were intermediate (46.6%), short (33.3%), long (11.1%), very long (4.2%) and very short (2.8%). The fruit breadths in the field were intermediate (47.2%), large (27.8%) to small (25%) while in the greenhouse they were large (44.4%), intermediate (43.1%), small (8.3%), very small (2.8%) and very large (1.4%) (Table 3.4, Table 3.5 and Figures 3.5–3.11).



Figure 3.4:(K) Accession RV100273: erect fruit position; (L) Accession RV100274: Semipendant fruit position, long and wide leaves; (M) Accession RV1001201: pendant fruit position; (N) Accession RV100334: horizontal fruit position



Figure 3.5: Accessions RV100161 and RV100185 were round and have rough surfaces. Accessions RV100169 and RV100194 were round and large. Accession RV100190 were small sized, round and smooth surfaced. Accession RV100200 his round and yellow when ripe. Accession RV100217 his medium sized, round and smooth surfaced. Accession RV100218 his round and medium sized fruits.



Figure 3.6: Accessions RV100234, RV100240, RV100241, RV100242, RV100246, RV100247 and RV100250 were round, large with irregular surfaced. Accession RV100239 was long shaped and yellow in colour when ripe.



Figure 3.7: Accessions RV100259, RV100260, RV100261, RV100263, RV100264, RV100265, RV100270 and RV100271 were large, round with irregular surfaces.



Figure 3.8: Accession RV100300 was medium sized, egg like in shape and a smooth regular surface. Accessions RV100271, RV100273, RV100327, RV100332, RV100333, RV100334 and RV100335 were large, round with irregular surfaces.



Figure 3.9: Accessions RV100342, RV100359 and RV100377 were medium sized, round with smooth surfaces. Accession RV100343 was large, round with irregular surface. Accession RV100352 had medium, round and smooth surface fruits. Accession RV100360 had small, round and smooth surface fruits. Accession RV100364 had medium, round with smooth surface. Accession RV100380 had medium, slightly long with a smooth surface.



Figure 3.10: Accession RV100386 had medium, round with irregular surface. Accessions RV100431, RV100438 and RV100447 were medium sized, round and smooth surface. Accessions RV100432, RV100449 and RV100453 were large, round with irregular surfaces. Accession RV100456 had a long shape with a purple colour.



Figure 3.11: Accession RV100458 had medium, slightly long with smooth surface. Accessions RV100511 and RV1001201 had large, round with irregular surfaces. Accession GBK 050572 was long in shape and yellow in colour.

3.7.5 Diversity index for the qualitative characters

Estimates of Shannon-Weaver (H') for the qualitative characters evaluated in the studied accessions were high for both field and greenhouse experiments (Table 3.6). All traits showed high (H'>0.500) levels of polymorphism in both experiments. In the greenhouse and field experiments the indices ranged from 0.9298 (fruit shape) to 0.9941 (fruit position). Variation between the averages of the field and the greenhouse experiments were observed in fruit length and fruit breadth. The indices for fruit length and fruit breadth were 0.9848 and 0.9902, respectively, in the field experiment and 0.9795 and 0.9869, respectively, in the greenhouse experiment.

 Table 3.6: Standard Shannon Weaver diversity index (H') for qualitative characters in 72

Qualitative trait	Shannon-Weaver index (H')			
	Field	Greenhouse		
Growth habit	0.9935	0.9935		
Leaf hairs	0.9523	0.9523		
Leaf prickles	0.9866	0.9866		
Flower colour	0.9898	0.9898		
Fruit shape	0.9298	0.9298		
Fruit position	0.9941	0.9941		
Fruit length	0.9848	0.9795		
Fruit breadth	0.9902	0.9869		
Total diversity index	0.9955	0.9951		

African eggplant accessions grown in the field and in the glasshouse

3.7.6 Genetic relationships based on principal coordinate analysis

The four main axes (axis 1, 2, 3 and 4) explained 49.5, 22.9, 9.02 and 6.2% of the total variation respectively for the accessions grown in the field giving a cumulative total variation of 88.15% (Table 3.7). Axes 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 contributed 16.66, 7.71, 3.04, 2.24, 2.02 and 0.98 of the eigenvalues respectively, for the field grown accessions (Table 3.7).

Table 3.7: Eigenvalues and total variation of six principal components for 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field and in the greenhouse

Axis	Eigenvalue		% of va	ariance	Cumulative % of variance	
	Field	Greenhouse	Field	Greenhouse	Field	Greenhouse
1	16.66	16.68	49.53	46.23	49.53	46.23
2	7.71	7.68	22.93	21.3	72.46	67.53
3	3.04	4.18	9.02	11.58	81.48	79.11
4	2.24	2.87	6.67	7.97	88.15	87.08
5	2.02	2.31	5.99	6.39	94.14	93.47
6	0.98	1.02	2.91	2.82	97.05	96.29

According to the accessions grown in the greenhouse, the four main axes explained 46.23, 21.3, 11.58 and 7.97% of the total variations, respectively, giving a cumulative total of 87.08% of the variance (Table 3.7). The six axes (1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6) contributed 16.68, 7.68, 4.18, 2.87, 2.31 and 1.02 of the eingenvalues respectively, for greenhouse grown accessions as shown in (Table 3.7).

3.7.7 Genetic relationship based on cluster analysis

The phenogram was generated using eight morphological descriptors (growth habit, leaf prickles, leaf hairs, flower colour, fruit shape, fruit position, fruit breadth and fruit length) based on Euclidean Distance Coefficient and Unweighted Pair Group Method using Arithmetic averages (UPGMA) clustering method clearly showed the phenetic relationship among the accessions. Cluster analysis revealed two major clusters (Cluster I and II) for study accessions grown in the field (Figure 3.12). Cluster I had 51 accessions while cluster II had 21 accessions. Cluster I comprised 39 S. aethiopicum, 10 Solanum species and 2 S. anguivi accessions while cluster II had 1 S. macrocarpon, 4 Solanum species, 4 S. anguivi and 12 S. aethiopicum accessions. Within species variation was observed for S. aethiopicum, S. anguivi and Solanum species accessions for example Figure 3.12 cluster I sub cluster 'a' shows a close relationship among S. aethiopicum accessions RV100325, RV100263 and RV100262, S. anguivi accession RV100364 and Solanum species accessions RV100194, RV100449 and RV100382. Sub cluster 'a' was made up of accessions with round fruit shape and pendant fruit position on the tree. Cluster I sub cluster 'b' was made of accessions sharing the character of very many leaf hairs on the lower surface of the leaf blade. Some accessions representing the bigger group in sub cluster 'b' included RV100438, RV100332 and RV100264 in S. aethiopicum, RV100447, RV100445 and RV100456 in Solanum species and RV100359 in S. anguivi. Cluster II comprised two sub clusters 'c' and'd'. Sub cluster 'c' comprised accessions with the same flower colour (white). These accessions included

RV100247, RV100239 and RV100234 in S. *aethiopicum*, RV100455, RV100432 and RV100453 in Solanum species, RV100360, RV100356 and RV100335 in S. *anguivi* and the only S. *macrocarpon* accession RV100343. Sub cluster'd' was made up of accessions RV100273 and RV100266 within S. *aethiopicum* species. These accessions had no leaf prickles and had the same fruit length. In sub-cluster 'a', of the 32 accessions originating from one node, accessions RV100325 and RV100325 and RV100185 had a longer genetic distance from each other even though they were from the same species S. *aethiopicum*. Variation was also seen in S. *anguivi* and *Solanum* species because accessions of the same species appeared in different clusters as shown in Figure 3.12. In S. *anguivi* accession RV100364 was varied genetically from RV100190 because they were found in different clusters yet they belong to the same species. Accessions RV100194 and RV100453 belonging to *Solanum* species were found on different clusters yet they belong to the same species.



C-cluster

Figure 3.12: Unweighted pair-group method using arithmetic averages cluster analysis phenogram showing the relationships among the 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field. The letters at the end of each accession represents the species; A-*aethiopicum*, V-*anguivi*, S-*Solanum* species and M-*macrocarpon*.



Figure 3.13: Unweighted pair-group method using arithmetic averages cluster analysis phenogram showing the relationships among the 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse. The letters at the end of each accession represents the species; A-*aethiopicum*, V-*anguivi*, S-*Solanum* species and M-*macrocarpon*.

For the greenhouse grown accessions, cluster phenogram exposed two major clusters (Cluster I and II) (Figure 3.13). Cluster I was made up of four sub clusters (p, u, w and x) according to figure 3.13. While cluster II comprised two sub clusters (y and z). In cluster I sub cluster 'p' accessions RV100438 and RV100332, both of which belong to S. aethiopicum species, were grouped together due to their upright growth habit. Sub cluster 'u' had a single accession RV100447 belonging to Solanum species and was uniquely known for its small sized fruits. Sub cluster 'w' was made up of accessions with pendant fruit positioning on the plant, including accessions in S. aethiopicum species (RV100511, RV100342 and RV100458), Solanum species (RV100431, RV100456 and RV100445) and 1 S. anguivi accession (RV100359). Finally the biggest sub cluster in cluster I was 'x'. This sub cluster was made of accessions which had very many leaf hairs on the lower surface of the leaf blade. The accessions in sub cluster 'x' included accessions in S. aethiopicum (RV100325, RV100328 and RV100333), Solanum species (RV100449, RV100452 and RV100382) and S. anguivi (RV100364). In cluster II sub cluster 'y' was made up of accessions with the same fruit shape 'round' from S. aethiopicum species (RV100331, RV100273, RV100266, RV100265 and RV100215). Sub cluster 'z' was made of a mixture of accessions with the same flower colour 'white'. They included accessions in S. aethiopicum (RV100300, RV100234, RV100239, RV100334, RV100274, RV100271 and RV100247), Solanum species (RV100199, RV100455, RV100453 and RV100432), S. anguivi (RV100360, RV100356, RV100335 and RV100190) and S. macrocarpon (RV100343). Variation within species was also observed clearly in S. anguivi whereby RV100359 was found in cluster I in sub cluster 'w' while RV100190 was found in cluster II at sub cluster 'z' far away from each other yet they belonged to the same species.
3.7.8 Principal component analysis

The percentage variation explained by the first six principal components (PC) and the vector loadings for each character and PC are presented in Tables 3.7 and 3.8. The first six PCs explained 97.05% of the variation among the 72 field grown accessions and 96.29% among the greenhouse grown accessions.

Qualitative character	Principal component									
	1	2	3	4	5	6				
Variation explained (%)	49.53	22.93	9.02	6.67	5.99	2.91				
Eigenvalue	16.66	7.71	3.04	2.24	2.02	0.98				
Fruit breadth	0.057	0.071	0.252	0.128	0.785	0.24				
Flower colour	0.088	0.035	0.003	-0.315	-0.086	0.905				
Fruit length	0.038	0.075	0.283	-0.091	0.468	-0.217				
Fruit position	0.051	-0.151	0.828	0.385	-0.357	0.096				
Fruit shape	0.137	-0.046	0.36	-0.84	-0.075	-0.248				
Leaf hairs	0.812	-0.55	-0.16	0.086	0.061	-0.031				
Leaf prickles	0.554	0.812	0.023	0.09	-0.136	-0.056				
Plant growth habit	-0.003	-0.036	0.122	-0.084	0.043	0.036				

Table 3.8: Eigenvalues^a, eigenvectors^b and percentage of variation explained by the first six principal components for 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field

^aEigenvalues indicate the amount of variance explained by each principal component

^bEigenvectors are the weights in a linear transformation when computing principal components

Values in bold indicate the most relevant descriptors that contributed most to specific components

Leaf hairs and leaf prickles were the main traits that contributed positively to PC1 for the accessions grown in the field (Table 3.8). Leaf prickle was the most important character that contributed to the second principal component in field grown accessions while fruit position, fruit length and flower colour were the most important characters in the third, fifth and sixth principal components respectively. It was also observed that fruit shape had negative loading to fourth principal component at -0.84.

Table 3.9: Eigenvalues^a, eigenvectors^b and percentage of variation explained by the first six principal components for 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse

Qualitative character	Principal component									
	1	2	3	4	5	6				
Variation explained (%)	46.23	21.3	11.58	7.97	6.39	2.82				
Eigenvalue	16.676	7.683	4.178	2.874	2.305	1.018				
Fruit breadth	0.052	0.058	0.56	-0.316	0.397	0.407				
Flower colour	0.088	-0.04	0.002	0.042	-0.3	0.844				
Fruit length	0.063	0.074	0.748	-0.05	-0.071	-0.319				
Fruit position	0.051	0.159	0.098	0.866	0.444	0.099				
Fruit shape	0.14	0.057	0.278	0.338	-0.733	0.099				
Leaf hairs	0.815	0.529	-0.173	-0.143	0.045	-0.053				
Leaf prickles	0.548	-0.824	0.038	0.074	0.098	-0.056				
Plant growth habit	-0.002	0.042	0.092	0.082	-0.044	0.053				

^aEigenvalues indicate the amount of variance explained by each principal component

^bEigenvectors are the weights in a linear transformation when computing principal components

Values in bold indicate the most relevant descriptors that contributed most to specific components

For the greenhouse grown accessions, leaf hairs, fruit length, fruit position and flower colour contributed positively to principal component one, three, four and six respectively (Table 3.9). Leaf prickles was the most important character that contributed negatively to the second principal component while fruit shape, fruit length, flower colour and plant growth habit had negative loadings to the fifth principal component of the greenhouse grown accessions. It was evident that characters that made significant contributions to a particular principal component were important contributors to other principal components.

3.8 Quantitative characters

3.8.1 Plant height

Significant (P<0.05) differences in plant height were observed among the study accessions in the field and greenhouse (Table 3.10 and Table 3.11). In the field, plant height varied from 12.7 cm (accession RV100271) to 81.8 cm (accession RV100458). Similarly, in the greenhouse plant height

varied from 9.5 cm (accession RV100271) to 79 cm (accession RV100458). On average greenhouse grown accessions had similar height with field grown accessions. The mean of the height of accessions grown in the greenhouse and field were 37.54 cm and 37.43 cm respectively. Among the tallest 6 accessions there were 3 S. *aethiopicum* accessions (RV100458, RV100300 and RV100169), 2 S. *anguivi* accessions (RV100356 and RV100364) and 1 Solanum species accession (RV100456) while among the shortest 6 accessions were 5 S. *aethiopicum* accessions (RV100260, RV100327, RV100239, RV100333 and RV100271) and 1 Solanum species accession (RV100199). Solanum aethiopicum species accessions were the most diverse; they provided the tallest and the shortest accession both in the field and greenhouse.

3.8.2 Leaf blade length

A significant (P<0.05) variation in the leaf blade length among the field and greenhouse grown accessions was observed. The leaf blade length measured across the 72 eggplant accessions in the field ranged from 7.1 cm (accession RV100261 and RV100333) to 29.4 cm (accession RV100364) with a mean of 15.95 cm (Table 3.10). In the greenhouse, leaf blade length varied from 6.7 cm (accession RV100261) to 28.4 cm (accession RV100352) with a mean of 16.18 cm (Table 3.11).

3.8.3 Leaf blade width

Significant (P<0.05) variations in the leaf blade width among the field and greenhouse grown accessions were observed (Table 3.11). In the field grown accessions leaf blade width varied from 2.5 cm (accession RV100261) to 20.1 cm (accession RV100332) with a mean of 8.56 cm (Table 3.10). Leaf blade widths ranged from 3.1 cm (accession RV100261) to 22.8 cm (accession RV100332) with a mean of 10.01 cm, in the greenhouse (Table 3.11).

S/no	Accessions	РН	LBL	LBW	FL	FB	FW(g)	NOF	SPAD	DTF
1	GBK 050572	38.5	9.0	8.3	12.9	5.8	54.3	18.0	62.0	56.7
2	RV1001201	45.5	15.2	9.7	14.3	6.0	81.2	6.2	49.2	54.0
3	RV100161	23.4	19.2	9.3	7.2	6.2	32.5	66.1	52.0	51.3
4	RV100165	27.3	14.6	9.2	7.3	4.7	32.5	20.6	59.5	54.7
5	RV100169	64.1	15.2	11.4	7.2	5.1	25.9	42.7	62.2	55.3
6	RV100185	45.7	16.3	6.0	4.4	3.4	10.0	40.0	52.6	54.7
7	RV100190	27.9	17.1	6.8	4.2	3.0	4.4	132.9	63.3	55.0
8	RV100194	17.7	16.0	8.2	5.6	4.6	15.1	127.5	57.1	52.7
9	RV100199	13.9	13.4	5.8	5.4	5.5	48.4	11.0	67.7	54.7
10	RV100200	60.1	20.7	9.8	14.6	9.0	152.8	18.1	57.7	56.3
11	RV100215	22.7	13.8	7.9	7.4	6.0	47.8	9.8	58.6	56.7
12	RV100217	41.8	13.6	4.6	4.8	3.3	8.6	95.8	60.6	54.3
13	RV100218	62.1	15.2	4.8	4.0	3.3	3.2	42.8	55.5	56.0
14	RV100234	23.6	18.6	18.3	11.0	5.6	35.0	11.2	62.2	50.7
15	RV100236	15.2	18.2	16.6	9.1	5.8	74.3	5.8	58.1	53.3
16	RV100239	45.9	21.1	8.1	5.4	5.0	28.7	6.9	59.0	60.0
17	RV100240	38.1	9.2	5.8	4.5	3.6	13.5	8.4	57.9	55.3
18	RV100241	50.2	15.8	8.2	5.6	3.9	14.3	6.4	50.0	55.3
19	RV100242	36.9	13.6	8.5	7.8	6.5	28.9	29.5	51.0	53.7
20	RV100243	54.9	14.6	9.4	4.8	4.5	18.1	3.4	31.6	55.7
21	RV100246	41.6	15.2	8.1	6.6	6.6	26.1	66.9	57.7	54.7
22	RV100247	31.5	15.2	7.3	7.2	5.6	31.4	30.8	46.8	53.3
23	RV100248	27.8	12.7	6.5	3.9	4.0	12.2	8.2	61.4	56.7
24	RV100249	45.0	19.2	16.2	6.0	5.4	26.2	29.6	55.9	60.7
25	RV100250	18.1	16.2	9.8	6.8	5.6	20.4	16.3	52.2	55.7
26	RV100252	42.8	14.0	7.0	6.0	5.2	20.8	66.0	64.2	51.7
27	RV100259	12.8	14.0	7.9	7.6	5.0	64.0	10.8	60.9	56.7
28	RV100260	16.9	14.6	8.6	7.7	6.5	22.2	15.5	51.7	49.0
29	RV100261	29.1	7.8	2.8	4.8	4.2	14.7	8.3	55.6	52.7
30	RV100262	27.7	15.2	7.8	6.0	4.6	12.2	12.7	55.2	55.0
31	RV100263	45.8	17.8	9.1	6.4	5.9	16.7	24.5	65.9	51.0
32	RV100264	13.8	17.0	7.2	7.2	4.9	18.2	12.3	60.6	58.3
33	RV100265	25.9	17.0	8.1	7.7	6.1	36.6	38.5	55.3	53.7
34	RV100266	31.0	13.6	9.2	5.7	5.8	24.3	77.7	64.2	49.7
35	RV100268	30.9	13.5	9.2	7.1	6.8	62.4	12.5	52.3	48.3
36	RV100270	28.2	19.0	9.1	7.3	5.4	41.0	33.0	58.9	54.3
37	RV100271	12.7	7.8	3.9	6.9	5.2	22.7	21.8	59.3	56.7
38	RV100273	25.8	16.9	7.5	6.7	5.9	35.0	4.7	55.6	55.0
39	RV100273	49.7	14.3	8.5	95	6.8	19.2	18.5	48.6	49.7
40	RV100300	81.0	17.6	11.4	10.0	7.8	68.3	14.0	48.6	52.3
41	RV100325	44.6	14.6	7.3	6.6	6.1	32.8	19.3	62.9	58.7
42	RV100327	15.8	12.1	6.4	5.7	4.6	27.3	5.0	58.5	56.0
43	RV100328	36.7	19.2	10.3	10.1	79	63.4	9.0	57.0	543
44	RV100331	17.8	14 1	7.0	10.6	79	82.6	5.8	56.6	57.7
45	RV100332	48 7	23.4	18.0	57	3.8	24.0	19.2	64.2	54 7
46	RV100333	16.8	23. 4 7.8	3.6	3.6	5.0 4.4	27.0	93	59.9	557
47	RV100334	35.8	13.4	7.2	8.4	4.3	21.8	9.7	54.2	55.0

Table 3.10: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field

60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72	RV100445 RV100447 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455 RV100456 RV100458 RV100511 Mean Fpr	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 68.8 81.8 25.8 37.4 <.001	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6 11.8 21.1 15.7 16.0 <.001	0.7 9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4 8.1 11.4 14.8 8.6 <.001	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9 9.2 10.7 7.3 7.1 0.02	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8 4.6 3.6 3.7 5.0 0.991	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8 20.8 20.5 13.3 30.5 0.1	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8 102.7 65.0 86.5 44.1 0.57	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0 62.2 48.4 58.9 56.5 <.001	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3 52.3 53.0 55.3 54.4 <.001
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455 RV100456 RV100458 RV100511 Mean	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 68.8 81.8 25.8 37.4	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6 11.8 21.1 15.7 16.0	0.7 9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4 8.1 11.4 14.8 8.6	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9 9.2 10.7 7.3 7.1	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8 4.6 3.6 3.7 5.0	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8 20.8 20.5 13.3 30.5	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8 102.7 65.0 86.5 44.1	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0 62.2 48.4 58.9 56.5	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3 52.3 53.0 55.3 54.4
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71 72	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455 RV100456 RV100458 RV100511	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 68.8 81.8 25.8	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6 11.8 21.1 15.7	9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4 8.1 11.4 11.4 14.8	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9 9.2 10.7 7.3	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8 4.6 3.6 3.7	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8 20.8 20.5 13.3	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8 102.7 65.0 86.5	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0 62.2 48.4 58.9	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3 52.3 53.0 55.3
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70 71	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455 RV100456 RV100458	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 68.8 81.8	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6 11.8 21.1	9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4 8.1 11.4	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9 9.2 10.7	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8 4.6 3.6	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8 20.8 20.5	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8 102.7 65.0	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0 62.2 48.4	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3 52.3 53.0
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69 70	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455 RV100455	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 68.8	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6 11.8	9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4 8.1	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9 9.2	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8 4.6	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8 20.8	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8 102.7	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0 62.2	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3 52.3
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68 69	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453 RV100455	 44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8 46.7 	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2 20.6	9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8 11.4	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5 12.9	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7 4.8	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3 37.8	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2 57.8	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9 53.0	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7 54.3
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67 68	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452 RV100453	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9 44.8	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8 13.2	9.6 5.7 8.6 4.8	5.4 9.2 8.2 3.5	3.0 5.8 7.9 2.7	24.9 52.2 82.0 3.3	24.0 20.5 4.8 372.2	55.8 37.7 56.1 60.9	56.0 58.0 51.7 56.7
60 61 62 63 64 65 66 67	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449 RV100452	44.2 21.2 27.6 44.9	13.2 15.4 16.6 20.8	9.6 5.7 8.6	5.4 9.2 8.2	3.0 5.8 7.9	24.9 52.2 82.0	24.0 20.5 4.8	55.8 37.7 56.1	56.0 58.0 51.7
60 61 62 63 64 65 66	RV100445 RV100447 RV100449	44.2 21.2 27.6	13.2 15.4 16.6	9.6 5.7	5.4 9.2	3.0 5.8	24.9 52.2	24.0 20.5	55.8 37.7	56.0 58.0
60 61 62 63 64 65	RV100445 RV100447	44.2 21.2	13.2 15.4	0.7 9.6	5.4	3.0	24.9	24.0	55.8	56.0
60 61 62 63 64	RV100445	44.2	13.2	0.7	14.0	0.0	00.1	20.0		
60 61 62 63			12.0	67	14.6	5.6	88.1	20.0	54.4	56.7
60 61 62	RV100438	45.1	18.8	9.5	5.1	2.8	6.1	257.7	52.5	55.3
60 61	RV100432	13.8	10.0	5.8	5.4	4.4	20.8	12.8	68.6	57.0
00	RV100431	54.8	21.6	7.9	7.8	4.3	30.7	33.8	49.3	55.7
<i>c</i> 0	RV100386	26.8	11.3	5.8	8.1	6.4	36.6	15.5	53.3	48.3
59	RV100382	42.7	21.1	9.4	7.6	5.9	25.0	8.5	51.5	54.0
58	RV100380	22.0	13.0	11.2	9.6	4.8	26.2	22.7	54.7	52.3
57	RV100377	62.3	18.9	12.1	8.4	4.7	8.0	23.0	55.2	55.3
56	RV100364	67.0	28.1	12.5	4.2	3.0	4.2	13.3	63.2	54.0
55	RV100360	21.7	16.1	8.5	2.8	2.3	1.7	203.7	53.1	54.7
54	RV100359	65.8	15.4	7.9	6.0	3.4	24.0	53.5	54.5	53.0
53	RV100356	69.8	16.5	6.1	4.7	2.8	2.8	24.2	67.1	55.3
52	RV100352	17.3	28.0	12.7	4.6	4.5	15.5	19.5	55.5	51.7
51	RV100346	19.8	16.0	6.1	4.3	3.9	10.9	37.0	60.1	52.0
50	RV100343	39.8	19.0	4.5	2.9	2.3	2.3	140.8	61.0	54.0
49	RV100342	55.9	22.0	8.3	9.4	5.5	35.0	42.8	55.6	55.3
48	RV100335	55.7	9.6	5.0	4.7	2.6	2.5	211.7	51.2	52.0

Table 3.10: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the field

Fpr=F probability, LSD=Least significant difference, PH=Plant growth habit (cm),LBL=Leaf blade length (cm), LBW=Leaf blade width (cm), FL=Fruit length (cm), FB-Fruit breadth (cm),

FW=Fruit weight (g), NOF=Number of fruits per plant, SPAD=Chlorophyll content, DTF=Days to 50% flowering.

S/no	Accessions	РН	LBL	LBW	FL	FB	FW(g)	NOF	SPAD	DTF
1	GBK 050572	43.4	9.3	9.1	13.7	5.1	49.5	20.0	67.5	55.0
2	RV1001201	49.4	16.6	10.9	13.9	6.1	79.7	6.7	46.6	53.0
3	RV100161	27.9	18.5	9.7	8.5	4.7	38.5	55.7	56.7	53.7
4	RV100165	28.3	15.3	8.5	8.1	4.5	29.0	20.6	62.2	53.0
5	RV100169	66.7	14.6	10.4	6.7	4.7	38.1	37.3	58.9	53.7
6	RV100185	47.6	16.9	6.8	6.2	2.6	7.2	37.0	57.7	53.0
7	RV100190	26.7	17.3	9.2	8.4	4.7	6.3	131.7	65.1	49.0
8	RV100194	24.5	15.2	9.9	5.2	4.1	12.3	136.3	63.3	53.7
9	RV100199	13.4	12.6	7.3	5.4	3.6	53.2	8.7	72.1	51.3
10	RV100200	58.8	21.6	11.4	13.5	7.7	140.2	20.7	62.5	53.0
11	RV100215	23.1	14.9	7.8	8.5	4.6	42.7	11.0	61.2	52.3
12	RV100217	49.3	13.5	4.9	3.1	2.8	5.4	92.3	53.8	52.3
13	RV100218	58.0	14.6	7.4	3.1	2.0	2.6	39.0	63.1	52.7
14	RV100234	17.9	17.5	17.1	9.1	4.6	33.6	6.7	63.6	50.3
15	RV100236	12.8	17.4	16.3	7.8	5.0	73.3	4.0	61.3	50.7
16	RV100239	42.6	20.7	9.5	5.5	4.8	43.4	9.7	56.3	53.3
17	RV100240	36.6	10.4	6.7	4.3	3.3	19.2	8.7	61.9	54.7
18	RV100241	46.2	15.5	8.3	7.2	4.2	18.2	11.7	55.9	55.7
19	RV100242	32.4	13.6	9.2	6.6	4.9	27.9	29.0	58.1	55.0
20	RV100243	56.4	15.5	10.5	8.0	4.4	18.4	5.0	40.2	51.7
21	RV100246	43.7	14.6	9.3	6.8	5.1	30.0	73.0	60.5	55.7
22	RV100247	29.1	14.5	7.5	7.7	4.6	28.7	26.7	52.4	52.3
23	RV100248	25.7	112.9	8.3	6.3	3.4	15.8	10.0	60.6	55.3
24	RV100249	44.0	19.2	15.2	6.3	6.0	30.9	26.3	61.4	54.0
25	RV100250	17.3	16.1	10.9	7.2	4.3	17.0	19.0	60.9	52.7
26	RV100252	42.4	14.6	9.4	6.6	3.6	18.9	61.7	65.7	51.7
27	RV100259	16.4	14.4	9.4	7.9	4.0	67.1	10.0	64.2	53.3
28	RV100260	15.2	14.4	9.6	8.3	6.4	18.4	17.7	55.7	51.3
29	RV100261	33.0	7.5	3.5	4.6	3.9	15.4	8.0	58.1	50.3
30	RV100262	24.7	14.5	8.2	7.1	4.6	7.7	17.3	55.4	53.0
31	RV100263	45.8	17.3	11.5	8.4	4.9	19.6	23.3	61.2	52.7
32	RV100264	19.4	16.5	9.4	6.5	4.0	20.8	11.0	62.8	53.7
33	RV100265	24.8	16.6	13.3	4.3	2.8	32.8	33.7	57.4	49.3
34	RV100266	31.6	14.0	8.9	5.0	3.9	21.3	73.0	55.3	49.7
35	RV100268	29.8	13.4	9.0	6.7	5.3	68.7	9.0	57.1	52.7
36	RV100270	26.2	18.4	9.8	6.6	4.3	39.9	33.3	65.3	49.7
37	RV100271	9.5	7.6	7.5	6.6	4.7	24.3	16.7	53.7	54.3
38	RV100273	24.4	17.2	9.6	7.4	4.8	40.6	9.0	61.2	53.3
39	RV100274	49.7	14.9	8.9	8.2	7.0	17.0	12.7	52.5	49.7
40	RV100300	72.6	21.2	14.4	9.7	7.7	59.0	14.3	57.0	50.3
41	RV100325	49.5	15.0	8.4	7.3	4.6	27.3	16.3	67.4	53.7
42	RV100327	14.9	12.5	7.6	5.4	4.4	30.2	9.7	56.8	54.3
43	RV100328	42.6	20.0	14.8	11.0	7.6	73.7	7.0	62.0	52.0
44	RV100331	17.3	14.2	9.3	10.0	7.3	75.4	10.0	63.9	51.3
45	RV100332	48.0	23.7	21.6	4.5	3.2	24.4	29.3	69.2	52.7
46	RV100333	12.8	8.7	5.5	4.7	3.7	25.1	8.3	66.2	54.7

Table 3.11: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse

	Cv (%)	6.9	5.2	5.0	9.4	12.2	7.5	7.1	5.2	4.5
	lsd (p=0.05)	<.001 4.18**	1.36**	<.001 0.81**	1.06**	0.83**	3.69**	4.96**	5.02**	3.82*
	F nr	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	0.05
	Mean	37.5	16.2	10.0	7.0	4.3	30.5	43.5	59.7	52.7
72	RV100511	29.4	16.6	15.4	6.7	2.9	10.0	82.7	57.3	53.7
71	RV100458	79.0	21.9	14.3	9.5	3.4	28.1	72.0	51.9	52.0
70	RV100456	65.5	14.6	10.6	9.6	4.1	20.8	118.3	66.4	52.0
69	RV100455	48.3	19.6	13.7	8.3	4.5	33.1	55.7	60.2	51.7
68	RV100453	53.2	14.6	9.2	4.4	3.5	2.5	354.7	63.4	53.0
67	RV100452	46.5	21.9	10.4	8.3	6.3	73.5	7.3	57.5	51.3
66	RV100449	32.2	16.7	8.3	9.8	<u> </u>	54.4	23.7	45.6	53.0
65	RV100447	20.8	15.6	5.4 7.6	4.7	2.6	31.9	31.0	61.7	53.3
64	RV100445	47.0	13.5	8.4	15.4	5.0	82.3	23.3	57.3	53.0
63	RV100438	45.0	19.8	11.4	5.7	2.6	7.7	222.7	59.4	55.0
62	RV100432	15.9	14.6	8.1	5.4	3.3	18.2	9.3	66.6	56.0
61	RV100431	51.4	22.4	8.7	8.8	3.3	33.4	30.0	48.4	55.3
60	RV100386	30.6	16.1	96	5.5 7 4	5.8	37.8	15.0	64 5	52.0
59	RV100382	41.5	17.4	11.4	3.3	2.4	21.7	14.0	58.7	52.0
58	RV100380	29.2	13.5	13.6	8.4	4.5	22.2	24.7	63.0	52.3
57	RV100377	60.3	18.4	11.3	5.6	4.7	10.0	20.0	59.0	50.3
56	RV100364	64 0	25.4	14.2	<u> </u>	2.5	7.6	14 7	68.8	52.3
55	RV100360	20.3	15.5	11.4	2.0	17	13	205.0	60.3	53.0
54	RV100359	61.2	15.5	10.4	38	2.1	2. 4 20.7	50.3	61.3	52.3
53	RV100356	64.2	17.0	9.0	4.1 4.4	2.1	24	30.3	52.0 64.8	52.0
52	RV100352	15.8	27.3	0.5 14 4	4.5	2.0	18.4	15.3	52.0	54.0
51	RV100346	19.3	17.4	6.5	2.1 4 3	2.8	73	34.0	61.5	54.0
50	RV100343	45.0	20.0 19.4	5.2 6.4	2.1	5.0 1.7	13	149 3	63.6	50.7
49	RV100342	52.5	20.8	9.2	5.0 7.5	2.7	33.4	49.3	567	52.7
48	RV100335	56.5	11.0	5.5 7 1	5.0	27	3.6	189.0	57.9	54.0
47	RV100334	35.4	12.7	8.8	9.0	4.8	23.1	9.3	56.8	51.7

Table 3.11: Quantitative trait means of 72 African eggplant accessions grown in the greenhouse

PH=Plant growth habit (cm), LBL=Leaf blade, length (cm), LBW=Leaf blade width (cm), FL=Fruit length (cm), FB= Fruit breadth (cm), FW=Fruit weight (g), NOF=Number of fruits per plant, SPAD= Chlorophyll greenness index, DTF=Days to 50% flowering, Fpr=F probability, LSD=Least significant difference. **-Highly significant, *-significant, ns-not significant.

3.8.4 Fruit length

Significant differences were observed among the study accessions in the field and greenhouse for fruit length. In the field study, fruit length ranged from 1.7 cm (accession RV100343) to 15.9 cm (accession RV100445) with a mean of 7.12 cm (Table 3.10). In the greenhouse grown accessions fruit length ranged from 1.4 cm (accession RV100343) to 15.9 cm (accession RV100445), with a mean of 7.007 cm (Table 3.11).

3.8.5 Fruit breadth

Fruit breadth showed no significant differences among the field grown accessions. Fruit breadth among the accessions ranged from 1.5 cm (accession RV100343) to 9.8 cm (accession RV100200) with a mean of 5.0 cm (Table 3.10). In the greenhouse grown accessions, significant variations were recorded with fruit breadth ranging from 1.3 cm (accession RV100343) to 8.4 cm (accession RV100200) respectively with a mean of 4.3 cm, out of 72 accessions studied 35 of them had fruit breadths longer than 4.3 cm (Table 3.11).

3.8.6 Fruit weight

In the field experiments, there were no significant differences among the accessions for fruit weight (Table 10). Fruit weight ranged from 1.3 g (accession RV100360) to 156.7 g (accession RV100200) with a mean of 30.48 g. Accessions with more than average fruit weight included RV1001201 (81.2 g), RV100331 (82.6 g), RV100452 (82.0 g) and RV100236 (74.3 g) while a few with less than average fruit weight included RV100356 (2.8 g), RV100343 (2.3 g), RV100335 (2.5 g), RV100218 (3.2 g) and RV100190 (4.4 g) (Table 3.10). In the greenhouse experiments, there were highly significant (P<0.01) differences among the accessions in fruit weight (Table 11). Fruit weight ranged from 0.9 g (accession RV100360) to 143.5 g (accession RV100200), with a mean of 30.49 g. Twenty six of the 72 accessions had fruit weight of above 30.49 g. Accessions with more than average fruit weight included RV100445 (82.3 g), RV1001201 (79.7 g), RV100328 (73.7 g) and RV100343 (1.3 g), RV100453 (2.5 g), RV100218 (2.6 g) and RV100217 (5.4 g) (Table 3.11).

VARIATE	MIN	MEAN	MAX	SED	P value
Days to 50% flowering	45.0	54.5	63.0	2.2	<.001**
SPAD value	27.9	56.5	72.7	1.9	<.001**
Plant height	12.4	37.4	82.4	0.4	<.001**
Leaf blade length	7.1	16.0	29.4	0.4	<.001**
Leaf blade width	2.5	8.6	20.1	0.6	<.001**
Fruit length	1.7	7.1	15.9	0.6	0.02*
Fruit breadth	1.5	5.0	9.8	0.5	NS
Fruit weight	1.3	30.5	156.7	1.6	NS
No. of fruits per plant	2.0	44.1	377.0	4.5	NS

 Table 3.12: Quantitative trait measurements of 72 field grown African eggplant accessions with their minimum and maximum values

**=Highly significant, *=Significant, NS=Not significant, SED=Standard error of difference.

P value=Significant level test. Data are means of three replications of three plants each for

the 72 African eggplant accessions, NO-Number.

ccessions with their min	imum an	d maximum	values		
VARIATE	MIN	MEAN	MAX	SED	P value
Days to 50% flowering	45.0	52.7	60.0	2.0	0.045*
SPAD value	37.8	59.7	74.4	2.5	<.001**
Plant height	7.3	37.5	84.0	2.1	<.001**
Leaf blade length	6.7	16.2	28.4	0.7	<.001**
Leaf blade width	3.1	10.0	22.8	0.4	<.001**
Fruit length	1.4	7.0	15.9	0.5	<.001**
Fruit breadth	1.3	4.3	8.4	0.4	<.001**
Fruit weight	0.9	30.5	143.5	1.9	<.001**

Table 3.13: Quantitative trait measurements of 72 greenhouse grown African eggplant accessions with their minimum and maximum values

**=Highly significant, *=Significant, NS=Not significant, SED=Standard error of difference P value=Significant level test. Data are means of three replications of three plants each for the 72 African eggplant accessions, NO-Number

43.5

360.0

2.5

<.001**

2.0

3.8.7 Number of fruits per plant

No. of fruits per plant

No significant differences were observed among the accessions for number of fruits per plant in the field experiment. Number of fruits per plant ranged from as low as 2 fruits (accession RV100236) to 372 fruits (accession RV100453), with a mean of 44.13 fruits per plant. Seventeen accessions had a higher number of fruits than the mean (Table 3.12). Some of the accessions with

fruit number higher than the mean included accessions RV100438, RV100335, RV100360 and RV100343 having 257, 211, 203 and 140 number of fruits per accession respectively (Table 3.12). In the greenhouse experiments, there were highly significant (P<0.01) differences among the accessions. The mean number of fruits per accession ranged from 2 (accession RV100236) to 360 (accession RV100453), with a mean of 43.5 fruits per accession. Sixteen accessions had a higher number of fruits than the mean. Accessions with a higher fruit number than the mean included accessions RV100438, RV100360, RV100335 and RV100343 with 222, 205, 189 and 149 number of fruits per accession respectively (Table 3.13).

3.8.8 SPAD value

The accessions showed significant variation in SPAD values measured across the 72 eggplant accessions in both greenhouse and field experiment. In the field study, SPAD values ranged from 27.9 (accession RV100243) to 72.7 (accession RV100432). The mean SPAD value in the field grown accessions was 56.47 (Table 3.12). In the greenhouse, SPAD values ranged from 37.8 (accession RV100266) to 74.4 (accession RV100259). The mean SPAD value in the greenhouse grown accessions was 59.67 (Table 3.13). It is evident that accessions grown in the greenhouse had higher SPAD values than accessions grown in the field. In the field experiment, *Solanum* species accessions RV100432 had the highest SPAD value while accession RV100243 belonging to S. *aethiopicum* species had the lowest SPAD value. Accessions RV100259 and RV100266 with the highest and lowest SPAD value respectively in the greenhouse belonged to the S. *aethiopicum* species.

3.8.9 Days to 50% flowering

The accessions showed significant variation in days to 50% flowering in both greenhouse and field experiment. In the field study, days to 50% flowering ranged from 48.3 (accession RV100239) to

60.7 (accession RV100249). The mean number of days to 50% flowering in the field grown accessions was 54 days. The number of days to flowering was above average in 47 accessions (Table 3.12). In the greenhouse, number of days to 50% flowering ranged from 49 (accession RV100190) to 56 (accession RV100432). The mean number of days to 50% flowering in the greenhouse grown accessions was 53 days while 35 accessions had above average number of days to flowering (Table 3.13).

3.8.10 Correlation coefficient among the traits

Eggplant accessions showed non-significant negative correlations (-0.07 and -0.16 respectively) between days to 50% flowering and fruit length in both the greenhouse and the field (Table 3.14 and Table 3.15). Field grown accessions showed a highly significant negative (-0.27) correlation between days to 50% flowering and fruit breadth while the greenhouse grown accessions showed a non-significant negative correlation (-0.03) between the two attributes (Table 3.14 and Table 3.15). Both field and greenhouse grown accessions showed non-significant negative correlations (-0.07 and -0.16 respectively) between days to 50% flowering and fruit breadth for both the field and greenhouse grown accessions showed highly significant positive correlation values (0.59 and 0.60 respectively). Both field and greenhouse grown accessions showed significant negative correlations (-0.32 and -0.31 respectively) between fruit length and the number of fruits per plant.

TRAITS	DTF	FL	FB	FW	LBL	LBW	NOF	PH	SPAD
Days to 50%									
flowering	-								
Fruit length	-0.07	-							
Fruit breadth	-0.27**	0.59**	-						
Fruit weight	-0.11	0.72**	0.70**	-					
Leaf blade length	0.12	0.09	0.06	0.07	-				
Leaf blade width	-0.03	0.34**	0.18*	0.14	0.54**	-			
Number of fruits	0.21*	-0.32**	-0.47**	-0.37**	-0.03	-0.15	-		
Plant height	0.05	0.15	-0.12	-0.02	0.32**	0.13	0.13	-	
SPAD	0.08	-0.04	0.05	-0.06	0.15	0.13	-0.004	0.18*	-

 Table 3.14: Correlation coefficient table for the quantitative traits recorded for accessions grown in the field

DTF-Days to 50% flowering, FL-Fruit length, FB-Fruit breadth, FW-Fruit weight, LBL-Leaf blade length, NOF-Number of fruits per plant, LBW-Leaf blade width, PH- Plant height, SPAD- Soil plant analysis development. ** Correlation is highly significant at P>0.05 level,*correlation is significant at P>0.05 level

TRAITS	DTF	FL	FB	FW	LBL	LBW	NOF	PH	SPAD
Days to 50%									
flowering	-								
Fruit length	-0.16	-							
Fruit breadth	-0.03	0.60**	-						
Fruit weight	-0.24**	0.73**	0.71**	-					
Leaf blade length	0.06	0.06	0.02	0.08	-				
Leaf blade width	0.07	0.28**	0.14	0.19*	0.58**	-			
Number of fruits	-0.05	-0.31**	-0.45**	-0.37**	-0.05	-0.17	-		
Plant height	0.12	0.16	-0.07	-0.03	0.28**	0.13	0.12	-	
SPAD	0.06	-0.04	-0.18*	-0.09	0.01	-0.08	0.26**	0.08	-

 Table 3.15: Correlation coefficient table for the quantitative traits recorded for accessions

 grown in the greenhouse

DTF-Days to 50% flowering, FL-Fruit length, FB-Fruit breadth, FW-Fruit weight, LBL-Leaf blade length, NOF-Number of fruits per plant, LBW-Leaf blade width, PH- Plant height, SPAD- Soil plant analysis development. ** Correlation is highly significant at P>0.05 level,*correlation is significant at P>0.05 level

A significantly negative correlations were also observed between fruit breadth and the number of fruits per plant for both field and greenhouse grown accessions (-0.47 and -0.45 respectively). Field and greenhouse grown accessions showed a highly significant negative correlation (-0.37 and -0.37 respectively) between fruit weight and number of fruits per plant.

There were highly significant positive correlation between leaf blade length and leaf blade width (0.54 and 0.58 respectively) and between the plant height and leaf blade length (0.32 and 0.28 respectively) for both the field and greenhouse grown accessions (Table 3.14 and Table 3.15).

3.9: Discussion

The study showed that majority of the accessions evaluated (88%) had upright growth habit with few having intermediate and prostrate growth habits. Prohens *et al.* (2012) made a similar observation when they characterized *S. melongena* and *S. aethiopicum* eggplant species. The upright trait is important for good vigor which enables the plant to grow to the height required for easier weeding and harvesting during production (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2007). Upright growth habit facilitates free air circulation in the plant thus preventing pest and diseases attack (Chowdhury *et al.*, 2007). Most accessions evaluated had white flowers (88.9%) in both the field and greenhouse. Naujeer (2009) made a similar observation for *Solanum nigrum* accessions. In the current study, some accessions had pale violet, bluish violet, light violet and greenish white flowers. Except for greenish white, accessions with these flower colours have been previously documented (FAO, 1990). The flower colour is mainly due to the pigments and biochemical compounds present in flowers; for example anthocyanin and acylglycosides (Dasgupta and De, 2007). These pigments that occur in flowers aid in pollination and subsequent fruit production (Dasgupta and De, 2007).

The study showed that leaf hairs and leaf prickles are very important marker traits for classification of African eggplant into different species. Accessions that were known for their leaf hairs and leaf prickles were RV1001201, RV100185, RV1000194, RV100234, RV100241, RV100246, RV100250, RV100261, RV100262 and RV100263. It was evident that leaf hairs were more pronounced in plants growing in the field than those growing in the greenhouse. Leaf prickles and hairs in eggplant are important in preventing insect attack on the plants. They interfere with the

feeding by herbivores due to the stiffness and irritability to the palate (Subbash, 2010). The leaf hairs also reduce transpiration, a dense coating of leaf hairs reflects sunlight thus protecting the more delicate tissues underneath in hot and dry environments (Subbash, 2010). Nevertheless, farmers prefer non-prickled leaf types for ease of harvest as stated by Chowdhury *et al.* (2007).

The qualitative characters showed high diversity indices in both field and greenhouse grown accessions. Growth habit, leaf hairs, leaf prickles, fruit shape, flower colour, fruit position, fruit length and fruit breadth showed high diversity indices, ranging from 0.9523 (leaf hairs) to 0.9941 (fruit position). The total diversity index varied from 0.9951 (greenhouse) to 0.9955 (field). Thuy (2002) and Uddin *et al.* (2014) classified the diversity of eggplant based on morphological characters as high (H'=> 0.750), moderate (H'=0.50-0.75) and low (H'=<0.50) diversity. Given that morphological characters vary with the environment, uses of molecular markers such as simple sequence repeat (SSR) are advisable to identify polymorphism trait that is not influenced by the environment (Stachel *et al.*, 2000).

Cluster analysis elaborated the existence of diversity among the 72 eggplant accessions for the morphological traits studied. The clustering pattern showed that accessions from the same species showed very close relationship with each other on the basis of Euclidean distance. The clustering patterns based on UPGMA and principal coordinate analysis were similar and established clear cut groupings based on the species of the accessions (S. *aethiopicum*, S. *anguivi*, S. *macrocarpon* and *Solanum* species) for both the field and greenhouse experiments. This study clearly showed that qualitative traits like plant growth habit, leaf prickles, leaf hairs, flower colour, fruit position and fruit shape scored the same both in the field and in the greenhouse but the difference was seen in fruit breadth and fruit length. Studies have shown that additive gene action is responsible for much of the genetic variation of the qualitative traits (Zaveri *et al.*, 1980; Wasonga, 2014). Contrary to

other authors some reports indicate that action by non-additive genes and interactions between genotypes and environment are important in some situation for the variation (Singh and Rachie, 1985).

Accessions used in this study for the field and greenhouse experiments were grouped according to their species. Cluster I of the field grown accessions grouped the closely related S. *aethiopicum* accession, some S. *anguivi* and some *Solanum* species accessions together. Cluster II of field grown accessions were mostly made up of small sized fruits. Accessions in sub cluster 'c' comprised most of S. *anguivi*, some *solanum* species accessions and the only S. *macrocarpon* accession in the study plus a few of S. *aethiopicum* accessions found in sub cluster 'd'. The clustering of accessions in different groups may be useful to provide a basis for further crop improvement in eggplant (Uddin *et al.*, 2014). In the present study multivariate principal component analysis identified six traits namely leaf hairs, leaf prickles, fruit position, fruit shape, fruit breadth and flower colour as the most important traits for characterization of eggplant accessions. Multivariate principal component analysis has been previously used to identify the most important traits for characterizing genotypes and accessions of different species including pigeon pea (Upadhyaya *et al.*, 2007), sweet potato (Yada *et al.*, 2010), wheat (Al khanjari *et al.*, 2008) and spider plant (Wasonga, 2014).

Significant variations in quantitative traits such as fruit length, fruit breadth, leaf blade length, leaf blade width, plant height, SPAD value and days to 50% flowering were observed in this study. Uddin *et al.* (2014) made a similar observation in a study in which they evaluated eggplant accessions. Variation shown among the African eggplant accessions studied could partly be attributed to different evolutionary pathways of development. Adaptation to local environment across generations appears to have generated a significant degree of differentiation at both inter

and intra specific levels in eggplant. The same was reported in Italian pepper landraces by Portis *et al.* (2006). Fruit parameters like fruit length, fruit breadth fruit weight and fruit yield revealed a highly significant correlation with each other suggesting that increase or decrease in one parameter directly influences the increase or decrease in the other character. Chattopadhyay *et al.* (2011) made similar observation in a study of fruit weight and fruit breadth of eggplant. In the present study accessions with larger fruits included GBK 050572, RV1001201, RV100328, R100445 and RV100331, those with wider fruits included RV100200, RV100274, RV100300, RV100328 and RV100331 and accessions with heavier fruits included RV100268. The relationship between leaf size and fruit size was not significant in the current study, which is in agreement with other researchers (Uddin *et al.*, 2014). According to Kumar *et al.* (2008) high positive correlation between yield, a complex and polygenic trait with low heritability, and other heritable component traits such as leaf and fruit characters can assist in selection and breeding of high yielding varieties.

There was a highly significant positive correlation between the number of fruits per plant and SPAD value in the greenhouse. The SPAD value is proportional to the amount of chlorophyll concentration present in the sampled leaf (Jarvis, 2008). In both field and greenhouse grown accessions SPAD value was positively correlated to plant height. High SPAD reading translates to high chlorophyll content leading to high photosynthetic rate and increased translocation of photosynthates to the fruits.

Major breeding objectives in eggplant crops are to improve yield and enhance fruit quality. It is extremely important to collect, evaluate and conserve these local genotypes, wild species, landraces and exotic germplasm to develop strong and successful breeding programmes.

3.10: Conclusion

High levels of variation were observed among the morphological and agronomic traits of eggplant accessions evaluated. The wide genetic variation indicates potential for genetic improvement of the crop through selection and cross breeding. Leaf hairs, leaf prickles, flower colour, fruit shape, fruit position and fruit breadth are the key identified traits that that could be used in characterizing eggplant accessions.

CHAPTER FOUR: EFFECT OF WATER STRESS ON GROWTH, YIELD AND NUTRITIONAL QUALITY OF SELECTED AFRICAN EGGPLANT ACCESSIONS

4.1 Abstract

Drought stress is one of the main factors limiting productivity of crops in Kenya. Cultivation of neglected and underutilized indigenous crop species such as African eggplant has the potential to reduce the adverse effects of drought. However, there is limited information on the impact of drought on the productivity and quality of African eggplant. A study was conducted at the University of Nairobi's Field Station to determine the effect of water stress on growth, yield and nutritional quality of 20 selected African eggplant accessions. The accessions were subjected to different moisture levels (40, 60 and 80% field capacity) and adequately watered (100% field capacity) conditions. The experiments were set up in a greenhouse and laid out in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Data was collected on growth traits (plant height, stem girth, single leaf area and fruit weight), physiological characters (stomatal conductance, canopy temperature, leaf relative water content and chlorophyll content) and chemical components $(\beta$ -carotene, vitamin C, total soluble solids, titratable acidity, pH, magnesium, calcium, iron and zinc) measured at vegetative, flowering and fruit maturity stages. Water stress significantly decreased fruit yield (16.6%), fruit weight (13.8%), stem girth (31.9%), plant height (20.1%), single leaf area (17.9%), stomatal conductance (57.7%), leaf relative water content (37.2%), chlorophyll content (12.6%), pH (6%), magnesium (43.5%), calcium (43.9%), iron (47.3%) and zinc (18.9%). However, it increased β -carotene concentration (29.5%), vitamin C (6%), titratable acidity (16.7%), total soluble solids (14.9%) and canopy temperature (19.7%). Water stress decreased growth and fruit yield parameters, Ca, Mg, Fe and Zn but increased β-carotene, vitamin C and total soluble solids. Response to drought stress with respect to growth, yield, physiological

and nutritional quality was dependent on accessions indicating their potential use in eggplant improvement programmes.

4.2 Introduction

Eggplant is eaten as a vegetable and it is a major source of nutrients (e.g. Ca, Fe, Zn, Mg, β carotene and vitamin C) essential for a healthy diet. It produces bioactive components and antioxidants such as fruit phenols and flavonoic constituents (Singh *et al.*, 2009; Umesh *et al.*, 2015). The eggplant fruit peel contains high content of delphinidin while its flesh contains chlorogenic acid (Umesh *et al.*, 2015). These biochemical compounds have a potential to help in the management of cancer, high blood pressure and hepatosis (Magioli and Mansur, 2005; Umesh *et al.*, 2015).

According to HCDA (2013), Kenya produced 9,447 metric tonnes of eggplant in the year 2013, however, the productivity of the crop is reduced by several constraints including drought stress. Drought stress is widely experienced particularly in rain fed agricultural land estimated at 1.2 billion hectares globally (Passioura, 2007; Amiri *et al* 2011). About 70% of Kenya's land mass is affected by drought leading to high vulnerability to food insecurity particularly in the arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs) of the country (Hugo *et al.*, 2010). Drought events associated with climate change and climate variability have become more pronounced in Kenya in recent years, adversely affecting agricultural production (Hugo *et al.*, 2010). Severe droughts can cause up to 60 to 100% yield losses in different crop species (Singh *et al.*, 2002; Amiri *et al.*, 2011). This calls for crop species and varieties with high tolerance levels to drought. African eggplant, comprising *Solanum aethiopicum*, *Solanum anguivi* and *Solanum macrocarpon* is less susceptible to drought hence its yield losses under drought stress are expected to be low compared to the commercial eggplant. To improve the productivity of eggplant in drought prone Kenyan environments requires

drought tolerance breeding programs. Hence, there is a need to identify drought tolerant genotypes from existing African eggplant germplasm which could provide sources of genes for genetic improvement of this crop.

It has been reported that water stress may significantly reduce macronutrient concentrations of eggplant and increase concentrations of vitamin C, β -carotene and total soluble solids (Kirnak *et al.*, 2001). The impact of water stress on nutritional quality of African eggplant has not been evaluated. The objective of this study was to determine the effects of water stress on growth, yield and nutritional quality of 20 selected African eggplant accessions.

4.3 Materials and methods

4.3.1 Site Description

The experiments were conducted in a greenhouse at Kabete Field Station University of Nairobi, Kenya. The site is located on the latitudes 1^o 14' 20" to 1^o15'15" South and longitudes 36^o 44' to 36^o 45' East, at an altitude of 1940 meters above sea level. The first greenhouse experiment was carried out from 18th March 2015 until 30th August 2015 while the second greenhouse experiment lasted from 29th April 2015 up to 25th September 2015. The long rains occur from early March to late May, whereas short rains occur from October to December. The site has minimum and maximum mean annual temperature of 13^oC and 23^oC, respectively (Siderus, 1976). Prior to planting, soil was sampled and analyzed for soil pH, nitrogen, organic carbon, phosphorus, potassium, calcium, magnesium, manganese, copper, iron, zinc and sodium content at the National Agricultural Research Laboratories (Table 3.1 in chapter three of this thesis).

4.3.2 Planting materials

Twenty (20) African eggplant accessions consisting of 14 from *Solanum aethiopicum*, 4 from *Solanum* species and 2 from *Solanum anguivi* were used in this study (Table 4.1). Nineteen (19) of the accessions were sourced from the Asian Vegetable Research Development Centre (AVRDC) based in Arusha (Tanzania) and Taiwan and one breeders' line accession sourced from the National Gene Bank of Kenya in Muguga. The 20 accessions were selected based on their place of origin, type of species, fruit weight and fruit quantity, leaf size, presence of leaf prickles, presence of leaf hairs, time to 50% flowering and SPAD value.

Table 4.1: List of plant materials provided by Asian Vegetable Research and Development Center

 East and Southern Africa (AVRDEC- ESA)

S/no	RVI code	Genus	Species	Name	Origin
1	RVI00161	Solanum	aethiopicum	MANYIRE GREEN	Tanzania
2	RVI00270	Solanum	aethiopicum	86	Mali
3	RVI00263	Solanum	aethiopicum	119	Mali
4	GBK 050572	Solanum	aethiopicum	MAFWA	Kenya
5	RVI00386	Solanum	aethiopicum	EX-IVORY COAST	Ivory Coast
6	RVI00377	Solanum	aethiopicum	EX-SIRONKWOO	Uganda
7	RVI00327	Solanum	aethiopicum	AUBERGINE BLANCH	Mali
8	RVI00334	Solanum	aethiopicum	SOXNA	Mali
9	RVI00511	Solanum	aethiopicum	SENGEREMA 1	Tanzania
10	RVI00331	Solanum	aethiopicum	L10	Unknown
11	RVI00352	Solanum	aethiopicum	RW-AE-13	Uganda
12	RVI00328	Solanum	aethiopicum	LOCAL MALI	Mali
13	RVI00242	Solanum	aethiopicum	103	Mali
14	RVI00169	Solanum	aethiopicum	TENGERU WHITE	Tanzania
15	RVI00190	Solanum	anguivi	N19	Tanzania
16	RVI00364	Solanum	anguivi	UG-AE-20	Uganda
17	RVI00453	Solanum	Species	S00052	Unknown
18	RVI00382	Solanum	Species	BORY BORY	Madagascar
19	RVI00452	Solanum	Species	S0005	Unknown
20	RVI00458	Solanum	Species	S001381	Unknown

RVI- Accession registration code used in AVRDEC

4.4 Experimental design and crop husbandry

Twenty (20) accessions of African eggplant were evaluated for drought tolerance against four moisture levels (100%, 80%, 60% and 40% field capacity) in pots set up in a greenhouse. The treatments were laid out in a randomized complete block design with a factorial arrangement with three replications. Two seedlings were planted per pot and later thinned to one seedling per pot when the plants were at 25 cm above ground. Each pot was 36.5 cm long x 18.5 cm wide. Pots were filled with a mixture of sterilized Kabete humic nitisols soil. One part of sand was mixed with two parts of soil and two parts of compost (ratio 1: 2: 2) before filling in the pots. The pots were each filled with 7 kg of air-dried soil mixture. One teaspoon of calcium ammonium nitrate equivalent to 9.8 grams per seedling was applied in each pot just before planting. Seedlings that had been raised in trays in the greenhouse for four weeks were then transplanted into the pots. Irrigation was done before and after transplanting of the seedlings.

Before initiating water stress treatments, the 20 accessions were irrigated to field capacity for two weeks in order to improve root development. Soil water potential was monitored using a tensiometer at 13 cm depth. The tensiometers were calibrated to measure the actual availability of water in the soil. As soon as soil water potential reached – 8 kPa, plants were watered to field capacity using a watering can. The crops were then top dressed six weeks later with 19.6 grams per plant of calcium ammonium nitrate. The plants were sprayed with Actara[®] (active ingredient thiomethoxam), Karate[®] (active ingredient lambda cylothrin) and Ortiva[®] (active ingredient 250 g/l azoxystrobin) insecticides at the rate of 20 g per 20 litres of water at 20, 40 and 55 days after emergence to control whiteflies, thrips and aphids. Pots were kept weed free by hand weeding.

4.5 Data collection

4.5.1 Growth parameters

Growth data were collected on plant height, single leaf area and stem girth. All measurements and counts of a given trait were done on the same day for all the grown accessions in order to maintain uniformity. Total yield was measured at harvesting when the fruits were mature and have changed colour from green to the final ripe colour of specific accession fruit.

Plant height was measured (in centimeters) from the base of the plant to the tip of the main stem using a meter rule at flowering stage. The stem girth (cm) was determined by measuring the circumference of the middle portions of the stems of three plants at flowering stage. Three young fully expanded leaves from the three selected plants per accession were randomly selected at flowering and leaf length measured (in centimeters) from the pulvinus to the tip of the leaf while leaf width (cm) was measured at the widest part of the basal leaves. The single leaf area (cm²) was calculated using leaf length and leaf width measurements following the formulae of Rivera *et al.* (2007): SLA=0.763L +0.34W, where SLA is single leaf area, L is leaf length and W is leaf width.

4.5.2 Physiological parameters

Stomatal conductance, leaf relative water content, canopy temperature and chlorophyll content were measured at vegetative stage based on three selected plants per plot. The leaf chlorophyll content was taken at flowering stage on a fully expanded young leaf in every three plants. This value was taken using a non-destructive, handheld chlorophyll meter called Soil Plant Analysis Development (SPAD-502, Minolta camera Co., Ltd., Japan). SPAD -502 determines the relative amount of chlorophyll present in the leaf by measuring the transmittance of the leaf in two bands namely 600 nm to 700 nm and 400 nm to 500 nm. SPAD-502 measures the absorbance of the leaf in the leaf in the red and near infrared regions.

Relative water content (RWC) is the appropriate measure of plant water status in terms of the physiological consequence of cellular water deficit. The leaf relative water content (LRWC) was calculated based on the methods of Yamasaki and Dillenburg (1999). The young leaves were picked from the mid-section of a plant. A leaf sample was made up of three leaves, collected from the same plant, and then weighed to obtain the fresh mass (FM). The turgid mass (TM) was recorded when the same leaves were floated in distilled water inside a closed petridish for 24 hours and after gently wiping the water from the leaf surface with tissue paper. After the imbibition period, the dry mass (DM) was taken after the leaf samples were placed in a pre-heated oven at 60° C for 48 hours. All mass measurements were made using an analytical scale, with precision of 0.001 g. Values of FM, TM, and DM were used to calculate LRWC, using the equation: LRWC(%) = [(FM – DM)/(TM – DM)] x 100 (Aguyoh *et al.*, 2013).

Stomatal conductance (mmol/m²s) was taken at flowering stage on three fully expanded young leaves per plants. The stomatal conductance was measured using a leaf porometer (Decagon Devices, Inc). Crop canopy temperatures were measured with an infrared thermometer (Teletempt Model AG-42). Measurements were made when stress was considered to be maximal (11:00–13:00 h) by shining the infrared light on young fully grown leaves of three selected accessions.

4.5.3 Chemical components of the fruits

The chemical components of fruits that were determined included total soluble solids, titratable acidity, pH, β -carotene, vitamin C and minerals.

4.5.3.1 Total soluble solid

Total soluble solids (TSS) were determined on three fruit samples taken randomly from harvested fruits in each of two water stress levels (100% FC and 60% FC). Three milliliter juice was extracted

from three fruit samples and the TSS determined using a handheld digital refractometer (Model 500, Atago Co., Ltd and Tokyo, Japan) and expressed as ^obrix.

4.5.3.2 Titratable Acidity

Titratable acidity (TA) was determined on three fruit samples representing each accession randomly selected from harvested fruits from each of the water stress levels (100% FC and 60% FC). The fruits were crushed using pestle and mortar to get juice. Thereafter, 0.3 ml of indicator (1% phenolphthalein in 95% ethanol) was added to 10ml of the extracted juice. The extracted juice was then diluted with 50 ml distilled water and titrated with 0.1 N sodium hydroxide to a permanent pink colour and a final titrant noted. The percentage TA was expressed using the following equation: Equation 4.1

Titratable acidity % = <u>Vol. of 0.1 N NaOH used x conversion Factor x 100</u> Volume of sample used Citric acid's conversion factor = 0.064

4.5.3.3 pH

The pH was determined on three fruit samples representing each accession randomly selected from harvested fruits from each of the water stress levels (100% FC and 60% FC). The fruits were mashed using pestle and mortar into juice and the pH was measured using a pH meter. The pH meter was standardized with a standard pH buffer solution of 4.0. The electrode was rinsed with distilled water, blotted and then standardized using the alkaline buffer solution of 9.18 and finally the pH of the sample juice was measured.

4.5.3.4 Determination of β-carotene content

The β -carotene content was determined by a modified chromatographic procedure (Heinonen, 1990). Five grams of the fruit sample were put in a mortar then a spatula full of celite was added

to the sample in the mortar and crushed using a pestle. The juice extract was mixed with 50 ml of cold acetone and filtered using a glass funnel until the residue was completely washed to white. Partitioning was done using 25 ml petroleum ether in a separating funnel to obtain the β -carotenerich upper layer. Distilled water (200 ml) was then added along the walls of the funnel. The two phases were separated and the lower aqueous phase discarded. Acetone residues were removed by washing three times with distilled water without discarding the upper phase. The mixture was washed with distilled water until it was clean and then anhydrous sodium sulphate was used to drain water and finally the extract was stored in sample bottles in a dark cabinet. β -carotene content was determined using ultraviolet visible spectrophotometer (Model UV mini 1240, Kyoto Shimadzu) and absorbance read at 450 nm. The β -carotene content was calculated using the following equation:

$$\beta\text{-carotene (mg/100ml)} = \frac{A X \text{ Volume (ml) } x \ 10^4}{A^{1\%} 1 \text{ cm } x \text{ sample weight (g)}}$$

Where A= absorbance; volume = total volume of extract (25 ml); $A^{1\%}_{1cm}$ = absorption coefficient of β -carotene in petroleum ether =2592 (Rodriguez-Amaya and Kimura, 2002).

4.5.3.5 Ascorbic acid determination (Vitamin C)

The ascorbic acid content in the sample was determined by the high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method (Vikram *et al.*, 2005). Five grams of the sample was weighed and extracted with 0.8% metaphosphoric acid. This was made to 20 ml juice. The juice was centrifuged at 100 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was filtered and diluted with 10 ml of 0.8% metaphosphoric acid. This was then filtered using cotton wool, micro-filtered through 0.45 μ filter and 20 μ L injected into the HPLC machine. Various concentrations of ascorbic acid standards were

also made to make a calibration curve. HPLC analysis was done using Shimadzu UV-VIS detector. The mobile phase was 0.8% metaphosphoric acid, at 1.1 mL/min flow rate and wavelength of 266.0 nm.

4.5.3.6 Determination of minerals

Minerals were analyzed using the AOAC (1996) method. Five grams of the pulp was charred in the oven for 30 minutes and then put in a muffle furnace at 550^oC for eight hours to ash. The ash was allowed to cool and diluted with 10 ml of 1 N hydrochloric acid. The mixture was filtered and diluted with 100 ml of distilled water. Calcium, iron, zinc and magnesium were analyzed using an atomic absorption spectrophotometer (Model AA-6200, Shimadzu Corp., Kyoto, Japan). Before analysis the samples of Ca were further diluted with 5 ml of water while those of Mg were diluted with 20 ml of water. Iron and zinc samples were not diluted. The absorbance of the solutions was read by Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer (AAS). The various mineral standards were also prepared to make the calibration curves.

4.6 Data analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed on the data collected using Genstat version 14 (Payne *et al.*, 2011) at 5% level of significance. Mean separation for treatment effects that were significant was done by Fisher's protected least significant difference (LSD) test using Genstat version 14 at $P \le 0.05$.

4.7 Results

4.7.1 Plant height and single leaf area

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the plant height and single leaf area (Table 4.2). Reduction of moisture level from 100% field capacity (FC) to 60%, or less, field capacity significantly reduced plant height and single leaf area for all the accessions. Water stress reduced plant height by 9.6, 15.9 and 20.1% at 80, 60 and 40% FC, respectively, as compared to the control (100% FC). The decline in plant height ranged from 34% (Accession RV100263) to 12.7% (accession RV100190). The average plant height ranged from 41.7 cm (40% FC) to 52.2 cm (100% FC). The decline in single leaf area ranged from 9.4% (accession RV100386) to 29.5% (accession RV100263). The average single leaf area ranged from 20.4 cm² (40% FC) to 24.9 cm² (100% FC).

4.7.2 Stem girth

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the stem girth (Table 4.3). The reduction in stem girth with a decline in moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC varied from 5.4 (accession RV100161) to 28.9% (accession GBK 050572), 2.4 (accession RV100452) to 20% (accession RV100190) and 3.8 (accession RV100386) to 37.5% (accession RV100452). The average decline in stem girth varied from 0.7 cm in accession RV100386 to 2.1 cm in accession GBK 050572 with decline in moisture level from 100% to 40% FC.

		Plant he	ight			_	Single le	af area			_
S/no	Acc. Codes	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean
1	GBK050572	52.2	49.3	47.6	44.6	48.4	34.4	32.7	31.5	30.5	32.3
2	RV100161	41.9	38.7	36.4	34.7	37.9	24.4	22.6	21.9	20.6	22.4
3	RV100169	64.0	58.3	51.5	47.2	55.3	24.5	21.9	20.3	18.9	21.4
4	RV100190	66.8	63.3	60.7	58.3	62.3	27.1	24.7	22.9	21.8	24.1
5	RV100242	50.1	42.3	38.2	37.0	41.9	19.9	17.8	16.5	15.9	17.5
6	RV100263	57.9	45.0	40.9	38.2	45.5	29.8	23.5	22.6	21.0	24.2
7	RV100270	40.4	34.9	30.1	27.5	33.2	25.2	20.8	18.5	17.3	20.5
8	RV100327	46.1	42.7	39.2	37.2	41.3	24.7	23.0	21.7	20.3	22.4
0	RV100328	51.0	48.1	44.8	43.2	46.8	25.2	23.7	22.3	21.1	23.1
10	RV100331	40.1	37.9	35.7	34.1	37.0	28.9	27.2	25.8	24.5	26.6
11	RV100334	48.1	43.3	38.5	36.0	41.5	25.9	24.1	22.6	21.2	23.5
12	RV100352	39.4	34.1	31.9	29.4	33.7	20.2	18.1	17.6	16.5	18.1
13	RV100364	68.5	63.2	58.4	56.3	61.6	29.0	25.8	23.7	22.2	25.2
14	RV100377	62.5	56.8	55.3	53.5	57.0	25.7	24.4	23.4	21.9	23.9
15	RV100382	64.6	60.0	54.7	51.7	57.7	26.3	25.3	24.0	22.9	24.6
16	RV100386	31.3	28.8	26.4	25.6	28.0	17.0	16.9	16.3	15.4	16.4
17	RV100452	38.1	34.7	31.8	30.5	33.8	26.1	24.6	23.8	22.3	24.2
18	RV100453	64.1	59.5	56.8	54.2	58.7	16.7	15.3	15.0	13.6	15.2
19	RV100458	77.1	66.9	62.6	60.3	66.7	20.5	19.0	18.4	17.6	18.9
20	RV100511	40.2	36.3	35.9	33.7	36.5	25.6	23.7	22.6	22.1	23.5
	Mean	52.2	47.2	43.9	41.7	-	24.9	22.8	21.5	20.4	_
	P Value (A)		<.0	01				<.00)1		
	P Value (ML)		<.0	01				<.00)1		
	P Value (A x ML)		<.0	01				<.00)1		
	Lsd (A)		1.2	0**				0.59	**		
	Lsd (ML)		0.54	4**			0.30**				
	Lsd (A x ML)	2.40** 1.17**									
	CV%		3.2	0				3.2	0		_

Table 4.2: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on plant height (cm) and single leaf area (cm²) of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, ** Highly significant, * Significant, ns- Not significant, *100% field capacity,80% field capacity, 60% field capacity and 40% field capacity. A-accession, ML- moisture level

		Stem girth	l						
S/no	Acc. Codes	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean			
1	GBK050572	4.5	3.2	2.8	2.4	3.2			
2	RV100161	3.8	3.5	3.3	2.6	3.3			
3	RV100169	3.5	3.0	2.7	2.3	2.9			
4	RV100190	3.7	3.5	2.8	2.4	3.1			
5	RV100242	4.2	3.8	3.5	2.9	3.6			
6	RV100263	4.3	3.9	3.4	2.9	3.6			
7	RV100270	4.5	3.9	3.6	3.3	3.8			
8	RV100327	4.2	3.7	3.4	2.6	3.5			
0	RV100328	4.6	3.7	3.3	2.6	3.6			
10	RV100331	4.2	3.6	3.5	2.9	3.6			
11	RV100334	3.5	2.9	2.8	2.5	2.9			
12	RV100352	4.1	3.7	3.5	2.9	3.6			
13	RV100364	4.4	4.0	3.6	3.3	3.8			
14	RV100377	4.2	3.6	3.1	2.9	3.5			
15	RV100382	3.9	3.6	3.3	2.7	3.4			
16	RV100386	3.2	2.7	2.6	2.5	2.8			
17	RV100452	4.4	4.1	4.0	2.5	3.8			
18	RV100453	4.1	3.6	3.2	2.9	3.5			
19	RV100458	4.1	3.7	3.5	3.1	3.6			
20	RV100511	3.6	3.4	3.1	2.8	3.2			
	Mean	4.04	3.55	3.25	2.75	3.42			
	P Value (A)		<.	.001					
	P Value (ML)		<.	<.001					
	P Value (A x ML	<i>.</i>)	0.						
	Lsd (A)		0.22**						
	Lsd (ML)								
	Lsd (A x ML)		0.44**						
	CV%		8	.00					

Table 4.3: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on stem girth (cm) of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, **Highly significant, * Significant, ns- Not significant, *100% field capacity, 80% field capacity, 60% FC and 40% field capacity. A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.3 Fruit weight

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly influenced the weight of eggplant fruit (Table 4.4). Reduction of water level from 100% to 40% FC significantly reduced fruit weight in all accessions. Reduction of water level from 100% to 80%, 80% to 60% and 60% to 40% FC significantly decreased fruit weight in 14, 8 and 4 accessions respectively. The reduction in fruit weight with the decline in moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC varied from 0.1 (accession RV100453) to 9.8 g (accession RV100452), 0.5 (accession RV100364) to 4.7 g (accession RV100386) and 0.2 (accession RV100453) to 2.7 g (accession RV100331) respectively.

4.7.4 Fruit yield

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the fruit yield of eggplant (Table 4.4). Reduction of moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC, and 60% to 40% FC significantly reduced the yield in 17, 15 and 15 accessions respectively. The reduction in fruit yield with the decline in moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC varied from 0.1 (accession RV100364) to 4.9 t/ha (accession RV100452), 0.3 (accession RV100453) to 2.4 t/ha (accession RV100386) and 0.1 (accession RV100453) to 1.3 t/ha (accession RV100364) respectively. Accessions that were least significantly affected by water stress at 40% FC were RV100364, RV100453, and RV100190. Fruit yield ranged from 1.6 (accession RV100453) to 39.3 t/ha (accession RV100452). Accessions RV100452, RV100327 and GBK050572 had the highest mean fruit yields of 39.2, 38.2 and 28.9 t/ha, respectively, compared to all other accessions.

		Fruit weight (g/plant)					Yield (t	_				
S/no	Accessions	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	
1	GBK050572	61.6	58.4	56.5	54.4	57.7	30.8	29.2	28.3	27.2	28.9	
2	RV100161	40.3	36.7	35.1	33.8	36.5	20.1	18.3	17.5	16.9	18.2	
3	RV100169	29.3	27.1	26.0	24.7	26.8	14.7	13.6	13.0	12.4	13.4	
4	RV100190	5.6	5.1	4.5	3.6	4.7	2.8	2.6	2.3	1.8	2.4	
5	RV100242	30.7	25.6	24.6	22.8	26.0	15.4	12.8	12.3	11.4	13.0	
6	RV100263	22.8	20.1	19.1	18.7	20.2	11.4	10.0	9.6	9.4	10.1	
7	RV100270	44.9	38.8	35.3	33.6	38.2	22.5	19.4	17.7	16.8	19.1	
8	RV100327	80.7	77.3	74.3	73.6	76.5	40.3	38.7	37.2	36.8	38.2	
0	RV100328	31.1	28.6	27.5	26.4	28.4	15.6	14.3	13.8	13.2	14.2	
10	RV100331	70.7	69.7	67.4	64.7	68.1	35.3	34.8	33.7	32.4	34.1	
11	RV100334	33.6	31.5	29.5	28.0	30.6	16.8	15.8	14.7	14.0	15.3	
12	RV100352	28.2	24.6	22.8	22.1	24.4	14.1	12.3	11.4	11.0	12.2	
13	RV100364	5.7	5.5	5.0	4.1	5.1	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.1	2.5	
14	RV100377	32.3	30.7	29.8	28.1	30.3	16.2	15.4	14.9	14.1	15.1	
15	RV100382	27.6	25.8	24.4	23.1	25.2	13.8	12.9	12.2	11.6	12.6	
16	RV100386	39.4	36.4	31.7	29.2	34.2	19.7	18.2	15.9	14.6	17.1	
17	RV100452	88.1	78.3	74.5	73.5	78.6	44.0	39.2	37.3	36.7	39.3	
18	RV100453	3.6	3.5	2.9	2.7	3.2	1.8	1.8	1.5	1.3	1.6	
19	RV100458	23.0	19.7	18.3	17.2	19.5	11.5	9.9	9.2	8.6	9.8	
20	RV100511	14.5	12.6	11.9	11.0	12.5	7.2	6.3	5.9	5.5	6.2	
	Mean	35.7	32.8	31.1	29.8	_	17.8	16.4	15.5	14.9	_	
	P Value (A)	<.001 <.001 <.001					<.001					
	P Value (ML)					<.001 <.001 0.22** 0.10**						
	P Value (A x ML)											
	Lsd (A)	0.88** 0.39**										
	Lsd (ML)											
	Lsd (A x ML)	1.75**					0.44**					
	CV%	3.40					3.40					

Table 4.4: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on fruit weight (g/plant) and yield (t/ha) of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, **Highly significant, * Significant, ns- Not significant, *100% field capacity, 80% field capacity, 60% FC and 40% field capacity, A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.2 Physiological parameters

4.7.2.1 Stomatal conductance

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly influenced the stomatal conductance (Table 4.5). Reduction of moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC resulted in reduction of stomatal conductance by 6.9 (accession RV100334) to 27.8% (accession GBK050572), 7.8 (accession RV100377) to 45.4% (accession RV100334) and 11.6 (accession RV100327) to 65.8% (accession GBK05072) respectively. The average stomatal conductance ranged from 404.4 mmol $m^{-2}s^{-1}$ (100% FC) to 171.0 mmol $m^{-2}s^{-1}$ (40% FC). All the accessions, except RV100328, had significantly lower stomatal conductance at 80, 60 and 40% FC relative to the control (100% FC). Water stress decreased the mean stomatal conductance by 19.2, 37.4 and 57.7% at 80%, 60% and 40% FC respectively. The mean stomatal conductance ranged 168.6 mmol $m^{-2}s^{-1}$ (accession RV100263) to 415.6 mmol $m^{-2}s^{-1}$ (RV100458).

4.7.2.2 Canopy temperature

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the canopy temperature(Table 4.5).Reduction of moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC significantly increased the canopy temperature in 14, 12 and 7 accessions respectively. The increase in canopy temperature with the decline in moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC varied from 0.7 (accession RV100452) to 2.4°C (accession RV100377), 0.6 (accession RV100382) to 3.2°C (accession RV100263) and 0.6 (accession GBK05072) to 3.1°C (accession RV100161) respectively. At 60% and 40% FC all accessions had significantly lower stomatal conductance than at 100% FC. However, at 80% FC stomatal conductance of accessions GBK050572, RV100161, RV100190, RV100328, RV100382 and RV100452 were not significantly different from the control (100% FC). Accession RV100377

registered the highest canopy temperature $(31.4^{\circ}C)$ at 40% FC while accession RV100270, RV100242 and RV100364 with $(22.4^{\circ}C)$ had the lowest canopy temperature at 100% FC.

Table 4.5: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on stomatal conductance (mmol m⁻²s⁻

		Stomatal conductance					Canopy Temperature				_	
S/no	Acc. Codes	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	
1	GBK050572	652.4	471.2	330.4	113.2	391.8	26.6	27.4	28.6	29.2	27.9	
2	RV100161	426.9	319.6	247.2	123.7	279.4	22.6	23.8	26.3	29.4	25.5	
3	RV100169	527.7	448.4	352.9	247.6	394.1	22.5	24.5	26.6	28.4	25.5	
4	RV100190	423.5	375.7	311.9	231.2	335.6	25.0	25.6	27.3	28.2	26.5	
5	RV100242	325.3	241.6	187.1	153.2	226.8	22.4	24.5	25.8	26.8	24.9	
6	RV100263	264.9	188.0	140.3	81.2	168.6	25.4	27.7	30.9	32.4	29.1	
7	RV100270	355.4	210.6	185.3	147.3	224.7	22.4	24.0	25.5	27.0	24.7	
8	RV100327	372.4	312.0	265.3	234.6	296.1	23.6	25.0	25.9	28.5	25.7	
0	RV100328	356.7	335.1	256.5	152.1	275.1	23.3	24.2	25.8	27.7	25.3	
10	RV100331	419.9	336.4	191.4	139.3	271.7	22.7	24.7	25.6	26.7	24.9	
11	RV100334	471.3	439.2	240.0	172.9	330.8	25.2	26.7	28.0	29.4	27.3	
12	RV100352	322.0	218.1	157.8	96.9	198.7	23.9	25.5	26.4	28.4	26.1	
13	RV100364	319.5	248.9	221.7	174.0	241.0	22.4	23.7	24.5	26.2	24.2	
14	RV100377	323.9	266.6	245.9	172.3	252.2	26.2	28.6	30.4	31.4	29.2	
15	RV100382	484.7	428.7	357.6	214.0	371.3	22.6	23.4	24.0	26.3	24.1	
16	RV100386	340.7	284.3	253.8	161.1	260.0	24.6	26.7	27.5	28.7	26.9	
17	RV100452	467.9	435.8	395.8	266.6	391.5	24.5	25.2	27.5	30.4	26.9	
18	RV100453	321.1	220.2	156.0	111.1	202.1	23.6	25.7	27.4	28.6	26.3	
19	RV100458	552.6	493.2	348.1	268.4	415.6	23.3	25.3	28.1	29.8	26.7	
20	RV100511	359.1	260.8	219.3	158.3	249.4	22.6	24.6	25.3	27.4	25.0	
	Mean	404.4	326.7	253.2	171.0	_	23.8	25.3	26.9	28.5	_	
	P Value (A)	<.001						<.	001			
	P Value (ML)	<.001 <.001						<.	001			
	P Value (A x ML)						<.001					
	Lsd (A)	15.79**					0.61**					
	Lsd (ML)	7.06**						0.2	27**			
	Lsd (A x ML)	31.57**						1.2	21**			
	CV%	6.80						2	.90			

¹) and canopy temperature (°C) of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD-Least significant difference, **Highly significant, * Significant, ns- Not significant, 100% field capacity, 80% field capacity, 60% FC and 40% field capacity. A-accession, ML-moisture level.

4.7.2.2 Leaf relative water content (%)

Accession and moisture level significantly affected leaf relative water content, but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.6). Every 20% decrease in moisture level led to a significant decline in leaf relative water content. Accession RV100242 had significantly higher LRWC than all other accessions, except RV100169, RV100382 and RV100334. Similarly, accessions RV100328, RV100331 and RV100270 had significantly higher LRWC than over 50% of the accessions evaluated. The mean leaf relative water content ranged from 63.5 (accession RV100242) to 70.3% (accession RV100328).

4.7.2.3 Chlorophyll content

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the chlorophyll content in eggplant (Table 4.6). Reduction of moisture level from 100% to 80% FC, 80% to 60% FC and 60% to 40% FC significantly decreased SPAD value by 1.7 (accession RV100452) to 5.4% (accession RV100263), 2.7 (accession GBK100572) to 7.9% (accession RV100382) and 2.9 (accession RV100382) to 10.7% (accession RV100169) respectively. The mean chlorophyll content reduced by 12.6% from 100% FC to 40% FC. Chlorophyll content varied from 44.4% (accession RV100328) to 62.2% (accession RV100453) at 100% FC, 42.4% (accession RV100328) to 59.3% (accession RV100453) at 80% FC, 40.9% (accession RV100328) to 57.2% (accession RV100453) at 60% FC and 38.5% (accession RV100328) to 52.9% (accession RV100453) at 40% FC. Accession RV100263was the most affected by water stress with a difference of 9.8 SPAD value between 100% and 40% FC. The mean reduction in chlorophyll content compared to the control was 3.4, 7.5 and 12.6% at 80%, 60% and 40% FC respectively.
Table 4.6: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on leaf relative water content (%) and

		LRWC	%			_	SPAD				_
S/no	Accessions	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean	*100%	80%	60%	40%	Mean
1	GBK050572	85.5	74.6	64.7	51.8	69.2	45.7	44.7	43.5	39.5	43.4
2	RV100161	84.4	70.8	66.3	52.7	68.5	48.4	46.8	43.9	41.0	45.0
3	RV100169	80.0	72.3	63.0	49.0	66.1	57.3	55.4	53.2	47.5	53.3
4	RV100190	83.3	73.4	64.6	54.7	69.0	52.9	50.7	48.2	46.4	49.6
5	RV100242	79.7	69.5	60.5	44.5	63.5	50.8	49.7	47.7	44.7	48.2
6	RV100263	83.3	69.7	63.7	51.0	66.9	53.7	50.8	46.8	43.9	48.8
7	RV100270	83.2	74.9	66.3	55.6	70.0	53.4	52.0	49.5	47.1	50.5
8	RV100327	85.4	72.1	68.6	43.8	67.5	53.1	52.1	50.3	47.9	50.8
0	RV100328	88.4	74.4	61.5	56.8	70.3	44.4	42.4	40.9	38.5	41.6
10	RV100331	81.7	74.7	67.9	55.8	70.0	47.6	45.5	44.2	42.0	44.8
11	RV100334	78.7	74.7	63.5	48.5	66.4	50.8	49.5	47.8	44.3	48.1
12	RV100352	85.4	73.4	65.1	55.9	69.9	59.0	57.6	54.9	52.6	56.0
13	RV100364	79.2	72.9	67.7	47.7	66.9	51.1	48.9	47.7	46.3	48.5
14	RV100377	81.7	72.5	65.9	52.1	68.0	53.5	51.2	49.3	47.4	50.4
15	RV100382	81.1	71.7	64.8	48.8	66.6	52.4	49.6	46.7	45.4	48.5
16	RV100386	84.5	73.0	61.5	51.7	67.7	55.6	52.8	50.9	47.7	51.8
17	RV100452	80.7	72.1	64.9	55.9	68.4	57.4	56.4	53.7	51.0	54.6
18	RV100453	81.6	76.1	65.4	51.8	68.7	62.2	59.3	57.2	52.9	57.9
19	RV100458	85.0	73.7	63.8	52.5	68.7	56.4	54.6	52.6	49.9	53.4
20	RV100511	78.2	74.6	61.2	56.9	67.7	54.9	53.2	51.6	49.5	52.3
	Mean	82.6	73.1	64.5	51.9	_	53	51.2	49	46.3	-
	P Value (A)		0.006				<.001				
	P Value (ML)		<.0	01			<.001				
	P Value (A x ML)		0.1	12				<.0)1		
	Lsd (A)		3.2	0**				0.66	**		
	Lsd (ML)		1.4	2**				0.3 [*]	**		
	Lsd (A x ML)		Ν	S				1.32	**		
	CV%		5 80				1.60				

chlorophyll content of 20 African eggplant accessions

CV%5.801.60LSD- Least significant difference, LRWC- Leaf relative water content, SPAD- Chlorophyll content,
**Highly significant, * Significant, NS- Not significant, 100% field capacity, 80% field capacity,
60% FC and 40% field capacity, A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.3 Chemical analysis of the fruits

4.7.3.1 Total soluble solids

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected the total soluble solids (Table 4.7). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly increased the total soluble solids (TSS) in all accessions. Total soluble solids per plant ranged from 3.90 °brix (accession RV100328) to 6.50 °brix (accession RV100331) at 100% FC and 4.33 °brix (accession RV100328) to 7.10 °brix (accession RV100331) at 60% FC. The increase in total soluble solids ranged from 0.20 °brix (accession RV100377) to 2.20 °brix (accession RV100270). Mean total soluble solids ranged from 4.67 °brix (100% FC) to 5.39 °brix (60% FC).

4.7.3.2 pH

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected pH in eggplant (Table 4.7). Reduction of moisture level from 100% to 60% FC significantly decreased the pH in each accession. The pH of the accessions ranged from4.66 (accession RV100242) to 5.31 (accession GBK050572) at 100% FC and 4.40 (accession RV100169) to 4.90 (accession GBK050572) at 60% FC. The decrease in pH ranged from 1.1% (accession RV100161) to 11.2% (accession RV100458). The average pH value ranged from 4.73 (60% FC) to 4.98 (100% FC). Accessions whose pH were least affected by reduction in moisture were RV100161, RV100382, RV100453, RV100511, RV100190 and RV100263.

4.7.3.3 Titratable acidity

Accession and moisture level had significant effect on total titratable acidity but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.7). Reduction in moisture level from 100% to 60% FC increased the mean titratable acidity by 23.3%. Mean titratable acidity ranged from

0.50 (accession RV100327) to 0.9 (accessions RV100169, RV100242, RV100331, RV100352 and RV100377).

 Table 4.7: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on Total soluble solids (°Brix), pH and

 total titratable acidity of 20 African eggplant accessions

		TSS			pН			TTA		
S/no	Accessions	*100%	60%	Mean	*100%	60%	Mean	*100%	60%	Mean
1	GBK050572	4.60	5.00	4.80	5.30	4.90	5.10	0.70	0.80	0.80
2	RV100161	4.00	5.50	4.80	4.70	4.60	4.60	0.60	0.70	0.60
3	RV100169	4.30	5.70	5.00	4.70	4.40	4.50	0.80	0.90	0.90
4	RV100190	4.90	5.30	5.10	4.60	4.40	4.50	0.60	0.80	0.70
5	RV100242	5.50	6.10	5.80	5.00	4.80	4.90	0.90	0.90	0.90
6	RV100263	5.00	5.50	5.20	5.10	4.90	5.00	0.50	0.80	0.70
7	RV100270	4.40	6.60	5.50	5.10	4.80	4.90	0.70	0.70	0.70
8	RV100327	4.20	4.70	4.40	4.90	4.70	4.80	0.50	0.50	0.50
9	RV100328	3.90	4.30	4.10	5.00	4.80	4.90	0.40	0.70	0.60
10	RV100331	6.50	7.10	6.80	5.10	4.80	4.90	0.70	0.90	0.80
11	RV100334	4.00	5.00	4.50	5.20	4.80	5.00	0.50	0.70	0.60
12	RV100352	4.90	5.50	5.20	5.10	4.90	5.00	0.60	0.90	0.70
13	RV100364	4.90	5.30	5.10	5.30	4.80	5.10	0.60	0.70	0.70
14	RV100377	5.50	5.70	5.60	5.00	4.70	4.80	0.80	0.90	0.80
15	RV100382	4.70	5.60	5.10	4.80	4.70	4.80	0.60	0.70	0.70
16	RV100386	4.40	4.70	4.60	5.00	4.70	4.90	0.50	0.70	0.60
17	RV100452	4.10	5.30	4.70	5.10	4.80	5.00	0.50	0.70	0.60
18	RV100453	4.60	5.40	5.00	5.00	4.80	4.90	0.60	0.60	0.60
19	RV100458	4.10	4.40	4.30	5.20	4.60	4.90	0.60	0.60	0.60
20	RV100511	4.90	5.30	5.10	4.70	4.50	4.60	0.40	0.70	0.60
	Mean	4.70	5.40		5.00	4.70	_	0.60	0.70	_
	P Value (A)	<.0	<.001 <.001		<.0	01		<.001		
	P Value (ML)	<.0			<.0	01		<.0	01	
	P Value (A x ML)	<.001			<.0	01		0.1	03	
	Lsd (A)	0.12	2**		0.10)**		0.14** 0.05**		
	Lsd (ML)	0.04	1 **		0.03	3**				
	Lsd (A x ML)	0.17	7**		0.15	**		N		
	CV%	2.	1		1.	9		18	.7	

LSD- Least significant difference, TSS- Total soluble solids, TTA- Titratable acidity, ** Highly significant, * Significant, NS- Not significant, *100% FC-control, 60% FC, A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.3.4 β-carotene

Accession and moisture level had a significant effect on β -carotene content but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.8). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly increased the mean β -carotene by 29.6%. Accessions with a mean of 0.8 mg/100 g and above of β -carotene were RV100161, RV100337, RV100242, RV100327 and RV100331 while those with less than 0.3 mg/100g of β -carotene included RV100452, RV100458, RV100453, RV100364, RV100352 and RV100270. Mean β -carotene ranged from 0.21 (accession RV100352) to 0.89 mg/100g (accession RV100377).

4.7.3.5 Ascorbic acid

Accession and moisture level had significant effect on vitamin C content but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.8). Reductions of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly increased vitamin C by 6.03%. Accessions with above 10 mg/100g of vitamin C were RV100452, RV100453, RV100386, RV100190, GBK050572, RV100161 and RV100328 while those with vitamin C content of less than 6 mg/100g included RV100169, RV100242, RV100263, RV100327 and RV100334.The mean vitamin C content ranged from 4.72 (accession RV100334) to 14.53 mg/100g (accession RV100452).

Table 4.8: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on β -carotene (mg/100g) and Ascorbic

		β-Carot	ene		Vitamin	n C			
S/no	Accessions	*100%	60%	Mean	*100%	60%	Mean		
1	GBK050572	0.20	0.30	0.25	12.84	13.53	13.18		
2	RV100161	0.86	0.89	0.88	9.98	10.35	10.17		
3	RV100169	0.68	0.87	0.78	4.80	5.05	4.92		
4	RV100190	0.49	0.71	0.60	14.06	14.45	14.26		
5	RV100242	0.71	0.89	0.80	5.19	5.83	5.51		
6	RV100263	0.27	0.36	0.31	5.39	5.58	5.49		
7	RV100270	0.20	0.31	0.25	7.95	8.41	8.18		
8	RV100327	0.81	0.92	0.87	4.78	5.66	5.22		
0	RV100328	0.21	0.27	0.24	9.82	10.37	10.10		
10	RV100331	0.65	0.95	0.80	5.42	5.62	5.52		
11	RV100334	0.43	0.49	0.46	4.55	4.90	4.72		
12	RV100352	0.14	0.29	0.21	7.03	7.25	7.14		
13	RV100364	0.16	0.37	0.27	9.72	10.14	9.93		
14	RV100377	0.85	0.94	0.89	6.72	7.05	6.89		
15	RV100382	0.25	0.28	0.27	5.81	6.30	6.06		
16	RV100386	0.34	0.46	0.40	12.98	13.29	13.14		
17	RV100452	0.24	0.28	0.26	13.82	15.25	14.53		
18	RV100453	0.37	0.63	0.50	13.35	14.09	13.72		
19	RV100458	0.17	0.29	0.23	5.31	5.82	5.57		
20	RV100511	0.72	0.82	0.77	6.03	6.62	6.33		
	Mean	0.44	0.57	_	8.28	8.78	_		
	P Value (A)	<.()01		<.001				
	P Value (ML)	<.(<.001 0.138 0.092**		<.001				
	P Value (A x ML)	0.1			0.9	994			
	Lsd (A)	0.0			0.0				
	Lsd (ML)	0.0	29**		0.2				
	Lsd (A x ML)	N	IS		Ν	IS			
	CV%	16	.00		7.00				

acid (mg/100g) of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, ** Highly significant, * Significant, NS- Not significant, *100% FC-control, 60% FC, A-accession, MS- moisture level.

4.7.3.6 Chemical analysis

4.7.3.6.1 Magnesium

Accession and moisture level had significant effect on Mg but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.9). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly decreased Mg content by 42.9%. Accessions with higher than 0.2 mg/100g Mg included RV100511, RV100331 and RV100382 while accessions with less than 0.13 mg/100g were RV100169, RV100328 and RV100352. Mean Mg content ranged from 0.11 (accession RV100352) to 0.23 mg/100 g (accession RV100270 and RV100511).

4.7.3.6.2 Calcium

Accession and moisture level had significant effect on Ca but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.9). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly decreased Ca content by 44.3%. Accessions with 0.40 mg/100g and above Ca included RV100328, RV100364 and RV100382 while accession with less than 0.20 mg/100g Ca was RV100263. Mean Ca content ranged from 0.19 (accession RV100263) to 0.48 mg/100 g (accession RV100382).

Table 4.9: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on magnesium (mg/100g) and calcium

		Magne	sium		Calciu	Calcium			
S/no	Accessions	100%	60%	Mean	100%	60%	Mean		
1	GBK050572	0.27	0.15	0.21	0.43	0.27	0.35		
2	RV100161	0.25	0.16	0.20	0.39	0.23	0.31		
3	RV100169	0.23	0.11	0.17	0.45	0.26	0.36		
4	RV100190	0.22	0.15	0.18	0.31	0.16	0.24		
5	RV100242	0.23	0.12	0.17	0.43	0.23	0.33		
6	RV100263	0.21	0.13	0.17	0.25	0.13	0.19		
7	RV100270	0.27	0.18	0.23	0.32	0.15	0.23		
8	RV100327	0.27	0.14	0.21	0.3	0.11	0.20		
0	RV100328	0.24	0.11	0.17	0.52	0.3	0.41		
10	RV100331	0.23	0.13	0.18	0.34	0.15	0.25		
11	RV100334	0.23	0.11	0.17	0.45	0.23	0.34		
12	RV100352	0.15	0.08	0.11	0.43	0.26	0.35		
13	RV100364	0.23	0.12	0.17	0.53	0.25	0.39		
14	RV100377	0.2	0.11	0.15	0.3	0.13	0.21		
15	RV100382	0.27	0.15	0.21	0.56	0.41	0.48		
16	RV100386	0.24	0.15	0.19	0.37	0.21	0.29		
17	RV100452	0.23	0.11	0.17	0.38	0.14	0.26		
18	RV100453	0.21	0.13	0.17	0.47	0.33	0.40		
19	RV100458	0.22	0.11	0.17	0.48	0.23	0.35		
20	RV100511	0.25	0.2	0.23	0.42	0.34	0.38		
	Mean	0.23	0.13	-	0.41	0.23	_		
	P Value (A)	<.001			<.001				
	P Value (ML)	<.001			<.0	01			
	P Value (A x ML)	0.911 0.043**			0.288 0.062**				
	Lsd (A)								
	Lsd (ML)	0.0	13**		0.0	20**			
	Lsd (A x ML)	Ν	S		Ν	S			
	CV%	20	.4		17.1				

(mg/100g) content of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, ** Highly significant, * Significant, NS- Not significant, *100% FC-control, 60% FC, A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.3.6.3 Iron

Accession and moisture level had significant effect on Fe content but accession x moisture level had no effect on this parameter (Table 4.10). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly decreased Fe content by 47.3%. Eight accessions had higher than 1.00 mg/100g of Fe content. Iron content ranged from 0.75 (accession RV100452) to 1.56 mg/100 g (accession RV100263).

4.7.3.6.4 Zinc

Accession, moisture level and accession x moisture level significantly affected Zn content in eggplant (Table 4.10). Reduction of water level from 100% to 60% FC significantly decreased mean Zn content by 18.9%. The value of Zn content per accession ranged from 0.44 mg/100 g (Accession RV100169) to 0.79 mg/100 g (accession RV100270) at 100% FC and 0.34 mg/100g (accession RV100352) to 0.52 mg/100g (accession RV100270) at 60% FC.

Table 4.10: Effects of moisture level (% field capacity) on Iron (mg/100 g) and Zinc (mg/100

		Iron			Zinc				
S/no	Accessions	*100%	60%	Mean	*100%	60%	Mean		
1	GBK050572	1.48	0.65	1.07	0.52	0.42	0.47		
2	RV100161	1.46	0.88	1.17	0.55	0.50	0.53		
3	RV100169	1.28	0.67	0.98	0.44	0.36	0.40		
4	RV100190	1.03	0.59	0.81	0.52	0.43	0.48		
5	RV100242	1.31	0.70	1.01	0.54	0.39	0.46		
6	RV100263	1.78	1.34	1.56	0.55	0.46	0.50		
7	RV100270	1.55	0.74	1.15	0.79	0.52	0.65		
8	RV100327	1.13	0.55	0.84	0.54	0.40	0.47		
0	RV100328	1.05	0.61	0.83	0.53	0.40	0.46		
10	RV100331	1.50	0.76	1.13	0.63	0.50	0.57		
11	RV100334	1.28	0.40	0.84	0.56	0.39	0.47		
12	RV100352	1.20	0.53	0.86	0.45	0.34	0.39		
13	RV100364	1.10	0.66	0.88	0.54	0.40	0.47		
14	RV100377	1.59	1.01	1.30	0.43	0.35	0.39		
15	RV100382	1.30	0.60	0.95	0.46	0.41	0.44		
16	RV100386	1.17	0.58	0.88	0.48	0.40	0.44		
17	RV100452	1.03	0.47	0.75	0.63	0.43	0.53		
18	RV100453	1.35	0.92	1.14	0.50	0.45	0.48		
19	RV100458	1.33	0.51	0.92	0.56	0.43	0.49		
20	RV100511	1.17	0.62	0.89	0.52	0.47	0.50		
	Mean	1.31	0.69	_	0.53	0.43	_		
	P Value (A)	<.001			<.001				
	P Value (ML)	<.001 0.956 0.290**		<.00		01			
	P Value (A x ML)				<.0	01			
	Lsd (A)				0.05	5**			
	Lsd (ML)	0.09	0**		0.01	0.017**			
	Lsd (A x ML)	NS	NS		0.07	8**			
	CV%	24.9	90		10.00				

g) content of 20 African eggplant accessions

LSD- Least significant difference, ** Highly significant, * Significant, NS- Not significant, 100% FC-control, 60% FC.A-accession, ML- moisture level.

4.7.3.7 Correlation coefficient among the quantitative, physiological and nutritional quality traits

African eggplant accessions showed a highly significant positive correlation between fruit yield with fruit weight and single leaf area (Table 4.11). Calcium content was highly significant and positively correlated to leaf relative water content and chlorophyll content. Fruit yield was positively correlated to β -carotene, iron, LRWC and vitamin C while it was negatively correlated to chlorophyll content. Vitamin C was significant and positively correlated to β -carotene.

Table 4.11: Correlation coefficient table for the quantitative traits, physiological parameters and nutritional quality components recorded for accessions grown in water stressed and nonwater stressed conditions

Traits	β-Car	FW	Fe	LRWC	SLA	SPAD	Vit C	FΥ	Ca
β-carotene	-								
Fruit weight	0.06	-							
Iron	0.26*	0.11	-						
LRWC	0.18	0.17	0.68**	-					
SLA	0.05	0.34**	0.31**	0.38**	-				
SPAD	-0.13	-0.07	0.39**	0.41**	0.23	-			
Vitamin C	0.25*	-0.05	-0.04	0.10	-0.03	0.001	-		
Fruit yield	0.06	0.92**	0.11	0.17	0.34**	-0.07	0.05	-	
Calcium	-0.01	0.03	0.42**	0.63**	0.27*	0.35**	0.09	0.03	-

 β -Car- β -Carotene, FW- Fruit weight, Fe-Iron, LRWC- Leaf relative water content, SLA- Single leaf area, SPAD- Chlorophyll content, Vit C- Vitamin C, FY- Fruit yield, Ca- Calcium

4.8 Discussion

Reduction in moisture level significantly decreased plant height, stem girth and single leaf area content. These results are in agreement with those of Kirnak *et al.* (2001) who reported that water stress reduced vegetative growth of eggplant. This may be attributed to the fact that water stress alters many physiological and metabolic processes in plants (Gunes *et al.*, 2006). Variation was noticed among the accessions (P<0.05) in stem girth. Plant height decreased by 20.1% with

reduction in moisture level which was in agreement with the findings of Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) who noted that plant height in tomato plant reduce by 22.3% with reduction in moisture level. Single leaf area decreased by 18.1% with reduction in moisture level. These findings are corroborated by Lopez *et al.* (1997) who noted that leaf area of pigeon pea decreased by 22.5% with reduction in moisture level.

Stem girth decreased with increase in drought stress thus interfering with the growth habit of the eggplant. Stem girth is an important trait that determines lodging in plants (Gunes *et al.*, 2006). Bradford and Hsiao (1982) found out that stem girth and plant growth may be inhibited at low water availability despite complete maintenance of turgor in the growing regions as a result of osmotic adjustment. Stem girth decreased by 15.3% with reduction in moisture level. Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) also reported a decrease in stem girth of tomato by 11% with decrease in moisture level.

Fruit weight and yield declined significantly with the reduction in moisture level. Previous studies demonstrated that soil moisture deficit significantly reduced fruit weight, number of fruits per plant and fruit yield (Abd El-Aal *et al.*, 2008; Birhanu and Tilahun, 2010). Accessions that were superior in fruit yield trait included RV100452, RV100327 and GBK050572. Mean fruit yield varied from 1.6 t/ha in accession RV100453 to 39.3 t/ha in accession RV100452, Thus demonstrating huge variability in the fruit traits. Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) reported that fruit yield of tomato plants decreased from 69.5 t/ha to 25 t/ha with the decrease in water level.

Mean stomata conductance decreased significantly with a reduction in moisture level. Yazdarpanah *et al.* (2011) reported that stomatal conductance was significantly affected by reduction in moisture level. However, the reduction in moisture effect on stomatal conductance was dependent on the eggplant accession. Moisture reduction had no effect on accession RV100328. Mean stomatal conductance varied from 168.6 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹ in accession RV100263 to 415.6 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹ in accession RV100458. Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) confirmed that decrease in moisture level leads to a decrease in stomata conductance in tomato due to partial stomatal closure. Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) observed that the mean stomata conductance of tomato plants ranged from 94.0 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹ in water stressed plants to 227.5 mmol m⁻²s⁻¹ in well water plants.

Eggplant canopy temperature increased with reduction of moisture level from 100% FC to 40% FC by 19.7%. Accessions grown in 100% FC were cooler due to enough water loss by transpiration unlike the crops grown in a water stressed environment which had low stomatal conductance leading to high canopy temperature. Kirnak *et al.* (2001) reported that canopy temperature might also be dependent on climatic parameters and internal plant water status. High crop canopy temperature in water-stressed plants may also be related to decreased transpiration rate and leaf relative water content (Yazdarpanah *et al.*, 2011; Aguyoh *et al.*, 2013) observed in the current study. Mean canopy temperature varied from 24.1°C in accession RV100382 to 29.9°C in accession RV100377. Canopy temperature response to reduction in moisture level was dependent on the accession. Dejonge *et al.* (2015) made similar observations in maize that water stress significantly increased canopy temperature to 29°C.

Leaf relative water content decreased with increasing drought stress. This finding is in agreement with that of Kirnak *et al.* (2001) who established that relative water content of tomato decreased with reducing moisture level. Amira (2014) also found similar results in soybean leaves. Leaf relative water content varied with eggplant accession from 63.5% in accession RV100242 to 70.3% in accession RV100328. Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) made a similar observation on tomato that leaf relative water content ranged from 87.7% in well-watered plants to 66.2% in water stressed tomato plants.

It was evident from this study that water stress decreased chlorophyll content in the African eggplants. The decrease in chlorophyll content under drought is a commonly observed phenomenon (Kirnak *et al.*, 2001; Kumar *et al.*, 2011; Heba and Samia, 2014; Amira, 2014). Decrease in chlorophyll content under drought might be attributed to reduced synthesis of the main chlorophyll pigment complexes encoded by the *cab* gene family (Nikolaeva *et al.*, 2010; Amira, 2014). The impact of water stress on chlorophyll content was dependent on the accession. SPAD readings varied with eggplant accession from 41.6 in accession RV100328 to 57.9 in accession RV100453. These studies are corroborated by Aguyoh *et al.* (2013) who recorded SPAD readings of 41.9 in water stressed tomato plants and 61.5 in well water tomato plants.

Total soluble solids increased significantly as the moisture level decreased from 100% FC to 60% FC. The reduction of total soluble solids with increase in water level can be attributed to the higher water uptake by the plants, leading to dilution of the concentration of TSS. A similar observation was made on cantaloupe (*Cucumis melo* L.) by Mahmoud *et al.* (2013). The results obtained by different researchers (Fabeiro *et al.*, 2002; Ribas *et al.*, 2003; Kirnak *et al.*, 2005; Mahmoud *et al.*, 2013) show that fruit sugar content is affected positively by water deficit. The effect of water stress on total soluble solids varied with the accession type. Accessions that were superior in total soluble solids were RV100242 (5.78 °brix) and RV100331 (6.80 °brix). Mitchell *et al.* (1991) made similar observation that total soluble solids range from 4.58 °brix in well water tomatoes to 5.88 °brix in tomatoes under low moisture level.

Reduced moisture content increased acidity in African eggplant fruits. The impact of moisture stress on fruit acidity was dependent on the accession type. Titratable acidity ranged from a mean of 0.5 in accession RV100327 to 0.8 in accession GBK050572. Mitchell *et al.* (1991) made similar observation that titratable acidity range from 0.28in well water tomatoes to 0.34 in tomatoes under

low moisture level. Abdel-Razzak *et al.* (2013) reported that a decrease in moisture level increased titratable acidity in cherry tomato.

Reduction in moisture level led to a significant increase in β -carotene and vitamin C in eggplant fruit. The β -carotene increased by 22.8% with reduction in moisture level from 100% FC to 60% FC. Favati *et al.* (2009) observed that compared to well irrigated accessions β -carotene concentration was higher in less irrigated tomatoes. Helyes *et al.* (2014) also reported that β carotene increased with increase in water stress in tomatoes. Mean β -carotene content varied from 0.21 mg/100g in accession RV100352 to 0.89 mg/100g in accession RV100337. Favati *et al.* (2009) observed that β -carotene concentration in tomato varied from 1.16 mg/100g to 3.70 mg/100g when subjected to varying moisture levels.

Vitamin C increased by a mean of 5.7% when moisture level reduced from 100% FC to 60% FC. These results are in agreement with the findings of Nahar (2002) who reported that ascorbic acid concentration in fruit increased with increase in water stress in tomatoes. There was a positive correlation between β-carotene and vitamin C contents. Under water stress conditions, ascorbic acid assist in the counteraction of the adverse effects of water stress, stabilization and protection of the photosynthetic pigments and the photosynthetic apparatus from oxidization (Khan *et al.*, 2011). Accessions that were superior in vitamin C were RV100452 (14.53 mg/100g) and RV100190 (14.26 mg/100g). Mean vitamin C content ranged from 4.72 mg/100g in accession RV100334 to 14.53 mg/100g in accession RV100453 which is in agreement with the findings of Mahmoud *et al.* (2012) who found the mean of vitamin C content varying from 28.1 mg/100g to 32.4 mg/100g under different moisture levels in tomato. It is clear that vitamin C is high in tomatoes as compared to African eggplants.

Decrease in moisture level significantly decreased magnesium, calcium, iron and zinc content by 43.5%, 43.9%, 47.3% and 18.9% respectively. These findings are in agreement with those of Agbemafle *et al.* (2015) who observed that a decrease in moisture level led to reduction in Mg, Ca, Fe and Zn content in tomato by 50%, 66.7%, 44.4% and 41.2% respectively. Most mineral nutrients are dependent on soil moisture to move through the soil layers and be taken up by the plants through the roots (Taiz and Zeiger 2006; Silva *et al.*, 2009). Current findings are in agreement with previous studies by Nahar (2002) who reported diminishing concentrations of Fe, Zn, Ca and Mg with increasing water stress in tomato plants. Having enough water at field capacity enables effective uptake of nutrients into the plant which translates to high mineral content in well water eggplant fruits. Fruit yield was positively correlated to fruit weight, single leaf area, β -carotene, vitamin C, leaf relative water content and negatively correlated to chlorophyll content.

4.9 Conclusion

Water stress significantly decreased growth, yield, stomatal conductance, leaf relative water content, chlorophyll greenness index, pH value, magnesium, calcium, iron and zinc. It however, significantly increased canopy temperature, β -carotene, vitamin C, titratable acidity and total soluble solids in the fruits. The response to water stress in most of the growth, yield, physiological and nutritional quality components was dependent on the accessions.

CHAPTER 5: GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

The study showed a wide diversity among the 72 accessions for all the 17 qualitative and quantitative traits evaluated. Upright, intermediate and prostrate growth habits were observed among the accessions. The upright trait is important for good vigor which enables the plants to grow to the height required in a production greenhouse. Most of the accessions had white flowers, a few accessions having pale violet flowers, light violet flowers and bluish violet flowers. The flower pigments (examples anthocyanins, aurones, chalcones, flavonols, carotenes and proanthocyanidins) are responsible for a variety of colours in vegetables.

Most of the accessions had leaf hairs and leaf prickles. These two traits are important for classification of African eggplant into different species and different origins. Accessions growing in the field appeared to have more leaf hairs and leaf prickles than those in the greenhouse. These traits are important in preventing insect attack and consumption by herbivores due to the irritability to the palate and stiffness. Although most of the accessions evaluated had leaf hairs and leaf prickles, most farmers prefer non-prickled leaf types for ease of harvest as stated by Naujeer (2009). This suggests the need for breeders to breed African eggplants that have no leaf and stem prickles for ease of harvest by farmers. Leaf prickles, flower colour and fruit breadth showed high diversity indices.

Accessions used in cluster analysis were grouped based on their species and origin. Both field and greenhouse grown accessions were grouped into two clusters. Cluster I of field grown accessions grouped the accessions from different origins and species that are closely related. Cluster II of the field grown accessions were mostly made up of small sized fruits. Sub cluster 'c' was made up of most of the S. *anguivi* accessions, some *Solanum* species accessions and the only S. *macrocarpon*

accession in the study. Sub cluster 'd' was mostly made of accessions from *solanum aethiopicum* species and originating from Mali. Cluster I of greenhouse grown accessions grouped the accessions from different origins, species, flower colour and growth habit that are closely related. Cluster II of the greenhouse grown accessions were made up of leaf prickled and varying fruit sized accessions. Sub cluster 'z' was made up of most of the S. *anguivi*, some *solanum* species and the only S. *macrocarpon* accession in the study. Sub clusters 'y and p' were made of accessions from *Solanum aethiopicum* species.

Principal component analysis identified six key traits namely leaf hairs, leaf prickles, fruit position, fruit shape, fruit breadth and flower colour which could help in characterization of eggplant accessions. Selection and characterization is important for storage of the accessions in gene banks and easy accessibility of the accessions by farmers.

Reduction in moisture level leads to reduced photosynthetic rate which decreases vegetative growth significantly decreasing fruit weight and yield per hectare of eggplant accessions. Reduction in moisture level significantly decreased leaf relative water content, chlorophyll content and stomatal conductance while increasing the canopy temperature. Lowering moisture level in the soil decreases the water absorption rate of accessions in the soil which translates to low stomatal conductance leading to increased canopy temperature.

Reduction in moisture level led to an increase in titratable acidity of the African eggplant fruit. Accessions growing under water stress conditions had fruits with reduced water content leading to increased acidity.

The β -carotene and vitamin C increased with reduction in moisture level. Increase in moisture level may have led to high moisture content in the fruits, thus inducing a dilution effect on β -

carotene and vitamin C concentration. In contrast, water stress led to accumulation of vitamin C and β -carotene concentration in eggplant fruit. Water stress reduced Mg, Ca, Fe and Zn content. The water at field capacity (100% FC) may have enabled effective uptake of nutrients into the plant which translates to high mineral content in well water eggplant fruits, while lower field capacity (60% FC) may have reduced mineral intake.

5.2 Conclusions

Morphological and agronomic traits of African eggplant accessions varied significantly between different species, indicating the potential for genetic improvement of the crop through selection and cross breeding. Reduction in water level significantly decreased growth, stomatal conductance, leaf relative water content, chlorophyll content, pH value, magnesium, calcium, iron and zinc. It, however, significantly increased canopy temperature, β -carotene, vitamin C, titratable acidity and total soluble solids in the fruits. This study demonstrated that the growth, physiological parameters, yield and nutritional quality of African eggplant accessions are dependent on the genotype and environment.

5.3 Recommendations

1. The present study revealed wide morphological and agronomic diversity in African eggplant accessions. It is advisable for the breeders to take advantage of this rich natural gene pool for hybridization and introgression of desirable genes into the cultivated varieties.

2. This study also recommends that molecular markers such as simple sequencer Repeats (SSRs) be used to supplement this work by identifying the polymorphism that is not affected by environmental conditions.

3. Since the current study covered a few accessions it is advisable that a similar study covering a wider range of accessions be conducted in a broad range of environments. In addition studies on

genetic erosion intensity and ecological mapping of population diversity structure of eggplant landraces and their related species should be considered.

4. Accessions GBK050572, RV100331, RV100351, RV100452 and RV100190 are recommended for breeding drought tolerant eggplant accessions which are high in titratable acidity, total soluble solids, β -carotene and vitamin C content.

REFERENCES

Abd El-Azeem A. M. Samy, Mohmmed W. M. Elwan, Jwa-Kyung Sung and Yong Sik Ok (2012). Alleviation of Salt Stress in Eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) by Plant-Growth-Promoting Rhizobacteria, Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 43:9, 1303-1315. Abd El-Aal FS, Abdel Mouty MM, Ali AH (2008). Combined effect of irrigation intervals and foliar application of some antitranspirants on eggplant growth, fruits yield and its physical and

chemical properties. Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Science. 4(5): 416-423.

Abdel-Razzak H., Ibrahim, A., Wahb-Allah, M. and Alsadon, A. (2013). Response of cherry tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* var. Cerasiforme) to pruning systems and irrigation rates under greenhouse conditions. *Asian Journal of Crop Science*. 5: 275-285

Adeniji OT, Kusolwa P and Reuben SWOM (2013). Morphological descriptors and microsatellite diversity among scarlet eggplant groups. *African Crop Science Journal*. 21: 37–49.

Agbemafle1, R., J.D. Owusu-Sekyere and A. Bart-Plange (2015). Effect of deficit irrigation and storage on the nutritional composition of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill. cv. Pectomech). *Croatian Journal of Food Technology, Biotechnology and Nutrition* 10 (1-2), 59-65 (2015).

Aguyoh, J. N., Sibomana, I. C. and Opiyo A. M. (2013). Water stress affects growth and yield of container grown tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill) plants. GJBB. 2(4): 461-466.

Al Khanjari S, Filatenko A. A, Hammer K and Buerkert A (2008). Morphological diversity of Omani wheat. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 46: 419-425.

Allendorf, F.W. and Luikart, G. (2007). Conservation and the genetics of populations. Malden, Oxford and Carlton: Blackwell Publishing.

Amira M. Hegazi, Amal M. El-Shrairy and A.A. Ghaname (2014). Alleviation of salt stress adverse effect and enhancing phenolic antioxidant content of eggplant by seaweed extract. *Springer. Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.*

Amiri, M., S. Mehrabian, D. Esmaili, Amiri Moj, U. Panah, E. Torabi and Ataee, R. (2011).
Study of Broad Spectrum Disinfectants Antibacterial Effect against Common Nosocomial
Bacteria. *Journal of Pure and Applied Microbiology* 5: 1037-1040

Andreas W. Ebert (2014). Potential of Underutilized Traditional Vegetables and Legume Crops to Contribute to Food and Nutritional Security, Income and More Sustainable Production Systems. *Sustainability Journal*, 6:319-335.

Auguste Kouassi, Eric Béli-Sika, Tah Yves-Nathan Tian-Bi, Oulo Alla-N'Nan, Abou B. Kouassi, Jean-Claude N'Zi, Assanvo S.-P. N'Guetta and Bakary Tio-Touré (2014). Identification of Three Distinct Eggplant Subgroups within the Solanum aethiopicum Gilo Group from Côte d'Ivoire by Morpho-Agronomic Characterization. Journal of Agriculture, 4: 260-273.

AVRDC Report (2003). *AVRDC publication number 04-599*. Shanhua, Taiwan: AVRDC-The World Vegetable Center. pp107.

Ayad WG, Hodgkin T, Jaradat A and Rao VR (1995). Molecular genetics techniques for plant genetic resources. *Report of an IPGRI workshop*, International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome Italy.

Azadeh, R., Maryam, F., Saeed, S. (2014). The effects of seed priming by ascorbic acid on some morphological and biochemical aspects of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) under drought stress condition. *International Journal of Bioscience*. 4 (1):432-442.

Azuma K, Ohyama A, Ippoushi K, Ichiyanagi T, Takeuchi A, Saito T and Fukuoka H (2008). Structures and antioxidant activity of anthocyanins in many accessions of eggplant and its related

species. Journal of Agriculture and Food Chemistry 56(21): 10154–10159.

Bar-Hen A, Charcosset A, Bourgoin M and Guiard J (1995). Relationships between genetic markers and morphological traits in a maize inbred lines collection. *Euphytica* 84: 145-154.

Bationo A., Kimani S. K, Esilaba A. O, Odera M. M, Kimenye L and Vanlauwe B (2007). Effects of organic and mineral sources of nutrients on maize yields in three districts of Central Kenya. In: A. Batiano et al (eds). Advances in ISFM in Sub-Saharan Africa: Challenges and Opportunities. Springer. pp. 353-357.

Bauder T.A., Waskom R.M., Davis J. G. (2009). Irrigation Water Quality Criteria. *Fact sheet Colorado State University Extension* No. 0.506:1-4.

Birhanu, K. and Tilahun, K. (2010). Fruit yield and quality of drip-irrigated tomato under deficit irrigation. *African Journal of Food Agriculture Nutrition and Development*. 10(2), 2139-2151.

Bradford J. Kent and Theodore C. Hsiao (1982). Stomatal Behavior and Water Relations of Waterlogged Tomato Plants. *Plant Physiology*vol.70 (5).

Bremer K, Bremer B and Thulin M (2003). Introduction to phylogeny and systematics of flowering plants. Department of Systematic Botany Evolutionary Biology Centre. Uppsala University, 100p.

Caguit X.G.I. and D.M. Hautea (2014). Genetic Diversity Analysis of eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) and related wild species in the Philippines using morphological and SSR markers. SABRAO Journal of Breeding and Genetics 46 (2) 183-201.

Chadha ML (2006). AVRDC's experiences within Marketing of Indigenous Vegetables – A Case Study on Commercialization of African Eggplant, AVRDC, Tanzania. [http://www.underutilizedspecies.org/Documents/Publications/iv-chadha-paper.pdf] site visited on 05/07/2015.

Chattopadhyay, A., S. Dutta and P. Hazra (2011). Characterization of genetic resources and identification of selection indices of Brinjal (*Solanum melongena* L.) grown in Eastern India. *Vegetable Crops Research Bulletin*. 74: 39-49.

Chen NC and Li HM (1996). Cultivation and breeding eggplant. *Report by Asian Vegetable Research and Development Centre*. Libnts.avrdc.org.tw [accessed 10 April 2015].

Chowdhury M, Ahmed S, Rahman M, Hossain M and Karim AJ (2007) A study on morphological characterization and yield performance of eggplant genotypes. *International Journal of Sustainable Agricultural Technologies* 3(2): 30-35

Collonier C, Fork I, Kashyap V, Rotino GL, Daunay MC, Lian Y, Mariska I. K., Rajam M. V., Sarvaes A., Ducreux G. and Sihachakr D (2001). Application of biotechnology in eggplant. *Plant Cell Tissue and Organ Culture*. 65(2): 91-107.

Cruz C. D. and Carneiro P. C. S. (2006). Modelos biométricos aplicados ao melhoramento genético.v. 2, Editora UFV, Viçosa, 585p.

Dasgupta N and De B (2007). Antioxidant activity of some leafy vegetables of India: A comparative study. *Food Chemistry* 101: 471 – 474.

Daunay, M.C., Lester, R.N., Gebhardt, C.H., Hennart, J.W., Jahn, M., Frary, A. and Doganlar, S., (2001). Genetic Resources of Eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) and Allied Species: A New Challenge for Molecular Geneticists and Eggplant Breeders (Solanaceae Vedited by Van

Den Berg, R.G., Barendse, G.W. and Mariani, Nijmegen University Press, Nijmegen, The Netherlands), pp. 251–274.

Dauney MC (2003) "L'aurbergine", in Histoires de Legumes, Coord M Pitrat and C Foury, (Ed).INRA, Versailles, France. pp 252-265.

Dejonge Kendal C., Saleh Taghraeian, Thomus J. Trout and Louise H. Comas (2015). Comparison of canopy temperature based water stress indices for maize. *Elsevier. Agricultural water management.* 51:51-62.

Denver, D. R. (2006). High direct estimate of the mutation rate in the mitochondrial genome of caenorhabditis elegans. Science 239: 2342-4 (2000).

Doganlar S, Frary A, Daunay M-C, Huvenaars K, Mank R, and Frary A. (2014). High resolution map of eggplant (Solanum melongena) reveals extensive chromosome rearrangement in domesticated members of the Solanaceae. *Euphytica* 198(2):231-241.

Doganlar S, Frary A, Daunay MC, Lester RN and Tanksley SD (2002). Conservation of gene function in the Solanaceae as revealed by comparative mapping of domestication traits in eggplant. *Genetics*. 161: 1713-1726.

Doganlar S, Frary A, Daunay MC, Lester RN, and Tanksley SD (2002a). A comparative genetic linkage map of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) and its implications for genome evolution in the Solanaceae. *Genetics* 161:1697-1711.

Everitt B (1980).Cluster analysis. 2th edition, Halstead Press, New York, pp. 136.

Fabeiro C, Martin F, de Juan J.A. (2002). Production of muskmelon (*Cucumis melo* L.) under controlled deficit irrigation in a semi-arid climate. *Agricultural. Water Management*. 54: 93–105.
FAO (1990). APT, users' Guide Agricultural planners' toolkit. Rome

FAO STAT (2007) Agricultural Data. http://faostat.fao.org[accessed 5 May 2015].

Favati, F., Lovelli, S., Galgano, F., Miccolis, V., Di, Tommaso, T. and Candido V. (2009).
Processing tomato quality as affected by irrigation scheduling. *Scienta Horticulturae* 122: 562–571.

Food and Agricultural Organization Land and Nutrition Management Services (2008).Dataset on land use, land use change, agriculture and forestry and their applicability for national greenhouse gas reporting. Retrieved March 12, 2015.

Food and Agricultural Organization of United Nations (2010).The statistical division. Retrieved March 12, 2015.

Frankel OH, Brown AHD and Burdon JJ (1995). The conservation of plant biodiversity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England. pp. 299.

Frary A, Doganlar S and Daunay MC (2007). Genome mapping and molecular breeding in plants. Vegetable springer, *Verlag Berlin Heidelberg* Volume 5:287-313.

Furini A and Wunder J (2003). Analysis of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*)-related germplasm: morphological and AFLP data contribute to phylogenetic interpretation and germplasm utilization. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics.* 108:197–208.

Furini, A. and J. Wunder, (2004). Analysis of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*)-related germplasm: Morphological and AFLP data contribute to phylogenetic interpretations and germplasm utilization. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics.* 108: 197-208.

Garibaldi A, A Minuto, G Minuto and ML Gullino (2005). First report of downy mildew on basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) in France. *Plant Diseases* 89, 683.

Golcz A, Politycka B and Markiewicz B (2005). Zawartość makroskładników w oberżynie (*Solanum melongena* L.) uprawianej w podłożach organicznych wielokrotnie użytkowanych. Rocz. ARPoznań, 370, Ogrodnictwo 39: 13–19.

Gower JC (1971). A general coefficient of similarity and some of its properties. *Biometrics* 27:857-871.

Gunes A, Cicek N, Inal A, Alpaslan M, Eraslan F, Guner E, Guzelordu T. (2006). Genotypic response of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars to drought stress implemented at pre-and Post-anthesis stages and its relations with nutrient uptake and efficiency. *Plant Soil Environment* 52:368–376

Hair JR, Anderson RE, Tatham RL and Black WC (1995). Multivariate data analysis with readings.4th edition, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

Hamrick JL and Godt MJW (1997). Allozyme diversity in cultivated crops. *Crop Science* 37: 26-30.

Hatice Filiz Boyaci, Asu Oguz, Keziban Meryem Yazici and Ahmet Eren (2011). The efficacy of endogenous gibberellic acid for parthenocarpy in eggplant (*Solanum melongena L.*). *African Journal of Biotechnology* Vol. 10(34), pp. 6522-6528.

HCDA (2013).Horticulture Data 2012-2013 Validation Report. Horticultural Crops Development authority, May 2014 pp 5.

He X, (2003). Functional interactions between the transcription and mRNA 3' end processing machineries mediated by Ssu72 and Sub1.*Genes Devevelopment*. 17(8):1030-42.

Heba, I. M. and Samia, A. A. (2014). Influence of Garlic Extract On Enzymatic and Non-Enzymatic Antioxidants in Soybean Plants (*Glycine Max*) Grown under Drought Stress. Life Science Journal. 11(3s):47-58.

Heinonen I. Marina (1990). Carotenoids and provitamin A activity of carrot (*Daucus carota* L.) cultivars. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*.38 (3), pp 609–612.

Helyes, L., Nagy, Z.S., Daood, H., Pek, Z. and Lugasi, A. (2014). The simultaneous effect of heat stress and water supply on total polyphenol content of eggplant. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*. 13(2): 583-595.

Hornal D, Timpo S and Guillaume G (2007). Marketing of underutilized crops: The case of African eggplant (*Solanum aethiopicum*) in Ghana.

Houshna Banu Naujeer (2009). Morphological diversity in eggplant (Solanum melongena

L.), their related species and wild types conserved at the National gene bank in Mauritius. Master's thesis No. 57

Hugo, H.J. & Malan, A.P. (2010). Occurrence and control of plant-parasitic nematodes in irrigation water a review. South African Journal for Enology and Viticulture. 31: 169-180.

Hurtado M, Vilanova S, Plazas M, Gramazio P, Fonseka HH, (2012). Diversity and Relationships of Eggplants from Three Geographically Distant Secondary Centers of Diversity. PLoS ONE 7(7): e41748. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0041748.

IBPGR (1990). Descriptors for eggplant. Bioversity International (former International Board for Plant Genetic Resources), Rome, Italy.

Jaetzold R., and H. Schmidt (1982, 1983). Farm Management Handbook of Kenya, Volume II: Natural conditions and farm management Information. Part A: West Kenya; Part B: Central Kenya; Part C: East Kenya. Nairobi: Ministry of Agriculture.

Jagatheeswari D. (2014). Morphological studies on flowering plants (Solanaceae). International Letters of Natural Sciences Online: 2014-05-13 ISSN: 2300-9675, Vol. 15, pp 36-43.

Jarvis P (2008). Use of a SPAD-502 meter to measure leaf chlorophyll concentration in *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Tansley Review). *New Phytology*. 179: 257-285

John Samuels (2015) Biodiversity of Food Species of the Solanaceae Family: A Preliminary Taxonomic Inventory of Subfamily Solanoideae. Journal of Resources 4: 277-322.

Johnson AR and Wichern DW (1992). Applied multivariate statistical analysis. (3rd edition), Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, pp. 767.

Jolliffe IT (1986). Principal component analysis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin. pp. 522.

Kader AA (1999). Fruit maturity, ripening and quality relationships. Acta Horticulturae 485: 203-208.

Kalloo G (**1993**). Eggplant, *Solanum melongena* L. Genetic improvement of vegetable crops, pp 587-604. Pergamon Press, Oxford, U.K.

Kashyap V, Kumar S, Collonier C, Fusari F, Haicour R, Rotino G. L, Sihachak R. D and Rajam M. V (2003). Biotechnology of eggplant. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 97(1):1-25.

Kaufman L and Rousseeuw PJ (1990). Finding groups in data: An introduction to cluster analysis. *A Wiley-Interscience Publication*, NY, pp. 335.

Keatinge J. D. H, Ledesma D, Hughes J d'A and Keatinge F (2012). Projecting annual temperature changes to 2025 and beyond: Implication for vegetable horticulture worldwide. *Journal of Agricultural science*. Pp 1-20

Keeling, C.D., P.R. Guenther, G. Emanuele III, A. Bollenbacher, and D.J. Moss (2002). Scripps Reference Gas Calibration System for Carbon Dioxide-in-Nitrogen and Carbon Dioxidein-Air Standards: Revision of 1999 (with Addendum).SIO Reference Series No. 01-11.

Kirnak H, Kaya C, Tas I, Higgs D (2001).The influence of water deficit on vegetative growth, physiology, fruit yield and quality in eggplants. *Bulgarian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 27(3-4): 34-46.

Kirnak H, Higgs D, Kaya C, Tas I. (2005). Effects of irrigation and nitrogen rates on growth, yield, and quality of muskmelon in semiarid regions. Journal of Plant Nutrition. 28: 621-638.

Khan M. A., Cheng Z., Xiao X., Khan A. R., Ahmed S. S. (2011). Ultra structural studies of the inhibition effect against *Phytophthora capsici* of root exudates collected from two garlic cultivars along with their qualitative analysis. *Crop Protection*. 30: 1149–1155

Knapp S, Bohs L, Nee M and Spooner DM (2004). Solanaceae a model for linking genomics with biodiversity. *Comparative and Functional Genomics*. *5:285-291*.

Kosman E., and Leonard K, J. (2005). Similarity coefficients for molecular markers in studies of genetic relationships between individuals for haploid, diploid, and polyploid species. *National center for biotechnology information*.

Kowalski R, Kowalski G, Wiercinski J (2003). Chemical composition of fruits of three eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) cultivars. *Folia Horticulturae*. 15(2): 89-95.

Kumar G, Meena B. L, Kar R, Tiwari S. K, Gangopadhyay K. K, Bisht I. S and Mahajan R.
K (2008). Morphological diversity in brinjal (*Solanum melongena* L.) germplasm accessions. *NLAB Plant Genetic Resources: Characterization and utilization* 6:232-236.

Lawande K. E and Chavan J. K (1998). Eggplant (Brinjal). In Salunkhe, D.K. and Kadam, S.S. (edition). *Handbook of Vegetable Science and Technology: 225-243*

Lester RN and Hasan SMZ (1991). Origin and domestication of the eggplant, *Solanum melongena*, from *Solanum incanum*, in Africa and Asia. In Hawkes, J.G., Lester, R. N., Nee, M., and Estrada. (ed.) *Solanaceae III: Taxonomy, Chemistry, Evolution* 369–387. The Linnean Society of London, London, UK.

Lopez, F.B., Y. S. Chauhan and C. Johansen (1997). Effects of timing of drought stress on leaf area development and canopy light interception of short-duration pigeon pea. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*. 178:1—7

Mabberley DJ (2008).*Mabberley's plant book*. Third edition, Cambridge University Press.: viixviii, 1-1021.

Magioli, C. and E. Mansur (2005). Eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.): tissue culture, genetic transformation and use as an alternatives model plant. *Acta. Botanica Brasilica*. 19 (1:2005).

Mahmoud Lotfi, Ali Ahmadi Mirabad and Mahmoud Reza Roozban(2013).Impact of Water-Deficit Stress on Growth, Yield and Sugar Content of Cantaloupe (*Cucumis melo* L.). *International Journal of Agriculture and Crop Sciences*. 22:2778-2782.

Mahmoud A., Wahb-Allah and Abdulrasoul M. Al-Omran (2012). Effect of water quality and deficit irrigation on tomato growth, yield and water use efficiency at different developmental stages. *Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Science*. 2:80-109.

Martinez, J.P., H. Silva, J.F. Ledent and M. Pinto, (2007). Effect of drought stress on the osmotic adjustment, cell wall elasticity and cell volume of six cultivars of common beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *European Journal of Agronomy*, 26: 30–38.

Maundu PM, Ngugi GW and Kabuye CHS (1999). Traditional food plants of Kenya. Kenya Resource Centre for Indigenous Knowledge, National Museums of Kenya, pp. 51-84.

Michieka, D.O., B. J. A. van derPouw and J. J. Vleeshouwer (1978). Soils of the Kwale Mombasa-Lungalunga Area, vol. I & II and Soil maps 1:100,000. Nairobi: Ministry of Agriculture, Kenya Soil Survey.

Michelle Casella (2010). Frost/Cold Injury and Wind Damage to Young Vegetable Plants and Strawberries. Vegetable Crops Edition. Vol. 16 No. 7

Mitchell J.P., G. Shennan, S.R. Grattan and D. M. May (1991). Tomato fruit yields and quality under water deficit and salinity. *Journal of American Horticultural Science*. 116: 215-221.

Monma S, Sakata Y and Matsunaga H (1997). Inheritance and selection efficiency of bacterial wilt resistance in tomato. *Japan Agricultural Research* 31(3):195-204

Msogaya, Theodosy J, Ramadhani O. Majubwa and AP Maerere (2014). Effects of harvesting stages on yield and nutritional quality of African eggplant (*Solanum aethiopicum*) fruits. *Journal of Applied Biosciences* 78:6590-6599.

Munoz-Falcon JE, Prohens J, Vilanova S and Nuez F (2008). Characterization, diversity and relationships of Spanish striped (Listada) eggplants: a model for the enhancement and protection of heirlooms. *Euphytica* 164: 405-419.

Munns R (2002). Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 25: 239-250.

Mutsaers, S. E., McAnulty, R. J., Laurent, G. J., Versnel, M. A., Whitaker, D. and Papadimitriou, J. M. (1997). Cytokine regulation of mesothelial cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo. *European Journal of Cell Biology*. 72: 24 - 29.

Nahar K. and Gretzmacher R. (2002). Effect of water stress on nutrient uptake, yield and quality of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) under subtropical conditions. 53: 45-51.

Naujeer H (2009). Morphological diversity in eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L), their related species and wild types conserved at the National gene bank in Mauritius. Master's thesis International Masters programme at the Swedish Biodiversity Centre.

Niklaus P. A, Leadley P. W, Schmid B and Korner CH (2001). A long-term field study on biodiversity elevated CO₂ Interactions in grassland. *Ecological Monographs* 71: 341–356.

Nikolaeva M. K, Maevskaya S. N, Shugaev A. G, Bukhov N. G (2010). Effect of drought on chlorophyll content and antioxidant enzyme activities in leaves of three wheat cultivars varying in productivity. *Russian Journal of Plant Physiology*. 57: 87–95.

Nonnecke IL (1989). Solanaceous crops: Potato, tomato, pepper, eggplant. In Nonnecke IL (ed) *Vegetable production*. Pp.240-250. Van Norstrand Reinhold, New York, USA.

Nothmann, J. (1986). Eggplant. In: Manselise, S.P. (ed.). *Handbook of fruit set and development*. Inc, Boca Raton, Florida Pp. 145-152.

Nowamooz H. and F. Masrouri (2010). Suction variations and soil fabric of swelling compacted soils. Journal of Rock Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering. 2010, 2 (2): 129–134.

Nuruddin, M. M. (2001). Effects of water stress on tomato at different growth stages, Thesis MSc., Mc Gili University, Macdonald Campus, Montreal, Canada.

Obel-Lawson E (2005). The contribution of the awareness campaign of the African leafy vegetables project to nutrition behavior changes among the Kenyan urban population: *The Case of Nairobi. Biodiversity International* 2002-2005.

Orech, F. O., Christensen, D. L., Larsen, T., Friis, H., Aagaard-Hansen, J. and Estambale,
B. A. (2007) 'Mineral content of traditional leafy vegetables from western Kenya', *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 58:8, 595 – 602.

Osawaru M. E., M. C. Ogwu and R. O. Aiwansoba (2015). Hierarchical Approaches to the Analysis of Genetic Diversity in Plants: A Systematic Overview. University of Mauritius Research Journal – Volume 21.

Osei MK, Akromah R, Lamptey JN, Green SK (2010). Evaluation of some tomato Germplasm for resistance to Tomato Yellow leaf curls Virus disease (TYLCV) in Ghana. *Aspects of Applied Biology*. 96:315-323.

Panchen AL (1992). Classification, evolution and the nature of biology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England. pp. 403.

Passioura J (2007). The drought environment: Physical, biological and agricultural perspectives. *Journal of Experimental Botany.* 58:113-117.

Payne RW, Murray DA, Harding SA, Baird DB and Soutar DM (2011). *An introduction to GenStat for Windows (14th Edition).* VSN International, Hemel Hempstead, UK.

Perrier X and Jacquemud-Collet JP (2006). *DARwin software*. Retrieved from http://darwin.cirad.fr/darwin.

Perry, M.C., and M.S. McIntosh (1991). Geographical patterns of variation in USDA soybean germplasm collection: I. Morphological traits. Crop Science. 31:1350–1355

Phillips RL (2006). Genetic tools from nature and the nature of genetic tools. *Crop Science*.46: 2245-2252.

Poole RW (1974). An introduction to quantitative ecology. McGraw-Hill, New York.

Polignano G, Uggenti P, Bisignano V and Della Gatta C (2010). Genetic divergence analysis in eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) and allied species. *Genetic Resource Crop Evolution*.57: 171-181.

Portis E, Nervo G, Cavallanti F, Barchi L and Lanteri S (2006). Multivariate analysis of genetic relationships between Italian pepper landraces. *Crop Science* 46:2517-2525.

Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnelly P (2000). Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. *Genetics*. 155: 945 – 959.

123

Prohens, JJM Blanca and F Nuez (2005). Morphological and molecular variation in a collection of eggplant from a secondary centre of diversity implications for conservation and breeding. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science* 130:54-63.

Prohens J, Rodríguez-Burruezo A, Nuez F (2008). Performance of hybrids between local varieties of eggplant (Solanum melongena) and its relation to the mean of parents and to morphological and genetic distances among parents. *European Journal of Horticultural Science* 73:76-83.

Prohens J, Plazas M, Raigón MD, Seguí-Simarro J. M, Stommel J. R and Vilanova S (2012).

Characterization of interspecific hybrids and first backcross generations from crosses between two cultivated eggplants (*Solanum melongena* and *S. aethiopicum* Kumba group) and implications for eggplant breeding. *Euphytica186*: 517-538.

PROTA (2010). Plant resources of Tropical Africa. Promising African Plants: A selection from the PROTA programme. PROTA Foundation, Wageningen, Netherlands/CTA, Wageningen: The Netherlands. Pp169.

Ribas F, Cabello MJ, Moreno M, Moreno A, Lopez-Bellido L. (2003). Influencia del riego y de la aplicacio n de potasio en la produccio n de melo n (*Cucumis melo* L.). II. Calidad. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research. 1 (1), 79-90.

Rivera, A., Benham, T., Casassa, G., Bamber, J., and Dowdeswell, J. (**2007**). Ice elevation and areal changes of glaciers from the Northern Patagonia Icefield, Chile, Global Planet. Change, 59, 126–137.

Rodriguez-Amaya, D. B. and Kimura, M., (2002). A scheme for obtaining standards and HPLC quantification of leafy vegetable carotenoid. Food Chemistry.78: 389–398

Rodríguez-Burruezo A, Prohens J and Nuez F (2008). Performance of hybrids between local varieties of eggplant (*Solanum melongena*) and its relation to the mean of parents and to morphological and genetic distances among parents. *European Journal of Horticultural Science73*: 76-83.

Rohlf FJ (1972). An empirical comparison of three ordination techniques in numerical taxonomy. *Systematic Zoology* 21:271-280.

Sakata Y and Lester RN (1997). Chloroplast DNA diversity in eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) and related species. *Euphytica* 97: 295-301.

Schippers RR (2002). African indigenous vegetables. An overview of the cultivated species. *Natural Resources Institute*, Chatham, U.K. pp 214.

Sekara A, Cebula S and Kunicki E (2007). Cultivated eggplants-origin, breeding objectives and genetic resources, a review. *Folio Horticulture 19(1):97-114*.

Shakeel Ahmad Jatoi, Ihtizaz Hassan, Muhammad Arif, Sadar Uddin Siddiqui and Muhammad Ahson, (2015). Genetic Variability in Eggplant for Agro-Morphological Traits. Science, Technology and Development, 34: 35-40.

Shei L (2008). An evaluation of native West African vegetables. Agriculture and Rural Development.*www.tropentag.de*. (Accessed in May, 2015).

Siderius W (1976). Environment and characteristics of nitisols at Kabete NAL, Nairobi, *Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development.*

Sihachakr D, Daunay MC, Serraf I, Chaput M. H, Mussio I, Haricourt R, Rotino L and Ducreux G (1994). Somatic hybridization of eggplant (*Solanum melongena* L.) with its close wild relatives. In Bajaj YPS (ed.) *Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry: Somatic Hybridization in Crop Improvement*, 255–278. Springer, Berlin.

Silva, E. P. da ; Silva, D. A. T. da ; Rabello, C. B. V. ; Lima, R. B. ; Lima, M. B. ; Ludke, J.
V.(2009). Physicochemical composition and energy and nutritional characteristics of guava and tomato residues for free range broilers. *Journal of Animal Science*. 38 (6): 1051-1058

Singh SR and Rachie KO (1985). Cowpea research, production and utilization. John Wiley and Sons, U.K.

Singh MP, Pandey UN, Lal RK, Chaturvedi GS (2002). Response of Brassica species to different irrigation regimes Indian Journal of Plant Physiology. 1(7): 66-69.

Singh AK, Singh M, Singh R, Kumar S and Kalloo G (2006). Genetic diversity within the genus *Solanum* (Solanaceae) as revealed by RAPD markers. *Current Science* 90(5): 711-716.

Singh SP, Mishra NC, Rir-Sima-Ah J, Campen M, Kurup V, and Razani-Boroujerdi S, (2009). Maternal exposure to secondhand cigarette smoke primes the lung for induction of phosphodiesterase-4D5 isozyme and exacerbated Th2 responses: rolipram attenuates the airway hyper reactivity and muscarinic receptor expression but not lung inflammation and atopy. *Journal of Immunology* 183(3):2115–2121.

Smith J. S. C., and Smith O. S (1992). The description and assessment of distances between inbred lines of maize II. The utility of morphological, biochemical and genetic descriptors and scheme for the testing of distinctiveness between inbred lines. *Maydica* 34: 151-161

Spellerberg IF (1991). Monitoring ecological change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Stachel M, Lelly T, Grausgruber H, Vollman J (2000). Application of microsatellites in wheat for studying genetic differentiation caused by selection for adaptation and use. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics.* 100: 242-248.

Stagel A, Portis E, Toppino L, Rotino GL, Lanteri S (2008). Gene-based microsatellite development for mapping and phylogeny studies in eggplant. *BMC Genomics*, 9:357-370.
Subhash C (2010). Plant physiology. New age international (P) publishers, Delhi, India. Pp 618. Suge, J.K., M.E. Omunyin and E. N. Omami (2011). Effect of organic and inorganic sources of fertilizer on growth, yield and fruit quality of eggplant (*Solanum Melongena* L). *Archives of Applied Science Research*, 3 (6): 470-479

Sunseri F, Polignano GB, Alba V, Lotti C, Bisignano V, Mennella G, Alessandro AD, Bacchi M, Riccardi P and Fiore MC (2010). Genetic diversity and characterization of African eggplant germplasm collection. *African Journal Plant Science*. 4: 231–241.

Swarup V (**1995**). Genetic resources and breeding of Aubergine (*Solanum melongena L*). *Acta Horticulturae* 412:71-79.

Taiz and Zeiger (2006). Plant Physiology. 4th Edition. Sinauer.

Tan, C. S., B. R. Buttery (1982). The effects of soil moisture stress to various fractions of the root system on transpiration, photosynthesis, and internal water relations of peach seedlings. *Journal of American Society of Horticultural Sciences*.107: 845–849.

Terri L. Weese and Lynn Bohs (2010). Eggplant origins: Out of Africa, into the Orient. *International Association for Plant Taxonomy*. Vol 59, pp. 49-56.

Tiwari, R., MS Saharan, A. Naef and J. Kumar (2007). Characterization of variability among isolates of Fusarium graminearum associated with head scab of wheat using DNA markers. *Current Science* (00113891) 92 (2).

Thuy, N.T. L. (2002). Morphological diversity, genetic erosion and indicators of in situ conservation of coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) in Vietnum. M.S. Thesis. Plant Genetic Resources Conservation and Management, University of Philippines (UPLB), Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines.

Tsao and Lo (2006). *Handbook of food science, technology and engineering*. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor and Francis. ISBN 157445510.

Uddin M. S, Rahman M. M, Hossain M. M and Mian M. A. K (2014). Genetic diversity in eggplant genotypes for heat tolerance. *SAARC Journal of Agriculture*. *12*(2): 25-39

Umesh S, Khess CRJ, Simlai J, Bose S (2015). The Role of Epigenetic Mechanisms in Substance Use Disorders: An Overview. Hereditary Genetics 4:149. doi: 10.4172/2161-1041.1000149

Upadhyaya HD, Reddy KN, Gowda CLL and Singh S (2007). Phenotypic diversity in the pigeon pea (*Cajanus cajan*) core collection. *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution* 54: 1167-1184 UPOV (1991).International Convention for the protection of new varieties of plant. Retrieved

from www.upov.int/en/publications/conventions/1991/act1991.htm[accessed 04/05/2015].

USDA (**United States Department of Agriculture**) (**2010**). USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 23 (2010), www.nal.usda.gov/fnic/foodcomp/egi-bin/list-nut-edit.pl.

Vikram, V.B., Ramesh, M.N. and Prapulla S., G. (2005). Thermal degradation kinetics of nutrients in orange juice heated by electromagnetic and conventional methods. *Journal of Food Engineering*. 69: 31–40.

Wang M, Wu C, Cheng Z, Meng H, Zhang M, Zhang H (2014)Soil chemical property changes in eggplant/garlic relay intercropping systems under continuous cropping. *PLoS One*. 2014 Oct 23; 9(10):e111040.

Wasonga D. O. (2014). Phenotypic characterization of Kenyan and South African spider plants (*Cleome gynandra L.*) ecotypes. *MSc. Thesis, University of Nairobi, Kenya*.

Wicker E, Grassart L, Cotanson-Beaudu R, Mian D, Guilbaud C and Fegan M (2007). *Ralstonia solanacearum* strains from Martinique (French West Indies) Exhibiting a new pathogenic potential. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 71:6790-6801.

Wilson R. (2009). Recognizing water stress in plants, the Arboretum at Flag staff Extension, Bulletin N° 91-01.

Wiley E. O. (1981).Phylogenetics: The theory and practice of phylogenetics and systematic. John Wiley, New York, pp. 456.

Yada B, Tukamuhabwa P, Ajao A and Mwanga R. O (2010). Morphological characterization of Ugandan sweet potato germplasm. *Crop Science* 50: 2364-2371.

Yamasaki, S. and Dillenburg, L. C. (1999). Measurements of Leaf Relative Water Content in Araucaria angustifolia. Revista Brasileira de Fisiologia Vegetal11: 69–75.

Yang RC, Jana S and Clarke JM (1991). Phenotypic diversity and associations of some potentially drought responsive characters in durum wheat. *Crop Science* 31: 1484-1491.

Yazdanpanah S, Baghizadeh A, Abbassi F (2011). The interaction between drought stress and salicylic and ascorbic acids on some biochemical characteristics of *Satureja hortensis*. African Journal of Agricultural Research. 6: 798-807.

Zhao Y, Duan L, Xing J, Larssen T, Nielsen CP and Hao JM (2007). Soil acidification in China: Is controlling SO₂ emissions enough. *Environmental Science Technology* 43:8021-8026.

Zaveri P. P, Patel P. K and Yadavendra J. P (1980). Diallel analysis of flowering and maturity in cowpea. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Science* 103: 808-81.

APPENDICES

	Temperature(°C)		Relative humidity (%)	Rainfall (mm)
Months	Mean max	Mean min	Mean	Total
May	23.5	14.8	55.1	72.8
June	23.3	14.1	64.1	101.5
July	21.6	12.5	61.0	10
August	N/A	12.4	54.3	28.9
September	22.3	12.2	52.0	23.9
October	N/A	14.5	51.7	136.2
November	N/A	14.4	58.6	95.5
December	N/A	13.8	55.2	88.6
January	25.7	12.8	41.1	27.7
February	N/A	13.6	40.8	50.8
March	14.2	N/A	40.4	30.1
April	N/A	15.3	55.5	323.9
May	N/A	14.0	63.6	298.3

Appendix 1: Weather conditions at Kabete field station between May 2014to May 2015 cropping season.

Source: Kenya Meteorological Department, Kabete Agro-met Station (June 2015).

Appendix 2: Chemical	characteristics	of sampled	greenhouse soil.
----------------------	-----------------	------------	------------------

Fertility Results	Value
Soil pH	7.04
Total nitrogen (%)	0.29
Organic carbon (%)	2.87
Phosphorous (ppm)	149
Potassium me%	0.4
Calcium me%	11.7
Magnesium me%	8.2
Manganese me %	0.78
Copper ppm	8.53
Iron ppm	82.3
Zinc ppm	31.3
Sodium me%	0.4
Electrical conductance mS/cm	0.62

Fertility Results	Value
Soil pH	5.78
Total nitrogen (%)	0.22
Organic carbon (%)	2.22
Phosphorous (ppm)	45
Potassium me%	1.59
Calcium me%	6.3
Magnesium me%	6.49
Manganese me %	0.7
Copper ppm	3.58
Iron ppm	60.5
Zinc ppm	27.5
Sodium me%	0.24

Appendix 3: Chemical characteristics of sampled field soil.

Appendix 4: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the days to flowering for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	52.12	26.06	3.84	
Accession	71	1272.87	17.928	2.64	<.001**
Residual	358	964.546	6.793		
Total	431	2289.537			
* .:	in the sector		· 1		

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 5: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the SPAD Value for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	459.415	229.707	43.06	
Accession	71	8294.273	116.821	21.9	<.001**
Residual	358	757.472	5.334		
Total	431	9511.16			

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	8.13E-01	4.07E-01	1.53	
Accession	71	1.30E+05	1.84E+03	6907.23	<.001**
Residual	358	8.70E+01	4.20E-01		
Total	431	1.30E+05			
* .:	in finnet Enn	E a na h a h 11:4			

Appendix 6: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the Plant height for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 7: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade length for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Rep25.28242.64129.15Accession717108.5373104.1077360.6<.001**	Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Accession717108.5373104.1077360.6<.001**	Rep	2	5.2824	2.6412	9.15	
Residual 358 82.5709 0.2887 Total 431 7196.3907	Accession	71	7108.5373	104.1077	360.6	<.001**
Total 431 7196.3907	Residual	358	82.5709	0.2887		
	Total	431	7196.3907			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, $\overline{F pr} = \overline{F probability value}$

Appendix 8: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade width for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Rep20.84290.42150.78Accession714113.461567.9171125.26<.001**	Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Accession714113.461567.9171125.26<.001**	Rep	2	0.8429	0.4215	0.78	
Residual 358 189.6087 0.5422	Accession	71	4113.4615	67.9171	125.26	<.001**
	Residual	358	189.6087	0.5422		
Total 431 4303.9131	Total	431	4303.9131			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 9: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit length for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	4.952	2.476	4.52	
Accession	71	3076.595	43.3323	83.29	0.02*
Residual	358	214.0197	2.8171		
Total	431	3295.5666			

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	11.705	5.8525	14.46	
Accession	71	17.9415	0.2527	0.62	0.991ns
Residual	358	1051.8496	44.991		
Total	431	1081.4961			

Appendix 10: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit breadth for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

* = significant, ** = highly significant, ns = not significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 11: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	29.592	14.796	3.82	
Accession	71	344.581	4.853	1.25	0.102ns
Residual	358	283409.767	4032.182		
Total	431	283783.939			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, ns = not significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 12: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the number of fruits per plant for the field grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	97.04	48.52	1.64	
Accession	71	2021.9	28.48	0.96	0.57ns
Residual	358	1725372.46	24239.25		
Total	431	1727491.4			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, ns = not significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 13: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the days to flowering for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	60.454	30.227	10.46	
Accession	71	1232.87	17.364	6.01	0.045*
Residual	142	410.213	2.889		
Total	215	1703.537			

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	230.815	115.408	14.28	
Accession	71	6672.95	93.985	11.63	<.001**
Residual	142	1147.452	8.081		
Total	215	8051.217			
* .:	in firm t		1		

Appendix 14: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the SPAD Value for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 15: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the plant height for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	399.207	199.603	29.7	
Accession	71	60430.486	851.134	126.64	<.001**
Residual	142	954.34	6.721		
Total	215	61784.033			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 16: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade length for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	57.3501	28.675	40.64	
Accession	71	2985.3533	42.0472	59.6	<.001**
Residual	142	100.1832	0.7055		
Total	215	3142.8866			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 17: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the leaf blade width for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	71.7215	35.8607	142.11	
Accession	71	1960.6793	27.6152	109.44	<.001**
Residual	142	35.8319	0.2523		
Total	215	2068.2326			

Source of Varia	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	43.334	21.667	49.96	
Accession	71	1474.4348	20.7667	47.89	<.001**
Residual	142	61.5794	0.4337		
Total	215	1579.3481			
*	1.11 $$	E 1. 1. 114	.1 .		

Appendix 18: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit length for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 19: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit breadth for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	44.0711	22.0356	82.44	
Accession	71	406.6117	5.7269	21.43	<.001**
Residual	142	37.9556	0.2673		
Total	215	488.6383			
		T 1 1 1 1 1	1		

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 20: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Varia	tion d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	180.031	90.016	17.19	
Accession	71	128787.512	1813.909	346.3	<.001**
Residual	142	743.782	5.238		
Total	215	129711.325			
* • • • • • • •	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	E 1 1 1 1 1	1		

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value

Appendix 21: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the number of fruits per plant for the greenhouse grown accessions during the seasons of 2014 and 2015.

Source of Variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	327.17	163.585	17.33	
Accession	71	772467.33	10879.822	1152.34	<.001**
Residual	142	1340.69	9.441		
Total	215	774135.19			

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	95.8	47.9	21.58	
Acc. Code	19	30404.097	1600.216	720.98	<.001
Stress level	3	3792.801	1264.267	569.62	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	593.359	10.41	4.69	<.001
Residual	158	350.68	2.219		
Total	239	35236.737			

Appendix 22: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the plant height for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 23: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the single leaf area for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	s.s.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	16.8136	8.4068	15.92	
Acc. Code	19	3493.2362	183.8545	348.13	<.001
Stress level	3	650.7993	216.9331	410.77	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	119.7075	2.1001	3.98	<.001
Residual	158	83.4418	0.5281		
Total	239	4363.9984			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value, SL-stress level

Appendix 24: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the fruit weight for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	s.s.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	26.11	13.055	11.08	
Acc. Code	19	112032.773	5896.462	5005.49	<.001
Stress level	3	1177.62	392.54	333.23	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	421.637	7.397	6.28	<.001
Residual	158	186.124	1.178		
Total	239	113844.263			

Source of variation	d.f.	s.s.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.03925	0.01963	0.26	
Acc. Code	19	20.8435	1.09703	14.75	<.001
Stress level	3	53.0415	17.6805	237.8	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	7.18683	0.12608	1.7	0.006
Residual	158	11.74742	0.07435		
Total	239	92.8585			

Appendix 25: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for the stem girth for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 26: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for stomatal conductance for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	468.8	234.4	0.61	
Acc. Code	19	1244895.2	65520.8	170.92	<.001
Stress level	3	1797105.6	599035.2	1562.67	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	330678.7	5801.4	15.13	<.001
Residual	158	60568	383.3		
Total	239	3433716.3			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value, SL-stress level

Appendix 27: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for canopy temperature for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.3409	0.1705	0.3	
Acc. Code	19	482.5764	25.3988	45.04	<.001
Stress level	3	748.7683	249.5894	442.64	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	69.7623	1.2239	2.17	<.001
Residual	158	89.0908	0.5639		
Total	239	1390.5388			

Source of variation	d.f.	s.s.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	334.63	167.32	10.8	
Acc. Code	19	626.69	32.98	2.13	0.006
Stress level	3	30568.8	10189.6	657.6	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	1125.07	19.74	1.27	0.123
Residual	158	2448.24	15.5		
Total	239	35103.44			

Appendix 28: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for LRWC% for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 29: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for chlorophyll content for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.079	0.0395	0.06	
Acc. Code	19	3973.6705	209.1406	312.92	<.001
Stress level	3	1516.9467	505.6489	756.56	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	57	95.7539	1.6799	2.51	<.001
Residual	158	105.5993	0.6684		
Total	239	5692.0495			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value, SL-stress level

Appendix 30: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for total soluble solids for the accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.41618	0.20809	18.68	
Acc. Code	19	41.31414	2.17443	195.18	<.001
Stress level	1	15.6891	15.6891	1408.31	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	7.27238	0.38276	34.36	<.001
Residual	78	0.86895	0.01114		
Total	119	65.56076			

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.374107	0.187053	22.86	
Acc. Code	19	3.276216	0.172432	21.07	<.001
Stress level	1	1.827801	1.827801	223.34	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.497216	0.026169	3.2	<.001
Residual	78	0.63836	0.008184		
Total	119	6.613699			

Appendix 31: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for pH for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 32: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for total titratable acidity for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.0172	0.0086	0.55	
Acc. Code	19	1.33458	0.07024	4.49	<.001
Stress level	1	0.51992	0.51992	33.22	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.45079	0.02373	1.52	0.103
Residual	78	1.22072	0.01565		
Total	119	3.54321			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value, SL-stress level

Appendix 33: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for β -carotene for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.049254	0.024627	3.83	
Acc. Code	19	8.005103	0.421321	65.51	<.001
Stress level	1	0.498948	0.498948	77.58	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.174535	0.009186	1.43	0.138
Residual	78	0.501648	0.006431		
Total	119	9.229488			

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	7.7352	3.8676	10.76	
Acc. Code	19	1416.4567	74.5504	207.49	<.001
Stress level	1	7.5191	7.5191	20.93	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	2.3717	0.1248	0.35	0.994
Residual	78	28.0257	0.3593		
Total	119	1462.1084			

Appendix 34: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for vitamin Cfor accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 35: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for magnesium for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.00308	0.00154	1.12	
Acc. Code	19	0.084688	0.004457	3.24	<.001
Stress level	1	0.289145	0.289145	210.28	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.015124	0.000796	0.58	0.911
Residual	78	0.107255	0.001375		
Total	119	0.499292			

* = significant, ** = highly significant, F pr = F probability value, SL-stress level

Appendix 36: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for calcium for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.148526	0.074263	25.51	
Acc. Code	19	0.716696	0.037721	12.96	<.001
Stress level	1	0.979962	0.979962	336.66	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.065811	0.003464	1.19	0.288
Residual	78	0.227042	0.002911		
Total	119	2.138037			

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.28972	0.14486	2.35	
Acc. Code	19	4.46298	0.23489	3.81	<.001
Stress level	1	11.38377	11.38377	184.63	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.58457	0.03077	0.5	0.956
Residual	78	4.80915	0.06166		
Total	119	21.53018			

Appendix 37: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for iron for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Appendix 38: Analysis of variance (ANOVA) table for zinc for accessions grown under water stress and non-water stress conditions

Source of variation	d.f.	S.S.	m.s.	v.r.	F pr.
Rep	2	0.031437	0.015719	6.81	
Acc. Code	19	0.419607	0.022085	9.56	<.001
Stress level	1	0.356554	0.356554	154.4	<.001
Acc. Code*SL	19	0.12167	0.006404	2.77	<.001
Residual	78	0.180125	0.002309		
Total	119	1.109393			